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GLOSSARY OF COMMONLY USED TERMS

The following are abbreviations and definitions of certain terms used in this document, some of which are commonly used in the midstream oil
and gas industry:

“ASC.”  Accounting Standards Codification.

“ASU.”  Accounting Standards Update.

“Antero Midstream Partners.”  Antero Midstream Partners LP.

“Antero Resources.”  Antero Resources Corporation.

“Antero Treatment.”  Antero Treatment LLC.

“Antero Water.”  Antero Water LLC.

“Bbl.”  One stock tank barrel, of 42 U.S. gallons liquid volume, used herein in reference to crude oil, condensate, NGLs or water.

“Bbl/d.”  Bbl per day.

“Bcf.”  One billion cubic feet of natural gas.

“Bcf/d.”  Bcf per day.

“Bcfe.”  One billion cubic feet of natural gas equivalent with one barrel of oil, condensate or NGLs converted to six thousand cubic feet of natural 
gas.

“Bcfe/d.”  Bcfe per day.

“CPI.”  Consumer Price Index.

“Credit Facility.”  Collectively, the senior secured revolving credit facility in effect for periods before October 26, 2021 and the senior secured 
revolving credit facility in effect on and after October 26, 2021.

“DOT.”  Department of Transportation.

“Dry gas.”  A natural gas containing insufficient quantities of hydrocarbons heavier than methane to allow their commercial extraction or to 
require their removal in order to render the gas suitable for fuel use.

“EPA.”  Environmental Protection Agency.

“ESG.”  Environmental, social and governance.

“Expansion capital.”  Cash expenditures to construct new midstream infrastructure and those expenditures incurred in order to extend the useful 
lives of our assets, reduce costs, increase revenues or increase system throughput or capacity from current levels, including well connections that increase 
existing system throughput.

“FASB.”  Financial Accounting Standards Board.

“FERC.”  Federal Energy Regulatory Commission.

“Field.”  An area consisting of a single reservoir or multiple reservoirs all grouped on, or related to, the same individual geological structural 
feature or stratigraphic condition. The field name refers to the surface area, although it may refer to both the surface and the underground productive 
formations.

“Finance Corp.”  Antero Midstream Finance Corporation.

“Fresh water.”  Water that is either (i) raw fresh water or (ii) produced or flowback water that has been treated, including through blending 
operations.
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“GAAP.”  Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.

“GHG.”  Greenhouse gas.

“High pressure pipelines.”  Pipelines gathering or transporting natural gas that has been dehydrated and compressed to the pressure of the 
downstream pipelines or processing plants.

“Hydrocarbon.”  An organic compound containing only carbon and hydrogen.

“Joint Venture.”  The joint venture entered into on February 6, 2017 between Antero Midstream Partners, which is our wholly owned subsidiary, 
and MarkWest, a wholly owned subsidiary of MPLX, LP, to develop processing and fractionation assets in Appalachia.

“Low pressure pipelines.”  Pipelines gathering natural gas at or near wellhead pressure that has yet to be compressed (other than by well pad gas 
lift compression or dedicated well pad compressors) and dehydrated.

“Maintenance capital.”  Cash expenditures (including expenditures for the construction or development of new capital assets or the replacement, 
improvement or expansion of existing capital assets) made to maintain, over the long term, our operating capacity or revenue.

“MarkWest.”  MarkWest Energy Partners, L.P.

“MBbl.”  One thousand Bbls.

“MBbl/d.”  One thousand Bbls per day.

“Mcf.”  One thousand cubic feet of natural gas.

“MMBtu.”  One million British thermal units. 

“MMcf.”  One million cubic feet of natural gas.

“MMcf/d.”  One million cubic feet per day.

“Natural gas.”  Hydrocarbon gas found in the earth, composed of methane, ethane, butane, propane and other gases.

 “NGLs.”  Natural gas liquids. Hydrocarbons found in natural gas that may be extracted as purity products such as ethane, propane, isobutane, 
normal butane and natural gasoline.

“NYMEX.”  New York Mercantile Exchange.

“Oil.”  Crude oil and condensate.

“Other fluid handling services.”  Flowback and produced water services, including blending and storage operations, and transportation away from 
the well site.

 “SEC.”  United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Stonewall.”  Stonewall Gas Gathering LLC.

“Tcfe.” One trillion cubic feet of natural gas equivalent with one barrel of oil, condensate or NGLs converted to six thousand cubic feet of natural
gas.

“Throughput.” The volume of product transported or passing through a pipeline, plant, terminal or other facility.

“Transactions.”  On March 12, 2019, pursuant to the Simplification Agreement, dated as of October 9, 2018, by and among Antero Midstream GP 
LP (“AMGP”), Antero Midstream Partners and certain of Antero Midstream Partners’ affiliates (the “Simplification Agreement”) (i) AMGP was converted 
from a limited partnership to a corporation under the laws of the State of Delaware and changed its name to Antero Midstream Corporation (together with 
its consolidated subsidiaries, as appropriate, “Antero Midstream”), and (ii) an indirect, wholly owned subsidiary of Antero Midstream was merged with and 
into Antero Midstream Partners, with Antero Midstream Partners surviving the merger as an indirect, wholly owned subsidiary of Antero Midstream.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may contain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of 
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).  
All statements, other than statements of historical fact, included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, regarding our strategy, future operations, financial 
position, estimated revenues and losses, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management are forward-looking statements.  Words such as 
“may,” “assume,” “forecast,” “position,” “predict,” “strategy,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “project,” “budget,” 
“potential,” or “continue,” and similar expressions are used to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain 
such identifying words.  When considering these forward-looking statements, investors should keep in mind the risk factors and other cautionary 
statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  These forward-looking statements are based on management’s current beliefs, based on currently 
available information, as to the outcome and timing of future events.  Factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from the results 
contemplated by such forward-looking statements include:

● Antero Resources expected production and development plan;

● impacts to producer customers of insufficient storage capacity;

● our ability to execute our business strategy;

● our ability to obtain debt or equity financing on satisfactory terms to fund additional acquisitions, expansion projects, working capital
requirements and the repayment or refinancing of indebtedness;

● our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of our investments in unconsolidated affiliates;

● natural gas, NGLs and oil prices;

● impacts of geopolitical events, including the Russia-Ukraine conflict, and world health events, including the coronavirus (“COVID-19”)
pandemic;

● our ability to complete the construction of or purchase new gathering and compression, processing, water handling or other assets on
schedule, at the budgeted cost or at all and the ability of such assets to operate as designed or at expected levels;

● our ability to execute our return of capital program;

● competition;

● government regulations and changes in laws;

● actions taken by third-party producers, operators, processors and transporters;

● pending legal or environmental matters;

● costs of conducting our operations;

● our ability to achieve our greenhouse gas reduction targets and the costs associated therewith;

● general economic conditions;

● credit markets;

● operating hazards, natural disasters, weather-related delays, casualty losses and other matters beyond our control;

● expectations regarding the amount and timing of litigation awards;

● uncertainty regarding our future operating results; and

● our other plans, objectives, expectations and intentions contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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We caution investors that these forward-looking statements are subject to all of the risks and uncertainties incidental to our business, most of
which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond our control. These risks include, but are not limited to, commodity price volatility, inflation,
supply chain disruptions, environmental risks, Antero Resources’ drilling and completion and other operating risks, regulatory changes or changes in laws,
the uncertainty inherent in projecting Antero Resources’ future rates of production, cash flows and access to capital, the timing of development
expenditures, impacts of geopolitical and world health events (including the COVID-19 pandemic), cybersecurity risks, the state of markets for, and
availability of, verified quality carbon offsets and the other risks described or referenced under the heading “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

Should one or more of the risks or uncertainties described or referenced in this Annual Report on Form 10-K occur, or should underlying
assumptions prove incorrect, our actual results and plans could differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statements.

All forward-looking statements, expressed or implied, included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are expressly qualified in their entirety by 
this cautionary statement.  This cautionary statement should also be considered in connection with any subsequent written or oral forward-looking 
statements that we or persons acting on our behalf may issue.

Except as otherwise required by applicable law, we disclaim any duty to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances
after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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SUMMARY RISK FACTORS

Customer Concentration

● Because substantially all of our revenue is currently derived from Antero Resources, any development that materially and adversely affects
Antero Resources’ operations, financial condition or market reputation could have a material and adverse impact on us.

● Because of the natural decline in production from existing wells, our success depends, in part, on Antero Resources’ ability to replace 
declining production and our ability to secure new sources of natural gas from Antero Resources or third parties.  Additionally, our water 
handling services are directly associated with Antero Resources’ well completion activities and water needs, which are largely driven by the 
amount of water used in completing each well.  Finally, under certain circumstances, Antero Resources may dispose of acreage dedicated to 
us free from such dedication without our consent.  Any decrease in volumes of natural gas that Antero Resources produces, any decrease in 
the number of wells that Antero Resources completes, or any decrease in the number of acres that are dedicated to us could adversely affect 
our business and operating results.

Business Operations

● A material shut-in of production by Antero Resources or any of our other customers could adversely affect our business.

● Our gathering and compression agreements include minimum volume commitments only under certain circumstances.

● Our construction or purchase of new gathering and compression, processing, water handling or other assets may not be completed on
schedule, at the budgeted cost or at all, may not operate as designed or at the expected levels, may not result in revenue increases and may be
subject to regulatory, environmental, political, legal and economic risks, all of which could adversely affect our financial condition, cash
flows and results of operations.

● Recent action and the possibility of future action on trade by U.S. and foreign governments has increased the costs of certain equipment and
materials used in the construction of our assets and has created uncertainty in global markets, which may adversely affect our income from
operations and cash flows.

● If third-party pipelines or other midstream facilities interconnected to our gathering and compression systems become partially or fully
unavailable, our operating margin and cash flows could be adversely affected.

● Our exposure to commodity price risk may change over time.

● The fees charged to our customers may not escalate sufficiently to cover increases in costs, or the agreements may be amended with less
favorable terms, may not be renewed or may be suspended in some circumstances.

● Oil and natural gas producers’ operations, especially those using hydraulic fracturing, are substantially dependent on the availability of water.

● Increasing attention to ESG matters and conservation measures may adversely impact our business.

● Our business involves many hazards and operational risks, some of which may not be fully covered by insurance.  The occurrence of a 
significant accident or other event that is not fully insured could curtail our operations and have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

● A pandemic, epidemic or outbreak of an infectious disease, such as COVID-19, may materially adversely affect our business.

Capital Structure and Access to Capital

● We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness and may be forced to take other actions to satisfy our
obligations under our indebtedness or to refinance, which may not be successful.
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● We will be required to make capital expenditures to increase our asset base.  If we cannot obtain needed capital or financing on satisfactory 
terms, we may be unable to expand our business operations and/or our financial leverage could increase.

● Restrictions in our existing and future debt agreements could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Acquisitions and Takeovers

● We may be unable to make attractive acquisitions or successfully integrate acquired businesses, and any inability to do so may disrupt our
business and hinder our ability to grow.

● Certain of our stockholders have investments in our affiliates that may conflict with the interests of other stockholders.

Joint Ventures

● We own a 50% interest in the Joint Venture, which is operated by MarkWest.  While we have the ability to influence certain business 
decisions affecting the Joint Venture, the success of our investment in the Joint Venture will depend on MarkWest’s operation of the Joint 
Venture.

● If the Joint Venture is not successful or if the Joint Venture does not perform as expected, our future financial performance may be negatively
impacted.

Compliance with Regulations

● We are subject to complex federal, state and local laws and regulations that could adversely affect the cost, manner or feasibility of
conducting our operations or expose us to significant liabilities.

● If our assets become subject to FERC regulation or federal, state or local regulations or policies change, or if we fail to comply with market
behavior rules, our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

● Increased regulation of hydraulic fracturing could result in reductions or delays in production by our customers, which could reduce the
throughput on our gathering and processing systems and the number of wells for which we provide water handling services, which could
adversely impact our revenues.

● Our operations are subject to a series of risks related to climate change that could result in increased operating costs, limit the areas in which
our customers may conduct oil and gas exploration and production activities, and reduce demand for the services we provide.

Related Parties

● Antero Resources owns a significant interest in us and, as a result, conflicts of interest will arise from time to time between it and us, and
Antero Resources may favor their own interests to the detriment of us and our other stockholders. Additionally, Antero Resources is under no
obligation to adopt a business strategy that favors us.
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PART I

ITEMS 1 AND 2.  BUSINESS AND PROPERTIES

Overview

Antero Midstream Corporation together with its consolidated subsidiaries (“Antero Midstream,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our”) is a
growth-oriented midstream energy company formed to own, operate and develop midstream energy assets that primarily service Antero Resources’ 
production and completion activity in the Appalachian Basin located in West Virginia and Ohio.  Our assets consist of gathering systems and compression 
facilities, water handling and blending facilities and interests in processing and fractionation plants.  We conduct our operations and own our operating 
assets and ownership interests in the Joint Venture and Stonewall through Antero Midstream Partners and its subsidiaries, all of which are wholly-owned.  
Additionally, Antero Resources has a 29.1% ownership interest in us as of December 31, 2022.

Acquisitions

On October 25, 2022, we acquired certain Marcellus gas gathering and compression assets from Crestwood Equity Partners LP (NYSE: CEQP)
(“Crestwood”) for $205 million in cash, before closing adjustments, which was funded by borrowings under our Credit Facility. These assets include 72
miles of dry gas gathering pipelines and nine compressor stations with approximately 700 MMcf/d of compression capacity. Current throughput of the
assets is approximately 200 MMcf/d, resulting in significant available capacity for growth.

Additionally, on December 21, 2022, we acquired certain Utica compression assets from EnLink Midstream LLC (NYSE: ENLC) (“EnLink”) for 
$10 million in cash, before closing adjustments, which was funded by borrowings under our Credit Facility.  These assets include four compressor stations 
with approximately 380 MMcf/d of compression capacity.  The acquired compression assets are interconnected with the Company’s existing low pressure 
and high pressure gathering systems and service Antero Resources’ production.  Current throughput of the assets is approximately 100 MMcf/d.  See Note 
6—Property and Equipment to the consolidated financial statements for more information on our asset acquisitions.

Business Strategy and Competitive Strengths

Scalable Business Model

We believe that our strategically located assets and our relationship with Antero Resources have allowed us to become a leading midstream energy 
company serving the Appalachian Basin.  Our significant investment in West Virginia and Ohio infrastructure makes us well positioned to deliver returns
on capital and grow the business in a capital efficient manner.

Additionally, we own a 50% equity interest in the Joint Venture to develop processing and fractionation assets in Appalachia with MarkWest and a 
15% equity interest in the Stonewall gas gathering system.  These investments provide us with greater exposure to the midstream value chain.  

Disciplined Capital Investment

We utilize a flexible, just-in-time capital budgeting approach through integrated planning with Antero Resources, which allows us to avoid long
lead-times in our capital investments in order to maximize our returns on invested capital.  We believe this just-in-time capital budgeting approach is
unique to Antero Midstream and will allow us to generate sustainable free cash flow.

Fixed Fee Business with Long-Term Customer Contracts

We provide gathering, compression, processing, fractionation and integrated water services, including fresh water delivery services and other fluid 
handling services, to Antero Resources under long-term, fixed-fee and cost of service fee contracts, limiting our direct exposure to commodity price risk.  
We have agreements in place to provide gathering and compression services through 2038 and water services through 2035.  Both our 2019 gathering and 
compression agreement (as defined below in “—Our Relationship with Antero Resources—Operational and Managerial Arrangements with Antero 
Resources”) and water service agreement are subject to automatic annual renewal with rights by either party to terminate on or before the 180th day prior to 
the effective date of such automatic renewal.  Additionally, Antero Resources has (i) dedicated to us all of its current and future acreage in the Appalachian 
Basin for gathering and compression services and all of its acreage within defined service areas in the Appalachian Basin for water services, subject to any 
pre-existing dedications or other third-party commitments, and (ii) granted us certain rights of first offer with respect to gathering, compression, processing 
and fractionation services and water services for acreage located outside of the existing dedicated areas under our existing agreements.  See “—Our 
Relationship with Antero Resources” for further 
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information.

Experienced Management Team

Our management team has worked together for many years and has established a successful track record of developing integrated business models 
that are capable of delivering consistent returns on invested capital.  We intend to leverage our management team’s significant industry expertise and 
experience developing natural gas resource plays to continue building a premier midstream energy company to service Antero Resources and the other 
operators in the Appalachian Basin.

Culture of Continuous Improvement and Responsible Stewardship

We are committed to a culture of continuous improvement, which serves as our foundation to develop and achieve our ESG goals as well as 
further our goal of environmental stewardship.  Innovation, collaboration, technology and establishing meaningful goals have enabled us to improve our 
safety record, recycle or reuse a substantial majority of Antero Resources’ produced and flowback water and further our commitment to lowering GHG 
emissions intensity across our operations.  We believe natural gas is key to the energy transition because of its ability to provide energy security to 
developing nations and replace more GHG-intensive sources of fuel.  We embrace our role in providing the infrastructure that supports a low-carbon future 
and seek to build upon past GHG emission reduction efforts.  Our 2021 ESG Report, available on our website at www.anteromidstream.com/esg, includes 
more information on our ESG goals, as well as specific initiatives we have in place to help achieve these goals.  Our 2021 ESG Report and other 
information on our website is not incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K or our other filings with the SEC and is not a part of them.  
Additionally, see “—Regulation of Environmental and Occupational Safety and Health Matters” for more information on GHG emissions and “Item 1A.  
Risk Factors” for risks and uncertainties related to our business operations.

Operating Segments

Our operations are located in the United States and are organized into two reportable segments: (1) gathering and processing and (2) water 
handling.  Financial information for our reportable segments is located under Note 16—Reportable Segments to our consolidated financial statements.

Our Assets

Our gathering and compression assets consist of high and low pressure gathering pipelines, compressor stations and processing and fractionation 
plants that collect and process natural gas and NGLs from Antero Resources’ wells in West Virginia and Ohio.  Our water handling assets include two 
independent systems that deliver water from sources, including the Ohio River, local reservoirs and several regional waterways.  Portions of these systems 
are also utilized to transport flowback and produced water.  The water handling systems consist of permanent buried pipelines, surface pipelines and water 
storage facilities, as well as pumping stations, blending facilities and impoundments to transport water throughout the systems used to deliver water to 
Antero Resources’ well completions.  

The following table provides information regarding our gathering and processing systems and water handling systems as of December 31, 2022:

    Gathering and Processing Systems     Water Handling Systems
Low-Pressure High-Pressure Compression Buried Surface

Pipeline Pipeline Capacity Water Pipeline Water Pipeline
(miles) (miles) (Bcf/d)     (miles)     (miles)

Appalachian Basin  390  230  4.6  226  137

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we added (i) 126 miles of gathering and compression pipelines, including 72 miles of acquired 
gathering pipelines, (ii) 1.2 Bcf/d of compression capacity, including approximately 1.1 Bcf/d of acquired compression capacity, and (iii) 13 miles of 
buried and surface water pipelines in the Appalachian Basin.  As of December 31, 2022, we had the ability to store 5.5 million barrels of water in 36 
impoundments.  Additionally, we built water blending and storage infrastructure to support other fluid handling services that we provide to Antero 
Resources for well completion and production activities.  We also own water treatment assets, including the Antero Clearwater Facility (the “Clearwater 
Facility”), which we idled in September 2019.  See Note 6—Property and Equipment to our consolidated financial statements for more information.  Since 
idling the Clearwater Facility, we have satisfied our obligation to handle Antero Resources’ flowback and produced water through our other fluid handling 
services.
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Our Relationship with Antero Resources

Antero Resources is our most significant customer and is one of the largest producers of natural gas and NGLs in North America.  As of 
December 31, 2022, substantially all of Antero Resources’ approximate 553,000 gross acres (504,000 net acres) are dedicated to us for gathering, 
compression and water services.  During the year ended December 31, 2022, Antero Resources produced, on average, 3.2 Bcfe/d net (32% liquids).  As of 
December 31, 2022, Antero Resources’ estimated net proved reserves were 17.8 Tcfe, which were comprised of 58% natural gas, 41% NGLs and 1% oil.  
As of December 31, 2022, Antero Resources’ drilling inventory consisted of 1,819 identified gross potential horizontal well locations (approximately 1,816 
of which were located on acreage dedicated to us) for gathering and compression and water handling services, which provides us with significant 
opportunities for growth as Antero Resources’ active drilling program continues.  Antero Resources announced its 2023 drilling and completion budget is 
$875 million to $925 million, and includes plans to complete 75 to 80 gross wells in the Appalachian Basin.  Additionally, Antero Resources’ 2023 capital 
budget includes $150 million for leasehold expenditures, all of which will be dedicated to us.  Antero Resources relies significantly on us to deliver the 
midstream infrastructure necessary to accommodate its development program.  For additional information regarding our contracts with Antero Resources, 
see “—Operational and Managerial Arrangements with Antero Resources.”

We currently derive substantially all of our revenue from Antero Resources.  Any development that materially and adversely affects Antero 
Resources’ operations, financial condition or market reputation could have a material adverse impact on us.  Accordingly, we are indirectly subject to the 
business risks of Antero Resources.  For additional information, see “Item 1A.  Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business.”  

Operational and Managerial Arrangements with Antero Resources

Gathering and Compression

Our gathering and compression service agreements with Antero Resources include: (i) the second amended and restated gathering and
compression agreement dated December 8, 2019 (the “2019 gathering and compression agreement”), (ii) gathering and compression agreements acquired
with the Crestwood assets (the “Marcellus gathering and compression agreements”) and (iii) a compression agreement acquired with the EnLink assets (the 
“Utica compression agreement” and, together with the 2019 gathering and compression agreement and the Marcellus gathering and compression 
agreements, the “gathering and compression agreements”).  See “—Acquisitions” and Note 6—Property and Equipment for additional information.  
Pursuant to these gathering and compression agreements, Antero Resources has dedicated substantially all of its current and future acreage in West 
Virginia, Ohio and Pennsylvania to us for gathering and compression services.  Our 2019 gathering and compression agreement has an initial term through 
2038, our Marcellus gathering and compression agreements expire between 2023 and 2031 and our Utica compression agreement has two dedicated areas 
that expire in 2024 and 2030.  Upon expiration of each of the Marcellus gathering and compression service agreements and Utica compression agreement, 
the Company will continue to provide gathering and compression services under the 2019 gathering and compression agreement.  We also have an option 
to gather and compress natural gas produced by Antero Resources on any acreage it acquires in the future outside of West Virginia, Ohio and Pennsylvania 
on the same terms and conditions as the 2019 gathering and compression agreement.  

Under the gathering and compression agreements, we receive a low pressure gathering fee per Mcf, a high-pressure gathering fee per Mcf and a
compression fee per Mcf, as applicable, substantially all of which are subject to annual CPI-based adjustments.  If and to the extent Antero Resources 
requests that we construct new low pressure lines, high pressure lines and/or compressor stations, our 2019 gathering and compression agreement contains 
options at our election for either (i) minimum volume commitments that require Antero Resources to utilize or pay for 75% and 70%, respectively, of the 
capacity of such new construction for 10 years or (ii) a cost of service fee that allows us to earn a 13% rate of return on such new construction over seven 
years, which election is made individually for each piece of equipment.  In addition, the Marcellus gathering and compression agreements provides for a 
minimum volume commitment that requires Antero Resources to utilize or pay for 25% of the capacity of new compressor station construction for 10 
years.  Minimum volume commitments are aggregated such that there is a single minimum volume commitment for the respective service each year for 
each agreement.  Additional gathering lines and compressor stations installed on our own initiative are not subject to these minimum volume commitment 
or cost of service fee options.  These minimum volume commitments and rate of return options are intended to support the stability of our cash flows.

Our 2019 gathering and compression agreement includes a growth incentive fee program that allows for a reduction in our low pressure gathering 
fees if Antero Resources achieves certain volumetric targets.  Antero Resources’ throughput on acquired assets is not considered in low pressure gathering 
volume targets.  Antero Resources earned $48 million in fee rebates during the year ended December 31, 2022 by achieving all of its quarterly volumetric 
targets.  The growth incentive fee rebate program expires December 31, 2023, and the following table summarizes the remaining low pressure gathering 
growth incentive targets for 2023.  If actual low pressure volumes are below the lowest tier for the respective quarterly period, Antero Resources will not 
receive a fee rebate on low 
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pressure gathering fees.

Low Pressure Gathering Quarterly Fee
Volume Growth Incentive Reduction

Targets (MMcf/d) (in millions)
Calendar Year 2023

Threshold 1 >2,900 and <3,150 $12.0
Threshold 2 >3,150 and <3,400 $15.5
Threshold 3 >3,400 $19.0

Water Handling Services

Pursuant to the water services agreement, we provide certain water handling services to Antero Resources within an area of dedication in defined 
service areas in Ohio and West Virginia.  We also have certain rights of first offer with respect to water services for acreage located outside of the existing 
dedicated areas.  Antero Resources agreed to pay us for all water handling services provided by us in accordance with the terms of the water services 
agreement, under which Antero Resources has no minimum volume commitments.  Under the agreement, Antero Resources will pay a fixed fee for all 
fresh water deliveries by pipeline directly to the well site, subject to annual CPI-based adjustments.  Antero Resources also agreed to pay us a fixed fee per 
barrel for water treatment at the Clearwater Facility, which was idled in the third quarter of 2019 and we expect will remain idled for the foreseeable future.  
Under the agreement, we receive a fixed fee for all fresh water deliveries by pipeline directly to the well site, subject to annual CPI-based adjustments.  In 
addition, we also provide other fluid handling services.  These operations, along with our fresh water delivery systems, support well completion and 
production operations for Antero Resources.  These services are provided by us directly or through third-parties with which we contract.  For other fluid 
handling services provided by third-parties, Antero Resources reimburses our third-party out-of-pocket costs plus 3%.  For other fluid handling services
provided by us, we charge Antero Resources a cost of service fee. The initial term of the water services agreement runs to 2035.   

Gas Processing and NGL Fractionation

The Joint Venture was formed in February 2017 to develop processing and fractionation assets in Appalachia.  In connection with our entry into 
the Joint Venture with MarkWest, we released to the Joint Venture our right to provide certain processing and fractionation services on 195,000 gross acres 
held by Antero Resources in the Appalachian Basin.  We have a right-of-first-offer agreement with Antero Resources for the provision of processing and
fractionation services pursuant to which Antero Resources, subject to certain exceptions, may not procure any gas processing or NGL fractionation services
with respect to its production (other than production subject to a pre-existing dedication) without first offering us the right to provide such services.

Secondment and Services Agreements

Pursuant to a secondment agreement and a services agreement, Antero Resources seconds employees to us to provide operational services with 
respect to our assets and certain corporate, general and administrative services in exchange for reimbursement of any direct expenses and an allocation of 
any indirect expenses attributable to its provision of such services.  These agreements extend through 2039. 

Acreage Dispositions

Antero Resources may sell, transfer, convey, assign, grant or otherwise dispose of dedicated properties free of the dedication under our gathering 
and compression, water services and right-of-first-offer agreements, provided that the number of net acres of dedicated properties so disposed of, when 
added to the number of net acres of dedicated properties previously disposed of free of the dedication since the respective effective dates of the agreements, 
does not exceed the aggregate number of net acres of dedicated properties acquired by Antero Resources since such effective dates.  Accordingly, under 
certain circumstances, Antero Resources may dispose of a significant number of net acres of dedicated properties free from dedication without our consent, 
and we have no control over the timing or extent of such dispositions.  

Title to Properties

Our real property is classified into two categories: (i) parcels that we own in fee and (ii) parcels in which our interest derives from leases,
easements, rights-of-way, permits or licenses from landowners or governmental authorities, permitting the use of such land for our operations.  Portions of 
the land on which our pipelines and major facilities are located are owned by us in fee title, and we believe that we have satisfactory title to these lands.  
The remainder of the land on which our pipelines and major facilities are located are held by us pursuant to surface leases between us, as lessee, and the fee 
owner of the lands, as lessors.  We have leased or 
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owned these lands without any material challenge known to us relating to the title to the land upon which the assets are located, and we believe that we 
have satisfactory leasehold estates or fee ownership of such lands.  We have no knowledge of any challenge to the underlying fee title of any material lease, 
easement, right-of-way, permit or license held by us or to our title to any material lease, easement, right-of-way, permit or lease, and we believe that we 
have satisfactory title to all of its material leases, easements, rights-of-way, permits and licenses.

Seasonality

Demand for natural gas generally decreases during the spring and fall months and increases during the summer and winter months.  However, 
cold winters, hot summers or severe weather events can significantly increase demand and price fluctuations, while  seasonal anomalies, such as mild 
winters, mild summers or severe weather events, can sometimes lessen the impact of these fluctuations.  In addition, certain natural gas end users, utilities 
and marketers utilize natural gas storage facilities and purchase some of their anticipated winter requirements during the spring, summer and fall, thereby 
smoothing demand for natural gas.  This can also lessen seasonal demand fluctuations.  These seasonal anomalies can increase demand for our services 
during the summer and winter months and decrease demand for our services during the spring and fall months.

Competition

As a result of our relationship with Antero Resources, we do not compete for the portion of Antero Resources’ existing operations for which we
currently provide midstream services and will not compete for future portions of Antero Resources’ operations that are dedicated to us pursuant to: (i) our
gathering and compression agreements; (ii) our water handling services agreement; and (iii) our right-of-first-offer agreement with Antero Resources for 
the provision of processing and fractionation services.  For a description of this contract, see “—Our Relationship with Antero Resources—Contractual 
Arrangements with Antero Resources.”  However, we face competition in attracting third-party volumes to our gathering and compression and water 
handling systems.  In addition, these third parties may develop their own gathering and compression and water handling systems in lieu of employing our 
assets.

Regulation of Operations

Regulation of pipeline gathering services may affect certain aspects of our business and the market for our services.

Gathering Pipeline Regulation

Section 1(b) of the Natural Gas Act of 1938 (“NGA”), exempts natural gas gathering facilities from regulation by the FERC, under the NGA.  
Although the FERC has not made any formal determinations with respect to any of our facilities, we believe that the natural gas pipelines in our gathering 
systems meet the traditional tests the FERC has used to establish whether a pipeline is a gathering pipeline not subject to FERC jurisdiction.  The 
distinction between FERC-regulated transmission services and federally unregulated gathering services, however, has been the subject of substantial 
litigation, and the FERC determines whether facilities are gathering facilities on a case-by-case basis, so the classification and regulation of some our 
gathering facilities and intrastate transportation pipelines may be subject to change based on future determinations by the FERC, the courts or Congress.  If 
the FERC were to consider the status of an individual facility and determine that the facility is not a gathering pipeline and the pipeline provides interstate 
transmission service, the rates for, and terms and conditions of, services provided by such facility would be subject to regulation by the FERC under the 
NGA or the Natural Gas Policy Act of 1978 (“NGPA”).  Such FERC-regulation could decrease revenue, increase operating costs, and, depending upon the 
facility in question, could adversely affect our results of operations and cash flows.  In addition, if any of our facilities were found to have provided 
services or otherwise operated in violation of the NGA or NGPA, this could result in the imposition of civil penalties as well as a requirement to disgorge 
charges collected for such service in excess of the rate established by the FERC.

Unlike natural gas gathering under the NGA, there is no exemption for the gathering of crude oil or NGLs under the Interstate Commerce Act 
(“ICA”).  Whether a crude oil or NGL shipment is in interstate commerce under the ICA depends on the fixed and persistent intent of the shipper as to the 
crude oil’s or NGL’s final destination, absent a break in the interstate movement.  Antero Midstream believes that the crude oil and NGL pipelines in its 
gathering system meet the traditional tests the FERC has used to determine that a pipeline is not providing transportation service in interstate commerce 
subject to FERC ICA jurisdiction.  However, the determination of the interstate or intrastate character of shipments on Antero Midstream’s crude oil and 
NGL pipelines depends on the shipper’s intentions and the transportation of the crude oil or NGLs outside of Antero Midstream’s system, and may change 
over time.  If the FERC were to consider the status of an individual facility and the character of a crude oil or NGL shipment, and determine that the 
shipment is in interstate commerce, the rates for, and terms and conditions of, transportation services provided by such facility would be subject to 
regulation by the FERC under the ICA.  Such FERC regulation could decrease revenue, increase operating costs and, depending on the facility in question, 
could adversely affect Antero Midstream’s results of operations and cash 
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flows.  In addition, if any of Antero Midstream’s facilities were found to have provided services or otherwise operated in violation of the ICA, this could 
result in the imposition of administrative and civil remedies and criminal penalties, as well as a requirement to disgorge charges collected for such services 
in excess of the rate established by the FERC.

State regulation of gathering facilities generally includes various safety, environmental and, in some circumstances, nondiscriminatory take
requirements and complaint-based rate regulation.  States in which we operate may adopt ratable take and common purchaser statutes, which would require 
our gathering pipelines to take natural gas without undue discrimination in favor of one producer over another producer or one source of supply over 
another similarly situated source of supply.  The regulations under these statutes may have the effect of imposing some restrictions on our ability as an 
owner of gathering facilities to decide with whom we contract to gather natural gas.  States in which we operate may also adopt a complaint-based 
regulation of natural gas gathering activities, which allows natural gas producers and shippers to file complaints with state regulators in an effort to resolve 
grievances relating to gathering access and rate discrimination.  We cannot predict whether such regulation will be adopted and whether such a complaint 
will be filed against us in the future.  Failure to comply with state regulations can result in the imposition of administrative, civil and criminal remedies.  To 
date, there has been no adverse effect to our system due to state regulations.

Our gathering operations could be adversely affected should they be subject in the future to more stringent application of state regulation of rates 
and services.  Our gathering operations also may be, or become, subject to additional safety and operational regulations relating to the design, installation, 
testing, construction, operation, replacement and management of gathering facilities.  Additional rules and legislation pertaining to these matters are 
considered or adopted from time to time.  We cannot predict what effect, if any, such changes might have on our operations, but the industry could be 
required to incur additional capital expenditures and increased costs depending on future legislative and regulatory changes.

The Energy Policy Act of 2005 (“EPAct 2005”), amended the NGA and NGPA to prohibit fraud and manipulation in natural gas markets.  The 
FERC subsequently issued a final rule making it unlawful for any entity, in connection with the purchase or sale of natural gas or transportation service 
subject to FERC’s jurisdiction, to defraud, make an untrue statement or omit a material fact or engage in any practice, act or course of business that 
operates or would operate as a fraud.  The FERC’s anti-manipulation rules apply to intrastate sales and gathering activities only to the extent that there is a 
“nexus” to FERC-jurisdictional transactions.  EPAct 2005 also provided the FERC with the authority to impose civil penalties of up to approximately $1 
million (adjusted annually for inflation) per day per violation.  In January 2023, FERC issued an order (Order No. 886) increasing the maximum civil 
penalty amounts under the NGA and NGPA to adjust for inflation.  FERC may now assess civil penalties under the NGA and NGPA of up to $1,496,035 
per violation per day.

Pipeline Safety Regulation

Some of our gas pipelines are subject to regulation by the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration (“PHMSA”), pursuant to the 
Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act of 1968 (“NGPSA”), with respect to natural gas, and the Hazardous Liquids Pipeline Safety Act of 1979 (“HLPSA”), with 
respect to crude oil and NGLs.  Both the NGPSA and the HLPSA were amended by the Pipeline Safety Act of 1992, the Accountable Pipeline Safety and 
Partnership Act of 1996, the Pipeline Safety Improvement Act of 2002 (“PSIA”), as reauthorized and amended by the Pipeline Inspection, Protection, 
Enforcement and Safety Act of 2006, the Pipeline Safety, Regulatory Certainty and Job Creation Act of 2011 (“2011 Pipeline Safety Act”) and the 
Protecting Our Infrastructure of Pipelines and Enhancing Safety (“PIPES”) Act of 2020.  The NGPSA and HLPSA regulate safety requirements in the 
design, construction, operation and maintenance of natural gas, crude oil and NGL pipeline facilities, while the PSIA establishes mandatory inspections for 
all U.S. crude oil, NGL and natural gas transmission pipelines in certain high risk areas, such as high-consequence areas (“HCAs”) or moderate 
consequence areas (“MCAs”).

The PHMSA has developed regulations that require pipeline operators to implement integrity management programs, including more frequent 
inspections and other measures to ensure pipeline safety in HCAs and MCAs.  The regulations require operators, including us, to:

● perform ongoing assessments of pipeline integrity;

● identify and characterize applicable threats to pipeline segments that could impact certain high risk areas;

● improve data collection, integration and analysis;

● repair and remediate pipelines as necessary; and

● implement preventive and mitigating actions.
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The 2011 Pipeline Safety Act, among other things, increased the maximum civil penalty for pipeline safety violations and directed the Secretary of
Transportation to promulgate rules or standards relating to expanded integrity management requirements, automatic or remote-controlled valve use, excess 
flow valve use, leak detection system installation and testing to confirm the material strength of pipe operating above 30% of specified minimum yield 
strength in HCAs.  Consistent with the 2011 Pipeline Safety Act, PHMSA finalized rules that increased the maximum administrative civil penalties for 
violation of the pipeline safety laws and regulations to $200,000 per violation per day, with a maximum of $2,000,000 for a related series of violations.  In 
January 2023, those maximum civil penalties were increased to $257,664 and $2,576,627, respectively, to account for inflation.  The PHMSA has also 
issued a final rule applying safety regulations to certain rural low-stress hazardous liquid pipelines that were not covered previously by some of its safety 
regulations.

Following legislation enacted by Congress, PHMSA has issued or proposed regulations that either seek to impose new obligations on pipeline 
operations or expand existing pipeline safety requirements to previously unregulated pipelines.  For example, in November 2021, PHMSA issued a final 
rule that imposes safety regulations on approximately 400,000 miles of previously unregulated onshore gas gathering lines that, among other things, will 
impose criteria for inspection and repair of fugitive emissions, extend reporting requirements to all gas gathering operators and apply a set of minimum 
safety requirements to certain gas gathering pipelines with large diameters and high operating pressures.  Separately, in June 2021, PHMSA issued an 
Advisory Bulletin advising pipeline and pipeline facility operators of applicable requirements to update their inspection and maintenance plans for the 
elimination of hazardous leaks and minimization of natural gas released from pipeline facilities in accordance with the PIPES Act of 2020. PHMSA, 
together with state regulators, are expected to commence and complete inspection of these plans in 2022.  Additionally, in August 2022, PHMSA finalized 
the rule entitled “Pipeline Safety: Safety of Gas Transmission Pipelines, Repair Criteria, Integrity Management Improvements, Cathodic Protection, 
Management of Change and Other Related Amendments,” which adjusted the repair criteria for pipelines in HCAs, created new criteria for pipelines in 
non-HCAs and strengthened integrity management assessment requirements, among other items.  We are in the process of assessing the impact of these 
rules on our future costs of operations and revenue from operations, but we do not expect our operations to be affected by these new rules any differently 
than other similarly situated midstream companies.

Separately, in the Fiscal Year 2021 Omnibus Appropriations Bill, Congress directed PHMSA to move forward with several regulatory actions, the 
promulgation of rules related to changes in class location of existing pipelines, pipeline leak detection and repair and the management of idled pipelines, 
amongst other matters.  While we cannot predict the full scope of these regulations at this time, more stringent requirements may require us to incur 
significant costs to maintain compliance, which may have a negative impact on our business performance and results of operations.

States are largely preempted by federal law from regulating pipeline safety for interstate lines but most are certified by the DOT to assume 
responsibility for enforcing federal intrastate pipeline regulations and inspection of intrastate pipelines.  States may adopt stricter standards for intrastate 
pipelines than those imposed by the federal government for interstate lines; however, states vary considerably in their authority and capacity to address 
pipeline safety.  State standards may include requirements for facility design and management in addition to requirements for pipelines.  We do not 
anticipate any significant difficulty in complying with applicable state laws and regulations.

We regularly review all existing and proposed pipeline safety requirements and work to incorporate the new requirements into procedures and 
budgets.  We expect to incur increasing regulatory compliance costs, based on the intensification of the regulatory environment and upcoming changes to 
regulations as outlined above, consistent with other similarly situated midstream companies.  In addition to regulatory changes, costs may be incurred if 
there is an accidental release of a commodity transported by our system, or a regulatory inspection identifies a deficiency in our required programs and 
corrective action is required.

Regulation of Environmental and Occupational Safety and Health Matters

General

Our natural gas gathering and compression and water handling activities are subject to stringent and complex federal, state and local laws and 
regulations relating to the protection of the environment, natural resources and worker safety.  As an owner or operator of these facilities, we must comply 
with these laws and regulations at the federal, state and local levels.  These laws and regulations can restrict or impact our business activities in many ways, 
such as:

● requiring the installation of pollution-control equipment, imposing emission or discharge limits or otherwise restricting the way we operate
resulting in additional costs to our operations;

● limiting or prohibiting construction activities in areas, such as air quality nonattainment areas, wetlands, coastal regions or areas inhabited by
endangered or threatened species;
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● delaying system modification or upgrades during review of permit applications and revisions;

● requiring investigatory and remedial actions to mitigate discharges, releases or pollution conditions associated with our operations or
attributable to former operations; and

● enjoining the operations of facilities deemed to be in non-compliance with permits issued pursuant to or regulatory requirements imposed by
such environmental laws and regulations.

Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may trigger a variety of administrative, civil and criminal enforcement measures, including the 
assessment of monetary penalties and natural resource damages.  Certain environmental statutes impose strict joint and several liability for costs required 
to clean up and restore sites where hazardous substances, hydrocarbons or solid wastes have been disposed or otherwise released.  Moreover, neighboring 
landowners and other third parties may file common law claims for personal injury and property damage allegedly caused by the release of hazardous 
substances, hydrocarbons or solid waste into the environment.

The trend in environmental regulation has been to place more restrictions and limitations on activities that may affect the environment and thus, 
there can be no assurance as to the amount or timing of future expenditures for environmental compliance or remediation and actual future expenditures 
may be different from the amounts we currently anticipate.  As with the midstream industry in general, complying with current and anticipated 
environmental laws and regulations can increase our capital costs to construct, maintain and operate equipment and facilities.  While these laws and 
regulations affect our maintenance capital expenditures and net income, we do not believe they will have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows, nor do we believe that they will affect our competitive position since the operations of our 
competitors are generally similarly affected.  In addition, we believe that the various activities in which we are presently engaged that are subject to 
environmental laws and regulations are not expected to materially interrupt or diminish our operational ability to gather natural gas and provide water 
handling services.  We cannot assure you, however, that future events, such as changes in existing laws or enforcement policies, the promulgation of new 
laws or regulations or the development or discovery of new facts or conditions will not cause us to incur significant costs.  Below is a discussion of the 
material environmental laws and regulations that relate to our business. 

Hydraulic Fracturing Activities

Hydraulic fracturing is an important and common practice that is used to stimulate production of natural gas and/or oil from dense subsurface rock 
formations.  The hydraulic fracturing process involves the injection of water, sand and chemicals under pressure through a cased and cemented wellbore 
into targeted subsurface formations to fracture the surrounding rock and stimulate production.  Our primary customer, Antero Resources, uses the water we 
deliver to it for hydraulic fracturing as part of its completion operations as does most of the U.S. onshore oil and natural gas industry.  Hydraulic fracturing 
is typically regulated by state oil and gas commissions and similar agencies; however, in recent years the EPA, has asserted limited authority over hydraulic 
fracturing and has issued or sought to propose rules related to the control of air emissions, disclosure of chemicals used in the process and the disposal of 
flowback and produced water resulting from the process.  Some states, including those in which we operate, have adopted and other states are considering 
adopting, regulations that could impose more stringent disclosure and/or well construction requirements on hydraulic fracturing operations.  For example, 
both West Virginia and Ohio have adopted requirements governing well pad construction, as well as requiring oil and natural gas operators to disclose 
chemical ingredients used to hydraulically fracture wells and to conduct pre-drilling baseline water quality sampling of certain water wells near a proposed 
horizontal well.  Local governments also may seek to adopt ordinances within their jurisdictions regulating the time, place and manner of drilling activities 
in general or hydraulic fracturing activities in particular.  Some states and municipalities have sought to ban hydraulic fracturing altogether.  We cannot 
predict whether any such federal, state or local legal restrictions relating to the hydraulic fracturing process will ever be enacted in areas where our 
customers operate and if so, what the effects of such restrictions would be.  If additional levels of regulation and permits were required through the 
adoption of new laws and regulations at the federal state or local level, that could lead to delays, increased operating costs and process prohibitions that 
could reduce the volumes of water and natural gas that move through our systems, which in turn could materially adversely affect our revenues and results 
of operations.

Hazardous Waste

Antero Midstream and Antero Resources’ operations generate solid wastes, including small quantities of hazardous wastes, that are subject to the 
federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”), and comparable state laws, which impose requirements for the handling, storage, treatment 
and disposal of hazardous waste.  RCRA currently exempts many oil and natural gas gathering and field processing wastes from classification as hazardous 
waste.  Specifically, RCRA excludes from the definition of hazardous waste produced waters and other wastes intrinsically associated with the exploration, 
development or production of crude oil and natural gas, including residual constituents derived from those exempt wastes.  However, these oil and gas 
exploration and 



Table of Contents

9

production wastes may still be regulated under state solid waste laws and regulations and it is possible that certain oil and natural gas exploration and 
production wastes now classified as exploration and production-exempt non-hazardous waste could be classified as hazardous waste in the future.  Stricter 
regulation of wastes generated during our or our customers’ operations could result in increased costs for our operations or the operations of our customers, 
which could in turn reduce demand for our services, increase our waste disposal costs and adversely affect our business.

Site Remediation

The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (“CERCLA”), also known as the Superfund law and comparable 
state laws impose liability without regard to fault or the legality of the original conduct, on certain classes of persons responsible for the release of 
hazardous substances into the environment.  Such classes of persons include the current and past owners or operators of sites where a hazardous substance 
was released and companies that disposed or arranged for disposal of hazardous substances at offsite locations, such as landfills.  Although petroleum as 
well as natural gas is excluded from CERCLA’s definition of “hazardous substance,” in the course of our ordinary operations, our operations generate 
wastes that may be designated as hazardous substances.  CERCLA authorizes the EPA, states, and, in some cases, third parties to take actions in response 
to releases or threatened releases of hazardous substances into the environment and to seek to recover from the classes of responsible persons the costs they 
incur to address the release.  Under CERCLA, we could be subject to strict joint and several liabilities for the costs of cleaning up and restoring sites where 
hazardous substances have been released into the environment and for damages to natural resources.

We currently own or lease, and may have in the past owned or leased, properties that have been used for the gathering and compression of natural 
gas and the gathering and transportation of oil.  Although we typically used operating and disposal practices that were standard in the industry at the time, 
petroleum hydrocarbons or wastes may have been disposed of or released on or under the properties owned or leased by it or on or under other locations 
where such substances have been taken for disposal.  Such petroleum hydrocarbons or wastes may have migrated to property adjacent to our owned and 
leased sites or the disposal sites.  In addition, some of the properties may have been operated by third parties or by previous owners whose treatment and 
disposal or release of petroleum hydrocarbons or wastes was not under our control.  These properties and the substances disposed or released on them may 
be subject to CERCLA, RCRA and analogous state laws.  Under such laws, we could be required to remove previously disposed wastes, including waste 
disposed of by prior owners or operators; remediate contaminated property, including groundwater contamination, whether from prior owners or operators 
or other historic activities or spills; or perform remedial operations to prevent future contamination.  We are not currently a potentially responsible party in 
any federal or state Superfund site remediation and there are no current, pending or anticipated Superfund response or remedial activities at or implicating 
our facilities or operations.

Air Emissions

The federal Clean Air Act (“CAA”), and comparable state laws, regulate emissions of air pollutants from various industrial sources, including 
natural gas processing plants and compressor stations, and also impose various emission limits, operational limits and monitoring, reporting and 
recordkeeping requirements on air emission sources.  Failure to comply with these requirements could result in monetary penalties, injunctions, conditions 
or restrictions on operations and potentially criminal enforcement actions.  These laws are frequently subject to change.  For example, in October 2015, the 
EPA lowered the National Ambient Air Quality Standard, for ozone from 75 to 70 parts per billion, and completed attainment/non-attainment designations 
in July 2018.  Subsequently, in 2020, the Trump Administration decided to leave this standard in place, but the Biden Administration has announced plans 
to formally review this decision and consider instituting a more stringent standard.  A final decision is not expected until 2023.  These decisions are subject 
to legal challenge, and any proposed rule will likely be subject to legal challenge as well.  Several EPA new source performance standards (“NSPS”), and 
national emission standards for hazardous air pollutants (“NESHAP”), also apply to our facilities and operations.  These NSPS and NESHAP standards 
impose emission limits and operational limits as well as detailed testing, recordkeeping and reporting requirements on the “affected facilities” covered by 
these regulations.  Several of our facilities are “major” facilities requiring Title V operating permits which impose semi-annual reporting requirements.

Water Discharges

The Federal Water Pollution Control Act, also known as the Clean Water Act (the “CWA”), and comparable state laws impose restrictions and 
strict controls regarding the discharge of pollutants, including produced waters and other oil and natural gas wastes, into federal and state waters.  The 
discharge of pollutants into regulated waters is prohibited, except in accordance with the terms of a permit issued by the EPA or the state.  The discharge of 
dredge and fill material in regulated waters, including wetlands, is also prohibited, unless authorized by a permit issued by the U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers (the “Corps”).  These laws and any implementing regulations provide for administrative, civil and criminal penalties for any unauthorized 
discharges of oil and other substances in reportable quantities and may impose substantial potential liability for the costs of removal, remediation and 
damages.  The scope of regulated waters has been subject to substantial controversy.  In 2015 and 2020, respectively, the Obama and Trump 
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Administrations each published final rules attempting to define the federal jurisdictional reach over waters of the United States (“WOTUS”).  However, 
both of these rulemakings have been subject to legal challenge, and the Biden administration has announced plans to establish its own definition of 
WOTUS.  Most recently, the EPA and Corps published a final rule based on the pre-2015 definition, with updates to incorporate existing Supreme Court 
decisions and regulatory guidance.  However, several legal challenges have been filed against the final rule, the outcomes of which cannot be predicted at 
this time.  Additionally, in October 2022, the Supreme Court heard arguments on a case on the scope and authority of the CWA and the definition of 
WOTUS, a decision on which is expected in 2023.  As a result of these developments, the scope of jurisdiction under the CWA is uncertain at this time.  To 
the extent any action further expands the scope of the CWA’s jurisdiction in areas where we operate, we could face increased costs and delays with respect 
to obtaining permits for dredge and fill activities in wetland areas.  Separately, in April 2020, the federal district court for the District of Montana 
determined that the Corps CWA Section 404 Nationwide Permit (“NWP”) 12 failed to comply with consultation requirements under the federal 
Endangered Species Act.  The district court vacated NWP 12 and enjoined the issuance of new authorizations for oil and gas pipeline projects.  While the 
district court’s order has subsequently been limited to the particular pipeline in that case pending appeal, we cannot predict the ultimate outcome of this 
case and its impacts to the NWP program.  Relatedly, in response to the vacatur, the Corps reissued NWP 12 for oil and natural gas pipeline activities, 
including certain revisions to the conditions for the use of NWP 12; however, an October 2021 decision by the District Court for the Northern District of 
California resulted in a vacatur of a 2020 rule revising the CWA Section 401 certification process.  This vacatur was subsequently stayed by the U.S. 
Supreme Court in April 2022, and the EPA has proposed a rule to update and replace the relevant regulations, for which public comment closed in August 
2022.  While the Corps has resumed permitting decisions for such NWPs, the Corps has advised that, as part of the permitting decision process, the Corps 
will coordinate with certifying authorities on Section 401 certifications as needed, which may result in permit delays or otherwise impact our operations.  
Litigation regarding the use of NWP 12 is ongoing.  Additionally, in March 2022, the Corps announced it would seek stakeholder input on a formal review 
of NWP 12, which is also ongoing.  While the full extent and impact of these actions is unclear at this time, any disruption in our ability to obtain coverage 
under NWP 12 or other general permits may result in increased costs and project delays if we are forced to seek individual permits from the Corps. 

Pursuant to these laws and regulations, we may be required to obtain and maintain approvals or permits for the discharge of wastewater or storm
water and are required to develop and implement spill prevention, control and countermeasure plans, also referred to as “SPCC plans,” in connection with
on-site storage of significant quantities of oil.  These laws and regulations provide for administrative, civil and criminal penalties for any discharges not 
authorized by the permit and may impose substantial potential liability for the costs of removal, remediation and damages.  We believe that compliance 
with such permits will not have a material adverse effect on our business operations. 

Occupational Safety and Health Act

We are also subject to the requirements of the federal Occupational Safety and Health Act, as amended (“OSHA”), and comparable state laws that 
regulate the protection of the health and safety of employees.  In addition, OSHA’s hazard communication standard, the Emergency Planning and 
Community Right to Know Act and implementing regulations and similar state statutes and regulations require that information be maintained about 
hazardous materials used or produced in our operations and that this information be provided to employees, state and local government authorities and 
citizens.  We do not believe that any noncompliance with worker health and safety requirements has occurred or will have a material adverse effect on our 
business or operations.

Endangered Species

The federal Endangered Species Act (“ESA”), provides for the protection of endangered and threatened species.  Pursuant to the ESA, if a species 
is listed as threatened or endangered, restrictions may be imposed on activities adversely affecting that species’ habitat.  Similar protections are offered to 
migratory birds under the Migratory Bird Treaty Act.  We conduct operations and have pipeline construction and maintenance projects in areas where 
certain species that are listed as threatened or endangered are known to exist and where other species that potentially could be listed as threatened or 
endangered under the ESA may exist.  The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (the “USFWS”), may designate critical habitat and suitable habitat areas that it 
believes are necessary for survival of a threatened or endangered species.  A critical habitat or suitable habitat designation could result in further material 
restrictions to federal land use and may materially delay or prohibit access to protected areas for natural gas and oil development.  Moreover, as a result of 
a settlement, the USFWS was required to make a determination as to whether more than 250 species classified as endangered or threatened should be listed 
under the ESA by the completion of the agency’s 2017 fiscal year.  For example, in April 2015, the USFWS listed the northern long-eared bat, whose 
habitat includes the areas in which we operate, as a threatened species under the ESA; however, following a 2020 court order to reconsider this decision the 
USFWS redesignated this species as endangered in November 2022, which will be effective March 1, 2023.  The designation of previously unprotected 
species as threatened or endangered, or redesignation of a threatened species as endangered, in areas where we conduct operations could cause us to incur 
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increased costs arising from species protection measures or could result in limitations on our pipeline construction activities or the exploration and 
production activities of Antero Resources, any of which could have an adverse impact on our results of operations.

Climate Change

In response to findings that emissions of GHGs present an endangerment to public health and the environment, the EPA has adopted regulations
under existing provisions of the CAA that, among other things, establish Prevention of Significant Deterioration (“PSD”), pre-construction permits, and 
Title V operating permits for GHG emissions from certain large stationary sources that are already potential major sources of criteria pollutant emissions 
regulated under the statute.  Under these regulations, facilities required to obtain PSD permits must meet “best available control technology” standards for 
their GHG emissions established by the states or, in some cases, by the EPA, for those emissions.  The EPA has also adopted rules requiring the monitoring 
and reporting of GHG emissions from specified sources in the United States, including, among others, certain onshore oil and natural gas processing and 
fractionating facilities.  The federal regulation of methane from oil and gas facilities has been subject to substantial uncertainty in recent years.  In June 
2016, the EPA finalized new regulations, known as Subpart OOOOa, that set emissions standards for methane and volatile organic compounds (“VOC”) 
from new and modified oil and natural gas production and natural gas processing and transmission facilities.  In September 2020, the EPA finalized 
amendments to the 2016 standards that removed the transmission and storage segment from the oil and natural gas source category and rescinded the 
methane-specific requirements for production and processing facilities.  However, President Biden signed an executive order on his first day in office 
calling for the suspension, revision or rescission of the September 2020 rule and the reinstatement or issuance of methane emission standards for new, 
modified and existing oil and gas facilities.  Subsequently, Congress approved, and President Biden has signed into law, a resolution under the 
Congressional Review Act to repeal the September 2020 revisions to the methane standards, effectively reinstating the prior standards.  In response to 
President Biden’s executive order, in November 2021, the EPA issued a proposed rule that, if finalized, would establish OOOOb as new source and 
OOOOc as first-time existing source standards of performance for methane and VOC emissions for the crude oil and natural gas source category that may 
include leak detecting using optical gas imaging and subsequent repair requirements, reduction of regulated emissions through capture and control systems, 
zero-emission requirements for certain equipment or processes, operations and maintenance requirements and requirements for “green well” completions.  
In November 2022, the EPA published a supplemental proposal which, among other items, would impose expanded inspection, monitoring and emissions 
control requirements on oil and gas sites, as well as strengthen requirements related to emissions from equipment and routine flaring. The proposal would 
also establish a “Super Emitter Response Program” that would require operator response to emissions events exceeding 200 pounds per hour, as detected 
by regulatory authorities or qualified third parties. The proposal is currently subject to public comment and is expected to be finalized in 2023; however, all 
of these regulatory actions will likely be subject to legal challenges.  As a result, we cannot predict the scope of any final methane regulatory requirements 
or the cost to comply with such requirements.  Given the long-term trend toward increasing regulation, future federal GHG regulations of the oil and gas 
industry remain a possibility, and several states have separately imposed their own regulations on methane emissions from oil and gas production activities.  
These rules (and any additional regulations) could impose new compliance costs and permitting burdens on natural gas operations.  

In the United States, no comprehensive climate change legislation has been implemented at the federal level, though recently passed legislation 
such as the IRA 2022 advances numerous climate-related objectives.  President Biden has highlighted that addressing climate change is a priority of his 
administration.  On January 27, 2021, President Biden signed an executive order calling for substantial action on climate change, including among other 
things, the increased use of zero-emissions vehicles by the federal government, the elimination of subsidies provided to the oil and natural gas industry and 
increased emphasis on climate-related risks across agencies and economic sectors.  Additionally, in November 2021, the Biden Administration released 
“The Long-Term Strategy of the United States: Pathways to Net-Zero Greenhouse Gas Emissions by 2050,” which establishes a roadmap to net zero 
emissions in the United States by 2050 through, among other things, improving energy efficiency; decarbonizing energy sources via electricity, hydrogen 
and sustainable biofuels; and reducing non-CO2 GHG emissions, such as methane and nitrous oxide.  Other actions that could be pursued by the Biden 
Administration may include the imposition of more restrictive requirements for the establishment of pipeline infrastructure or the permitting of LNG 
export facilities, as well as more restrictive GHG emissions limitations for oil and gas facilities.  Most recently, in August 2022 the Inflation Reduction Act 
(“IRA 2022”) was signed into law, appropriating significant federal funding for renewable energy initiatives and, for the first time ever, imposing a federal 
fee on excess methane emissions from certain oil and gas facilities.  The emissions fee and renewable and low-carbon energy funding provisions of the law 
could increase our operating costs and accelerate the transition away from oil and natural gas, which could in turn adversely affect our business and results 
of operations, as well as those of our customers.  Internationally, the Paris Agreement requires member states to individually determine and submit non-
binding emissions reduction targets every five years beginning in 2020.  President Biden recommitted the United States to the Paris Agreement in February 
2021, and in April 2021, established a goal of reducing the United States’ emissions by 50-52% below 2005 levels by 2030. Additionally, in November 
2021, the international community gathered again in Glasgow at the 26th Conference to the Parties on the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change 
(“COP26”), during which multiple announcements were made, including a call for parties to eliminate certain oil and natural gas subsidies and pursue 
further action on 
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non-CO2 GHGs.  These goals were reaffirmed at the 27th Conference of the Parties in November 2022, and countries were called upon to accelerate efforts 
towards the phase-out of inefficient oil and natural gas subsidies, though no firm commitment or timeline was made.  Relatedly, the United States and 
European Union jointly announced the launch of the “Global Methane Pledge,” an initiative committing to a collective goal of reducing global methane 
emissions by at least 30% by 2030 relative to 2020 levels, including “all feasible reductions” in the energy sector.  The impacts of these orders, pledges, 
agreements and any legislation or regulation promulgated to fulfill the United States’ commitments under the Paris Agreement, COP26, or other 
international conventions cannot be predicted at this time. 

Since 2017, we have published an annual ESG Report, which highlights our most significant environmental program improvements and 
initiatives.  As highlighted in our ESG Report, our methane leak loss rate in 2021 was 0.029%, which was calculated in accordance with OneFuture, a 
voluntary industry partnership focused on reducing methane emissions from the natural gas sector, well below the OneFuture voluntary industry target of 
1%. 

During 2022, our GHG/methane emission reduction efforts included the following activities:

● Conducted quarterly facility LDAR inspections on all of our compressor stations, excluding the compressor stations acquired during the
fourth quarter of 2022.

● Installed pigging blowdown capture systems at eight locations including six pipeline interchanges and two compressor stations.

● Implemented a double-pig capture process that reduces the frequency of pig receiver blowdowns, which has the effect of reducing 
emissions and improving labor efficiency.  

● Conducted a successful field pilot test with major engine manufacturer to reduce total carbon emissions while increasing the efficiency
of the engine by adding additional horsepower, and developed a solution to deploy such technology on additional engines within our
fleet.

● Utilized continuous monitoring technology over a tank farm at one of our compressor stations to identify and correct fugitive emissions
that may occur between forward-looking infrared camera inspections.

● Developed, field tested and submitted patent pending technology that passed proof of concept examination for hydraulic emission
displacement designed to eliminate GHG emissions from pipeline maintenance activities.

● Held meetings with our ESG Advisory Council that is comprised of a cross-disciplinary group of internal subject matter experts who
partner with our GHG/Methane Reduction Team to manage ESG (including climate change) risks, opportunities and strategies.

● Held quarterly meetings with our GHG/Methane Reduction Team comprised of internal subject matter experts to review emerging
methane detection and quantification technologies applicable to midstream operations.

We continue to assess various opportunities for emission reductions.  However, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to implement any of the 
opportunities that we may review or explore.  For any such opportunities that we do choose to implement, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to 
implement them within a specific timeframe or across all operational assets, or their ultimate effectiveness. We did not have any material capital or other
non-recurring expenditures in connection with complying with environmental laws or environmental remediation matters in 2022.  However, we cannot 
guarantee that we will not incur material costs related to compliance with or liability under environmental laws and regulations in the future. For risks and
uncertainties related to ESG matters, see “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Compliance with Regulations—Increasing attention to ESG matters and conservation
measures may adversely impact our business.”

Increasingly, oil and natural gas companies are exposed to litigation risks from climate change.  A number of parties have brought suits against oil 
and natural gas companies in state or federal court for alleged contributions to, or failures to disclose the impacts of, climate change.  While we are not 
currently party to any such litigation, we could be named in future actions making similar claims of liability.  Moreover, to the extent that societal pressures 
or political or other factors are involved, it is possible that such liability could be imposed without regard to the company’s causation of or contribution to 
the asserted damage, or to other mitigating factors.  Additionally, demand for hydrocarbons, and therefore our products and services, may be reduced by 
actions taken at the federal, state or local levels to restrict, ban or limit products that rely on oil and natural gas.

Additionally, our access to capital may be impacted by climate change policies.  Financial institutions may adopt policies that 
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have the effect of reducing the funding provided to the oil and natural gas industry.  Many of the largest U.S. banks have made net zero commitments and 
have announced that they will be assessing financed emissions across their portfolios and taking steps to quantify and reduce those emissions.  For 
example, at COP26, the Glasgow Financial Alliance for Net Zero (“GFANZ”) announced that commitments from over 450 firms across 45 countries had 
resulted in over $130 trillion in capital committed to net zero goals.  The various sub-alliances of GFANZ generally require participants to set short-term, 
sector-specific targets to transition their financing, investing and/or underwriting activities to net zero emissions by 2050.  These and other developments in 
the financial sector could lead to some lenders restricting access to capital for or divesting from certain industries or companies, including the oil and 
natural gas sector, or requiring that borrowers take additional steps to reduce their GHG emissions.  Additionally, financial institutions may be required to 
adopt policies that have the effect of reducing the funding provided to the oil and natural gas industry.  For example, the Federal Reserve has joined the 
Network for Greening the Financial System (“NGFS”), a consortium of financial regulators focused on addressing climate-related risks in the financial 
sector and, in November 2021, issued a statement in support of the efforts of the NGFS to identify key issues and potential solutions for the climate-related 
challenges most relevant to central banks and supervisory authorities.  In January 2023, the Federal Reserve released instructions for a pilot climate 
scenario analysis being undertaken by six of the U.S.’s largest banks, which is expected to conclude near the end of 2023.  While we cannot predict what 
policies may result from this, a material reduction in the capital available to the oil and natural gas industry could make it more difficult to secure funding 
for exploration, development, production, transportation and processing activities, which could result in decreased demand for our midstream services.  In 
addition, the SEC has proposed a rule requiring registrants to include certain climate-related disclosures, including Scope 1, 2 and 3 GHG emissions, 
climate-related targets and goals, and certain climate-related financial statement metrics, in registration statements and periodic reports.  The final rule is 
expected in 2023.  Although the final form and substance of these requirements is not yet known, and we cannot predict what any such rules may require to 
the extent the rules impose additional reporting obligations, we could face increased costs.  Additionally, we cannot predict how financial institutions and 
investors might consider any information disclosed under a final rule when making investment decisions, and it is possible as a result that we could face 
increases with respect to the costs of, or restrictions imposed on, our access to capital.  Separately, the SEC has also announced that it is scrutinizing 
existing climate-change related disclosures in public filings, increasing the potential for enforcement if the SEC were to allege an issuer’s existing climate 
disclosures to be misleading or deficient. 

Moreover, climate change may also result in various physical risks such as the increased frequency or intensity of extreme weather events or 
changes in meteorological and hydrological patterns that could adversely impact our financial condition and operations, as well as those of our suppliers or 
customers.  Such physical risks may result in damage to our facilities or otherwise adversely impact our operations, such as if we become subject to water 
use curtailments in response to drought, or demand for our services, such as to the extent warmer winters reduce the demand for energy for heating 
purposes.  Such physical risks may also impact the infrastructure on which we rely to provide our services.  One or more of these developments could have 
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operations. 

Legal Proceedings

Our operations are subject to a variety of risks and disputes normally incident to our business.  As a result, we may, at any given time, be a 
defendant in various legal proceedings and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business.  See “Item 3. Legal Proceedings.” 

We maintain insurance policies with insurers in amounts and with coverage and deductibles that we, with the advice of our insurance advisors and 
brokers, believe are reasonable and prudent.  We cannot, however, assure you that this insurance will be adequate to protect us from all material expenses 
related to potential future claims for personal and property damage or that these levels of insurance will be available in the future at economical prices.

Human Capital

We believe that our employees and contractors are significant contributors to our past and future success, which depends on our ability to attract, 
retain and motivate qualified personnel.  The skills, experience and industry knowledge of key employees significantly benefit our operations and 
performance.

All of our executive officers and other personnel who provide corporate, general and administrative services to our business are, when providing 
services to us, concurrently employed by Antero Resources and us pursuant to the terms of a services agreement.  In addition, our operational personnel are 
seconded to us by Antero Resources pursuant to the terms of a secondment agreement and individuals are concurrently employed by Antero Resources and 
us during such secondment.  As of December 31, 2022, approximately 586 people were concurrently employed by us and Antero Resources pursuant to 
these arrangements.  We and Antero Resources consider our relations with these employees to be generally good.
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Total Rewards

We have demonstrated a history of investing in our workforce by offering competitive salaries, fair living wages and comprehensive benefits.  To
foster a stronger sense of ownership and align the interests of our personnel with shareholders, we provide long-term incentive programs that include
restricted stock units, performance share units and cash awards.  Additionally, we offer short-term cash incentive programs, which are discretionary and are
based on individual and company performance factors, among others.  Furthermore, we offer comprehensive benefits to our full-time employees working
30 hours or more per week.  To be an employer of choice and maintain the strength of our workforce, we consistently assess the current business
environment and labor market to refine our compensation and benefits programs and other resources available to our personnel.  Among other benefits,
these include:

● comprehensive health insurance, including vision and dental; we have not increased employee premiums in over 15 years;

● employee Health Savings Accounts, including contributions to these accounts by us;

● 401(k) retirement savings plan with discretionary contribution matching opportunities;

● competitive paid time off and sick leave programs;

● paid parental leave;

● student loan repayment matching opportunities; and

● wellness support benefits including an employee assistance program, short-term and long-term disability coverage and subsidized gym
memberships among others.

Role Based Support

We support our employees’ professional development.  To help our personnel succeed in their roles, we emphasize continuous formal and 
informal training, developmental, and educational opportunities.  We also assist employees with the cost of such educational pursuits through our student 
loan repayment matching program.  Additionally, we have a robust performance evaluation program, which includes tools to facilitate goals and career 
progression. 

Workforce Health and Safety

The safety of our employees is a core tenet of our values, and our safety goal is zero incidents and zero injuries.  A strong safety culture reduces 
risk, enhances productivity and builds a strong reputation in the communities in which we operate.  We have earned a reputation as a safe and an 
environmentally responsible operator through continuous improvement in our safety performance.  This makes us more attractive to current and new 
employees.

We invest in safety training and coaching, promote risk assessments and encourage visible safety leadership. Employees are empowered and 
expected to stop or refuse to perform a job if it is not safe or cannot be performed safely.  We sponsor emergency preparedness programs, conduct regular 
audits to assess our performance and celebrate our successes through the annual contractor safety conference where we acknowledge employees and 
contractors alike who have exhibited strong safety leadership during the course of the year.  These many efforts combine to create a culture of safety 
throughout the company and provide a positive influence on our contractor community.

We have continued to operate throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, in some cases subject to federal, state and local regulations, and we have 
taken and continue to take steps to protect the health and safety of our workers.  In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we have implemented protocols 
that we believe to be in the best interest of our employees, as well as the communities in which we operate, and that comply with government orders, when 
applicable.  During 2022, we transitioned from a hybrid working arrangement for non-field level employees, which involved a combination of in-office and 
remote work-from-home arrangements, to an in-office working arrangement for all non-field level employees.  We continue to monitor the COVID-19 
environment in order to protect the health and safety of our employees.  

Diversity, Inclusion and Workplace Culture

We are committed to building a culture where diversity and inclusion are core philosophies across our operations, including, but not limited to, 
our decisions around recruitment, promotion, transfer, leaves of absence, compensation, opportunities for career support and advancement, job 
performance and other relevant job-related criteria.  We embrace an approach to hiring and 
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advancement that considers the value of diversity, and we are also committed to making opportunities for development and progress available to all 
employees so their talents can be fully developed to maximize our and their success.  We believe that creating an environment that cultivates a sense of 
belonging requires encouraging employees to continue to educate themselves about each other’s experiences, and we strive to promote the respect and 
dignity of all persons.  We also believe it is important that we foster education, communication and understanding about diversity, inclusion and belonging.  
Finally, in line with our commitments to equal employment opportunity and diversity and inclusion, we expect recruiters operating on our behalf to provide 
us with a diverse pool of candidates.

Address, Internet Website and Availability of Public Filings

Our principal executive offices are at 1615 Wynkoop Street, Denver, Colorado 80202.  Our telephone number is (303) 357-7310.  Our website is 
located at www.anteromidstream.com.

We file or furnish our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, our Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to
such reports and other documents with the SEC under the Exchange Act. The SEC also maintains an internet website at www.sec.gov that contains reports,
proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers, including us, that file electronically with the SEC.

We also make available free of charge our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, our Current Reports on Form 8-K 
and amendments to such reports as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC.  These documents are located 
www.anteromidstream.com under the “Investors” link.

Information on our website is not incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K or our other filings with the SEC and is not a part of them.

ITEM 1A.  RISK FACTORS

We are subject to certain risks and hazards due to the nature of the business activities we conduct.  The risks described in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  We may experience additional 
risks and uncertainties not currently known to us.  Furthermore, as a result of developments occurring in the future, conditions that we currently deem to be 
immaterial may also materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

Customer Concentration

Because substantially all of our revenue is currently derived from Antero Resources, any development that materially and adversely affects
Antero Resources’ operations, financial condition or market reputation could have a material and adverse impact on us.

Antero Resources is our most significant customer and has accounted for substantially all of our revenue since inception, and we expect to derive 
most of our revenues from Antero Resources in the near term.  As a result, any event, whether in our area of operations or otherwise, that adversely affects 
Antero Resources’ production, drilling and completion schedule, financial condition, leverage, market reputation, liquidity, results of operations or cash 
flows may adversely affect our business and results of operations.  Accordingly, we are indirectly subject to the business risks of Antero Resources, 
including, among others:

● a reduction in or slowing of Antero Resources’ development program, which would directly and adversely impact demand for our gathering
and compression services and our water handling services;

● a reduction in or slowing of Antero Resources’ well completions, which would directly and adversely impact demand for our water handling
services;

● the volatility of natural gas, NGLs and oil prices, which could have a negative effect on the value of Antero Resources’ properties, its
development program and its ability to finance its operations;

● the availability of capital on an economic basis to fund Antero Resources’ exploration and development activities and to service and/or
refinance its debt, as well as to fund its capital expenditure programs;

● Antero Resources’ ability to replace its oil and gas reserves;
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● Antero Resources’ drilling and operating risks, including potential environmental liabilities;

● transportation and processing capacity constraints and interruptions; and

● adverse effects of governmental and environmental regulation.

Further, we are subject to the risk of non-payment or non-performance by Antero Resources, including with respect to our gathering and 
compression and water handling services agreements.  We cannot predict the extent to which Antero Resources’ business would be impacted if conditions 
in the energy industry deteriorate, nor can we estimate the impact such conditions would have on Antero Resources’ ability to execute its drilling and 
development program or perform under our gathering and compression and water handling services agreements.  Low commodity price environments can 
negatively impact natural gas producers and cause the industry significant economic stress, including, in certain cases, to file for bankruptcy protection or 
to renegotiate contracts.  To the extent that any customer, including Antero Resources, is in financial distress or commences bankruptcy proceedings, 
contracts with these customers may be subject to renegotiation or rejection under applicable provisions of the United States Bankruptcy Code. Any 
material non-payment or non-performance by Antero Resources could adversely affect our business and operating results.

Also, due to our relationship with Antero Resources, our ability to access the capital markets, or the pricing or other terms of any capital markets
transactions, may be adversely affected by any impairment to Antero Resources’ financial condition or adverse changes in its credit ratings.

Any material limitation of our ability to access capital could limit our ability to obtain future financing under favorable terms, or at all, or could 
result in increased financing costs in the future.  Similarly, material adverse changes at Antero Resources could negatively impact our share price, limiting 
our ability to raise capital through equity issuances or debt financing, or could negatively affect our ability to engage in, expand or pursue our business 
activities and prevent us from engaging in certain transactions that might otherwise be considered beneficial to us.

See Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in Antero Resources’ Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 (which is not, and shall
not be deemed to be, incorporated by reference herein) for a full disclosure of the risks associated with Antero Resources’ business.

Because of the natural decline in production from existing wells, our success depends, in part, on Antero Resources’ ability to replace declining 
production and our ability to secure new sources of natural gas from Antero Resources or third parties.  Additionally, our water handling services 
are directly associated with Antero Resources’ well completion activities and water needs, which are largely driven by the amount of water used in 
completing each well.  Finally, under certain circumstances, Antero Resources may dispose of acreage dedicated to us free from such dedication 
without our consent.  Any decrease in volumes of natural gas that Antero Resources produces, any decrease in the number of wells that Antero 
Resources completes, or any decrease in the number of acres that are dedicated to us could adversely affect our business and operating results.

The natural gas volumes that support our gathering business depend on the level of production from wells connected to our systems, which may 
be less than expected and will naturally decline over time.  To the extent Antero Resources reduces its development activity or otherwise ceases to drill and 
complete new wells, revenues for our gathering and compression and water handling services will be directly and adversely affected.  Our ability to 
maintain water handling services revenues is substantially dependent on continued completion activity by Antero Resources or third parties over time, as 
well as the volumes of water used in and produced from such activity.  In addition, natural gas volumes from completed wells will naturally decline and 
our cash flows associated with these wells will also decline over time.  To maintain or increase throughput levels on our gathering systems, we must obtain 
new sources of natural gas from Antero Resources or third parties.  The primary factors affecting our ability to obtain additional sources of natural gas 
include (i) the success of Antero Resources’ drilling activity in our areas of operation, (ii) Antero Resources’ ability to replace declining production, (iii) 
Antero Resources’ acquisition of additional acreage, including acquisitions that offset any dispositions by Antero Resources and (iv) our ability to obtain 
dedications of acreage from third parties.  Demand for our fresh water delivery services, which make up a substantial portion of our water handling 
services revenues, is dependent on water used in Antero Resources’ completion activities.  To the extent that Antero Resources or other fresh water delivery 
customers reduce the number of completion stages per well or use less water in their completions, the demand for our fresh water delivery services would 
be reduced.

We have no control over Antero Resources’ or other producers’ levels of development and completion activity in our areas of operation, the 
amount of oil and gas reserves associated with wells connected to our systems or the rate at which production from a well declines.  In addition, our water 
handling business is dependent upon active development in our areas of operation.  To maintain or increase throughput levels on our water handling 
systems, we must service new wells.  We have no control over Antero Resources or other producers or their development plan decisions, which are affected 
by, among other things:
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● the availability and cost of capital;

● prevailing and projected natural gas, NGLs and oil prices;

● demand for natural gas, NGLs and oil;

● quantities of reserves;

● geologic considerations;

● environmental or other governmental regulations, including the availability of drilling permits and the regulation of hydraulic fracturing; and

● the costs of producing the gas and the availability and costs of drilling rigs and other equipment.

The daily spot prices for NYMEX Henry Hub natural gas ranged from a high of $9.85 per MMBtu to a low of $3.46 per MMBtu in 2022, and the 
daily spot prices for NYMEX West Texas Intermediate crude oil ranged from a high of $123.64 per barrel to a low of $71.05 per barrel during the same 
period.  While oil and natural gas prices have recovered from the lows experienced in 2020, the markets for these commodities have historically been 
volatile, and these markets will likely continue to be volatile in the future.  In addition, the market price for natural gas in the Appalachian Basin continues 
to be lower relative to NYMEX Henry Hub as a result of the significant increases in the supply of natural gas in the Appalachian region in recent years.  
Because Antero Resources’ production and reserves predominantly consist of natural gas (approximately 58% of equivalent proved reserves), changes in 
natural gas prices have significantly greater impact on Antero Resources’ financial results than oil prices.  NGLs are made up of ethane, propane, 
isobutane, normal butane and natural gasoline, all of which have different uses and different pricing characteristics, which adds further volatility to the 
pricing of NGLs.  Due to the volatility of commodity prices, we are unable to predict future potential movements in the market prices for natural gas, oil 
and NGLs at Antero Resources’ ultimate sales points and, thus, cannot predict the ultimate impact of prices on our operations.

The lower prices experienced during 2020 together with an industry shift towards maintenance capital development programs compelled most 
natural gas and oil producers, including Antero Resources, to reduce the level of exploration, drilling and production activity and capital budgets compared 
to prior years.  This shift had a significant effect on our capital resources, liquidity and expected operating results.  Natural gas and oil prices directly affect 
Antero Resources’ production.  If prices decrease from current levels, our revenues, cash flows and results of operations could continue to be adversely 
affected.  Sustained reductions in development or production activity in our areas of operation could lead to reduced utilization of our services and cash 
flows. 

Due to these and other factors, even if reserves are known to exist in areas served by our assets, producers have chosen and may choose in the 
future, not to develop those reserves.  Reductions in development activity, including Antero Resources’ reduction in lateral lengths or use of water in its 
completions, could result in our inability to maintain the current levels of throughput on our systems or reduce the demand for our water handling services 
on a per well basis, which could in turn reduce our revenue and cash flows and adversely affect our ability to return capital to our stockholders through 
dividends and/or repurchases of shares of our common stock.

Finally, the 2019 gathering and compression agreement, Marcellus gathering and compression agreements, water services agreement and right-of-
first-offer agreement between us and Antero Resources permits Antero Resources to sell, transfer, convey, assign, grant or otherwise dispose of dedicated 
properties free of the dedication under such agreements, provided that the number of net acres of dedicated properties so disposed of, when added to the 
number of net acres of dedicated properties previously disposed of free of the dedication since the respective effective dates of the agreements, does not 
exceed the aggregate number of net acres of dedicated properties acquired by Antero Resources since such effective dates.  Accordingly, under certain 
circumstances, Antero Resources may dispose of a significant number of net acres of dedicated properties free from dedication without our consent, and we 
have no control over the timing or extent of such dispositions.  Any such dispositions could adversely affect our business and operating results.  Even if the 
disposed property remains dedicated to us, the goals and intention of the acquiror with respect to such property may differ significantly from those of 
Antero Resources.  For example, a subsequent owner of a property could choose to invest less capital in the development of such property or to otherwise 
drill fewer wells than Antero Resources.  There can be no assurance that a subsequent owner of dedicated properties would choose to, or be able to, grow 
or maintain current rates of production from the properties, which could adversely impact us.
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Business Operations

A material shut-in of production by Antero Resources or any of our other customers could adversely affect our business.

The marketing of the natural gas, NGLs and oil of our producer customers is substantially dependent upon the existence of adequate markets for 
their products.  In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, governments tried to slow the spread of the virus by imposing social distancing guidelines, travel 
restrictions and stay-at-home orders, which caused a significant decrease in the demand for oil, natural gas and NGLs.  The imbalance between the supply 
of and demand for these products, as well as the uncertainty around the extent and timing of an economic recovery, caused extreme market volatility and a 
substantial adverse effect on commodity prices.  As vaccines became widely available, social distancing guidelines, travel restrictions and stay-at-home 
orders eased, activity in the global economy increased and demand for oil, natural gas and NGLs, and related commodity pricing, improved.  The extent to 
which the pandemic will impact our business results and operations remains uncertain in light of the rapidly evolving environment, duration and severity of 
the spread of the virus, and emerging variants, effectiveness of the vaccine and booster shots, public acceptance of safety protocols, and government 
measures, including vaccine mandates, designed to slow and contain the spread of COVID-19, among others.  Also, as a result of this imbalance, the 
industry has experienced and may experience in the future storage capacity constraints with respect to oil and certain NGL products.  If Antero Resources 
or any of our other customers are unable to sell their production or enter into additional storage arrangements on commercially reasonable terms or at all, 
they may be forced to temporarily shut-in a portion of their production or delay or discontinue drilling and completion plans and commercial production.  
Although Antero Resources has not been required to temporarily shut-in a portion of its production, it may do so in the future.  Production curtailments or 
shut-ins by our producer customers will reduce volumes flowing through our gathering and processing system.  In addition, if our customers delay or 
discontinue drilling or completion activities, it will reduce the volumes of water that we handle.  A material reduction in volumes on our systems could 
adversely affect our business, revenue and cash flows and could adversely affect our ability to return capital to our stockholders through dividends and/or 
repurchases of shares of AM common stock.

Our gathering and compression agreements include minimum volume commitments only under certain circumstances.

Our gathering and compression agreements include minimum volume commitments only on new high pressure pipelines and/or compressor 
stations, as applicable, constructed at Antero Resources’ request.  There are no minimum volume commitments on the low pressure pipelines or fresh water 
delivery pipelines.  Any decrease in the current levels of throughput on our gathering, compression and fresh water delivery systems could reduce our 
revenue and cash flows.

Our construction or purchase of new gathering and compression, processing, water handling or other assets may not be completed on schedule, at
the budgeted cost or at all, may not operate as designed or at the expected levels, may not result in revenue increases and may be subject to
regulatory, environmental, political, legal and economic risks, all of which could adversely affect our financial condition, cash flows and results of
operations.

The construction of additions or modifications to our existing systems and the construction or purchase of new assets involves numerous 
regulatory, environmental, political and legal uncertainties beyond our control and may require the expenditure of significant amounts of capital.  
Financing may not be available on economically acceptable terms or at all.  If we undertake these projects, we may not be able to complete them on 
schedule, at the budgeted cost or at all, or they may not operate as designed or at the expected levels.  Moreover, our revenues may not increase 
immediately upon the expenditure of funds on a particular project. For example, the construction of our water treatment facility took longer than planned 
and the facility ran at operating rates below the designed capacity and did not meet certain completion milestones under the terms of the construction 
contract.  As a result, in September 2019, we decided to idle such facility for the foreseeable future.  Following such idling, we recorded aggregate non-
cash impairment charges of approximately $463 million and expect to incur additional idling costs going forward.  In addition, we may construct facilities 
to capture anticipated future production growth in an area in which such growth does not materialize.  As a result, new gathering and compression, water 
handling or other assets may not be able to attract enough throughput to achieve our expected investment return, which could adversely affect our financial 
condition and results of operations.  In addition, adding to our existing assets may require us to obtain new rights-of-way prior to constructing new 
pipelines or facilities.  We may be unable to timely obtain such rights-of-way to connect new natural gas supplies to our existing gathering pipelines or 
capitalize on other attractive expansion opportunities.  Additionally, it may become more expensive for us to obtain new rights-of-way or to expand or 
renew existing rights-of-way.  If the cost of renewing or obtaining new rights-of-way increases, our cash flows could be adversely affected.

Recent action and the possibility of future action on trade by U.S. and foreign governments has increased the costs of certain equipment and
materials used in the construction of our assets and has created uncertainty in global markets, which may adversely affect our income from
operations and cash flows.

The construction of gathering pipelines, compressor stations, processing and fractionation facilities and water handling assets is subject to
construction cost overruns due to costs and availability of equipment and materials such as steel.  If third party providers
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of steel products essential to our capital improvements and additions are unable to obtain raw materials, including steel, at historical prices, they may raise 
the price we pay for such products.  On March 8, 2018, the President of the United States issued two proclamations directing the imposition of ad valorem 
tariffs of 25% on certain imported steel products and 10% on certain imported aluminum products from most countries, with limited exceptions.  On May 
31, 2018, the U.S. announced that it would also impose steel and aluminum tariffs on Canada, Mexico and the 28 member countries of the European 
Union.  Argentina, Australia, Brazil and South Korea implemented measures to address the impairment to U.S. national security attributable to steel and/or 
aluminum imports that were deemed satisfactory to the United States.  On May 19, 2019, the U.S. announced that Canada and Mexico had also 
implemented satisfactory measures to address the threatened impairment to U.S. national security caused by steel and aluminum imports from those 
countries.  As a result, imports of steel from Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Canada, Mexico and South Korea and aluminum from Argentina, Australia, 
Canada and Mexico have been exempted from the imposition of tariff-based remedies, but the United States has implemented quantitative restrictions in 
the form of absolute quotas for steel article imports from Argentina, Brazil and South Korea and aluminum products from Argentina, meaning that imports 
in excess of the allotted quota will be disallowed.  In addition, effective August 13, 2018, the United States announced that it would impose a 50% ad 
valorem tariff on steel articles imported from Turkey, which remained in effect until May 21, 2019, at which time a 25% ad valorem tariff on steel articles 
imported from Turkey was reimposed, consistent with the tariff on imports from most countries.  On January 24, 2020, the United States announced that an 
additional 25% ad valorem tariff would be imposed on certain derivative steel article imports from all countries except Argentina, Australia, Brazil, 
Canada, Mexico and South Korea, and that an additional 10% ad valorem tariff would be imposed on certain derivative aluminum article imports from all 
countries except Argentina, Australia, Canada and Mexico.  On August 6, 2020, the U.S. re-imposed the 10% ad valorem tariff on imports of non-alloyed 
unwrought aluminum from Canada due to a surge in imports of those articles, but on October 27, 2020, retroactively reinstated Canada on the list of 
countries excluded from tariffs for those articles.  On August 28, 2020, the U.S. announced that it would lower one of the quantitative limitations on 
imports of certain steel articles from Brazil for the remainder of 2020.  The U.S. provided relief from these limitations in specific circumstances, namely 
for production activities with contracts for steel imports from Brazil during the fourth quarter of 2020 entered into before August 28, 2020 that met other 
specified criteria.  In 2020, the U.S. and Mexico also engaged in discussions regarding steel imports pursuant to their Joint Statement of May 17, 2019.  On 
August 31, 2020, the Office of the U.S. Trade Representative announced that Mexico would establish a strict monitoring regime of exports of standard 
pipe, mechanical tubing and semi-finished steel products to the U.S. through June 1, 2021.  The U.S. agreed to continue to exempt Mexico from duty on 
these imports.  On November 5, 2020, the Office of the U.S. Trade Representative announced that Mexico agreed to establish a strict monitoring regime for 
exports of certain grain-oriented electrical steel (“GOES”)-containing products into the U.S., and the U.S. agreed that Mexico would not be subject to any 
adjustments of imports of electrical transformers or related parts.  In addition, the U.S.-Mexico-Canada Free Trade Agreement (“USMCA”) became 
effective on July 1, 2020.  The USMCA includes agreements related to steel and aluminum imports, including changes to rules-of-origin requirements for 
steel and aluminum materials originating in North America, rules for determining whether goods containing materials from non-USMCA countries are 
considered “North American” under the Harmonized Tariff Schedule, and tariff exemptions for certain automotive imports.  Following these 
proclamations, domestic prices for steel have risen and are expected to continue to rise.   These price increases may result in increased costs associated 
with the continued build-out of our assets, as well as projects under development.  Because we generate substantially all of our revenue under agreements 
with Antero Resources that provide for fixed fee structures, we will generally be unable to pass these cost increases along to our customers, and our income 
from operations and cash flows may be adversely affected.

If third-party pipelines or other midstream facilities interconnected to our gathering and compression systems become partially or fully
unavailable, our operating margin and cash flows could be adversely affected.

Our gathering and compression assets connect to other pipelines or facilities owned and operated by unaffiliated third parties.  The continuing 
operation of third-party pipelines, compressor stations and other midstream facilities is not within our control.  These pipelines, plants and other midstream 
facilities may become unavailable because of testing, turnarounds, line repair, maintenance, reduced operating pressure, lack of operating capacity, 
regulatory requirements and curtailments of receipt or deliveries due to insufficient capacity or because of damage from severe weather conditions or other 
operational issues.  If any such increase in costs occurs or if any of these pipelines or other midstream facilities become unable to receive or transport 
natural gas, our operating margin and cash flows could be adversely affected.

Our exposure to commodity price risk may change over time.

We currently generate all of our revenues pursuant to fee-based contracts under which we are paid based on the volumes of natural gas that we 
gather, process and compress and water that we handle and treat, rather than the underlying value of the commodity.  Consequently, our existing operations 
and cash flows have little direct exposure to commodity price risk.  Although we intend to enter into similar fee-based contracts with new customers in the 
future, our efforts to negotiate such contractual terms may not be successful.  In addition, we may acquire or develop additional midstream assets in a 
manner that increases our exposure to commodity price risk.  Future exposure to the volatility of natural gas, NGL and oil prices, especially in light of the 
recent declines, 
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could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The fees charged to our customers may not escalate sufficiently to cover increases in costs, or the agreements may be amended with less favorable
terms, may not be renewed or may be suspended in some circumstances.

As the rate of inflation has increased in the U.S., the cost of the goods and services and labor we use in our operations has also increased, 
increasing our operating costs.  Our costs may increase at a rate greater than the fees we charge to our customers. Furthermore, Antero Resources and our 
other customers may not renew their contracts with us, or may from time to time seek to renegotiate with us the amount and/or the structure of fees we 
charge.  Additionally, some of our customers’ obligations under their agreements with us may be permanently or temporarily reduced due to certain events, 
some of which are beyond our control, including force majeure events wherein the supply of natural gas, NGLs, crude oil or refined products are curtailed 
or cut-off due to events beyond our control, and in some cases, certain of those agreements may be terminated in their entirety if the duration of such 
events exceeds a specified period of time.  If the escalation of fees is insufficient to cover increased costs, our customers do not renew or extend their 
contracts with us, or our customers suspend or terminate their contracts with us, our financial results would suffer.

Oil and natural gas producers’ operations, especially those using hydraulic fracturing, are substantially dependent on the availability of water.

Our business includes fresh water delivery for use in our customers’ natural gas, NGL and oil exploration and production activities.  Water is an 
essential component of natural gas, NGL and oil production during the drilling, and in particular, the hydraulic fracturing process.  We derive a significant 
portion of our revenues from providing fresh water to Antero Resources. Antero Resources implemented efficiency improvements and water initiatives 
during 2020, which reduced the amount of fresh water needed to complete their operations.  Furthermore, the availability of water supply for our 
operations may be limited due to, among other things, prolonged drought or state and local governmental authorities restricting the use of water for 
hydraulic fracturing.  The availability of water may also change over time in ways that we cannot control, including as a result of climate change-related 
effects such as shifting meteorological and hydrological patterns.  Any decrease in the demand for water handling services, or the water supply we need to 
provide such services, would adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Increasing attention to ESG matters and conservation measures may adversely impact our business.

Increasing attention to climate change, societal expectations on companies to address climate change, investor and societal expectations regarding 
voluntary ESG disclosures, and consumer demand for alternative forms of energy, may result in increased costs, reduced demand for our products, reduced 
profits, increased investigations and litigation and negative impacts on our stock price and access to capital markets. Increasing attention to climate change 
and environmental conservation, for example, may result in demand shifts for oil and natural gas products and additional governmental investigations and 
private litigation against us or our customers, including Antero Resources.  To the extent that societal pressures or political or other factors are involved, it 
is possible that such liability could be imposed without regard to our causation of or contribution to the asserted damage, or to other mitigating factors.  
While we may participate in various voluntary frameworks and certification programs to improve the ESG profile of our operations and products, we 
cannot guarantee that such participation or certification will have the intended results on our or our products’ ESG profile.  

Moreover, while we create and publish voluntary disclosures regarding ESG matters from time to time, many of the statements in those voluntary 
disclosures are based on hypothetical expectations and assumptions that may or may not be representative of current or actual risks or events or forecasts of 
expected risks or events, including the costs associated therewith. Such expectations and assumptions are necessarily uncertain and may be prone to error 
or subject to misinterpretation given the long timelines involved and the lack of an established single approach to identifying, measuring and reporting on 
many ESG matters.  Additionally, while we may also announce various voluntary ESG targets, including our goals to achieve a 100% reduction in pipeline 
emissions by 2025 and to achieve net zero Scope 1 (direct) and Scope 2 (indirect from the purchase of energy) emissions by 2050, such targets are 
aspirational.  We may not be able to meet such targets in the manner or on such a timeline as initially contemplated, including, but not limited to as a result 
of unforeseen costs or technical difficulties associated with achieving such results.  To the extent we do meet such targets, it may be achieved through 
various contractual arrangements, including the purchase of various credits or offsets that may be deemed to mitigate our ESG impact instead of actual 
changes in our ESG performance.  However, given uncertainties related to the use of emerging technologies, the state of markets for and the availability of 
verified carbon offsets, we cannot predict whether or not we will be able to timely meet these goals, if at all.  In addition, while we may seek to only 
purchase carbon offsets verified by reputable third parties, we cannot guarantee that any carbon offsets we purchase will achieve the GHG emission 
reductions represented, and we could face increased costs to purchase additional carbon offsets to cover any gap or loss, particularly if carbon offset 
markets face capacity constraints as a result of increased demand.  Also, despite these aspirational goals, we may receive pressure from investors, lenders 
or other groups to adopt more aggressive climate or other ESG-related goals, but we 
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cannot guarantee that we will be able to implement such goals because of potential costs or technical or operational obstacles. 

In addition, organizations that provide information to investors on corporate governance and related matters have developed ratings processes for 
evaluating companies on their approach to ESG matters. Such ratings are used by some investors to inform their investment and voting decisions.  
Unfavorable ESG ratings and recent activism directed at shifting funding away from companies with energy-related assets could lead to increased negative 
investor sentiment toward us, Antero Resources and our industry and to the diversion of investment to other industries, which could have a negative impact 
on our stock price and our access to and costs of capital.  Also, institutional lenders may decide not to provide funding for oil and natural gas companies or 
the corresponding infrastructure projects based on climate change related concerns, which could affect our access to capital for potential growth projects. 
Moreover, to the extent ESG matters negatively impact our reputation, we may not be able to compete as effectively or recruit or retain employees, which 
may adversely affect our operations.  Such ESG matters may also impact Antero Resources and our customers, which may adversely impact our business, 
financial condition or results of operations.

Our business involves many hazards and operational risks, some of which may not be fully covered by insurance.  The occurrence of a significant 
accident or other event that is not fully insured could curtail our operations and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations.

Our operations are subject to all of the hazards associated with the processing, gathering and compression of natural gas, NGLs and oil and water
handling services, including:

● unintended breach of impoundment and downstream flooding, release of invasive species or aquatic pathogens, hazardous spills near intake
points, trucking collision, vandalism, excessive road damage or bridge collapse and unauthorized access or use of automation controls;

● damage to pipelines, compressor stations, pumping stations, blending facilities, impoundments, related equipment and surrounding properties
caused by natural disasters, acts of terrorism and acts of third parties;

● damage from construction, farm and utility equipment as well as other subsurface activity (for example, mine subsidence);

● leaks of natural gas, NGLs or oil or losses of natural gas, NGLs or oil as a result of the malfunction of equipment or facilities;

● fires, ruptures and explosions;

● other hazards that could also result in personal injury and loss of life, pollution of the environment, including natural resources and
suspension of operations; and

● hazards experienced by other operators that may affect our operations by instigating increased regulations and oversight.

Any of these risks could adversely affect our ability to conduct operations or result in substantial loss to us as a result of claims for:

● injury or loss of life;

● damage to and destruction of property, natural resources and equipment;

● pollution and other environmental damage;

● regulatory investigations and penalties;

● suspension of our operations; and

● repair and remediation costs.

We may elect not to obtain insurance for any or all of these risks if we believe that the cost of available insurance is excessive relative to the risks 
presented.  In addition, pollution and environmental risks generally are not fully insurable under policies we are covered under, and we have obtained 
pollution insurance.  The occurrence of an event that is not fully covered by insurance could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.
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We do not own all of the land on which our pipelines and facilities are located, which could result in disruptions to our operations.

Because we do not own all of the land on which our pipelines and facilities have been constructed, we are subject to the possibility of more 
onerous terms or increased costs to retain necessary land use if we do not have valid rights-of-way or if such rights-of-way lapse or terminate.  We obtain 
the rights to construct and operate our pipelines on land owned by third parties and governmental agencies for a specific period of time.  Our loss of these 
rights, through our inability to renew right-of-way contracts or otherwise, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations.

A pandemic, epidemic or outbreak of an infectious disease, such as COVID-19, may materially adversely affect our business.

The global or national outbreak of an infectious disease, such as COVID-19, may cause disruptions to our business and operational plans, which 
may include (i) shortages of employees, (ii) unavailability of contractors and subcontractors, (iii) interruption of supplies from third parties upon which we 
rely, (iv) recommendations of, or restrictions imposed by, government and health authorities, including quarantines, to address the COVID-19 pandemic 
and (v) restrictions that we and our contractors and subcontractors impose, including facility shutdowns, to ensure the safety of employees and others.  
While it is not possible to predict their extent or durations, these disruptions may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations and could adversely affect our ability to return capital to our stockholders through dividends and/or repurchases of shares of AM 
common stock.

Further, adverse impacts on Antero Resources’ business resulting from any such outbreak may also adversely affect our business and results of 
operations.  For example, the effects of COVID-19 and concerns regarding its global spread have negatively impacted global demand for crude oil and 
natural gas, which could continue to contribute to price volatility impacting the price Antero Resources receives for its natural gas, NGLs and oil. In 
addition, COVID-19 could continue to materially and adversely affect the demand for and marketability of natural gas, NGLs and oil production and 
production levels.  Although Antero Resources has not been required to curtail or shut-in a portion of its production, it may do so in the future.  For further 
discussion of the business risks of Antero Resources that may impact us, see “—Customer Concentration—Because substantially all of our revenue is
currently derived from Antero Resources, any development that materially and adversely affects Antero Resources’ operations, financial condition or
market reputation could have a material and adverse impact on us,” the effects of which may be heightened to the extent the COVID-19 pandemic
adversely affects our business and financial results.

Terrorist attacks, cyberattacks and threats could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Terrorist attacks or cyberattacks may significantly affect the energy industry, including our operations and those of our suppliers and customers, as 
well as general economic conditions, consumer confidence and spending and market liquidity.  Strategic targets, such as energy-related assets, may be at 
greater risk of future attacks than other targets in the United States.  We depend on digital technology in many areas of our business and operations, 
including, but not limited to, performing many of our gathering and compression and water handling services, recording financial and operating data, 
oversight and analysis of our operations and communications with the employees supporting our operations and our customers or service providers.  We 
also collect and store sensitive data in the ordinary course of our business, including personally identifiable information of our employees as well as our 
proprietary business information and that of our customers, suppliers, investors and other stakeholders.  The secure processing, maintenance and 
transmission of information is critical to our operations, and we monitor our key information technology systems in an effort to detect and prevent 
cyberattacks, security breaches or unauthorized access.  Despite our security measures, our information technology systems may undergo cyberattacks or 
security breaches including as a result of employee error, malfeasance or other threat vectors, which could lead to the corruption or loss of our proprietary 
and potentially sensitive data, delays in the performance of services for our customers, difficulty in completing and settling transactions, challenges in 
maintaining our books and records, environmental damage, communication interruptions or other operational disruptions and third-party liabilities.  
Moreover, we may not be able to anticipate, detect or prevent all cyberattacks, particularly because the methodologies used by attackers change frequently 
or may not be recognized until such attack is underway, and because attackers are increasingly using technologies specifically designed to circumvent 
cybersecurity measures and avoid detection.  Cybersecurity attacks are also becoming more sophisticated and include, but are not limited to, ransomware, 
credential stuffing, spear phishing, social engineering, and other attempts to gain unauthorized access to data for purposes of extortion or other 
malfeasance.

Although we have written policies and procedures for monitoring cybersecurity risk and identifying and reporting incidents, there can be no 
guarantee they will be effective at preventing cyberattacks or ensuring incidents are timely identified or reported.  As cyberattacks continue to evolve, we 
may be required to expend significant additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any 
vulnerabilities to cyberattacks.  In particular, our implementation of various procedures and controls to monitor and mitigate security threats and to 
increase security for our personnel, information, facilities and 
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infrastructure may result in increased capital and operating costs.  A cyberattack or security breach could result in liability under data privacy laws, 
regulatory penalties, damage to our reputation or a loss of confidence in us, or additional costs for remediation and modification or enhancement of our 
information systems to prevent future occurrences, all of which could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of 
operations.  To date, we have not experienced any material losses relating to cyberattacks; however, there can be no assurance that we will not suffer such 
losses in the future.  Consequently, it is possible that any of these occurrences, or a combination of them, could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Capital Structure and Access to Capital

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness and may be forced to take other actions to satisfy our obligations
under our indebtedness or to refinance, which may not be successful.

Our ability to make scheduled payments on, or to refinance, our indebtedness obligations, including our revolving credit facility and our senior 
notes, depends on our financial condition and operating performance, which are subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and certain 
financial, business and other factors beyond our control.  We may not be able to maintain a level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to permit 
us to pay the principal, premium, if any, and interest on our indebtedness, including the senior notes.

If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay investments and 
capital expenditures, sell assets, seek additional capital or restructure or refinance our indebtedness, including the senior notes.  Our ability to restructure or 
refinance our indebtedness will depend on the condition of the capital markets, including the market for senior unsecured notes, and our financial condition 
at such time.  Any refinancing of our indebtedness, including using borrowings under our revolving credit facility to redeem our senior notes, could be at 
higher interest rates and may require us to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business operations.  The terms of 
existing or future debt instruments, including the indentures governing our senior notes, may restrict us from adopting some of these alternatives.  In 
addition, any failure to make payments of interest and principal on our outstanding indebtedness on a timely basis would likely result in a reduction of our 
credit rating, which could harm our ability to incur additional indebtedness.  In the absence of sufficient cash flows and capital resources, we could face 
substantial liquidity problems and might be required to dispose of material assets or operations to meet our debt service and other obligations.  Our 
revolving credit facility and the indentures governing our senior notes place certain restrictions on our ability to dispose of assets and our use of the 
proceeds from such dispositions.  We may not be able to consummate those dispositions, and the proceeds of any such disposition may not be adequate to 
meet any debt service obligations then due.  These alternative measures may not be successful and may not permit us to meet our scheduled debt service 
obligations.

We will be required to make capital expenditures to increase our asset base.  If we cannot obtain needed capital or financing on satisfactory terms, 
we may be unable to expand our business operations and/or our financial leverage could increase.

To increase our asset base, we will need to make expansion capital expenditures.  If we do not make sufficient or effective expansion capital 
expenditures, we may be unable to expand our business operations, which could adversely affect our business and operating results.  To fund our expansion 
capital expenditures and investment capital expenditures, we expect to use cash from our operations or incur borrowings.  Alternatively, we may sell 
additional shares of common stock or other securities to fund our capital expenditures.  Our ability to obtain bank financing or our ability to access the 
capital markets for future equity or debt offerings may be limited by our or Antero Resources’ financial condition at the time of any such financing or 
offering and the covenants in our existing debt agreements, as well as by general economic conditions, contingencies and uncertainties that are beyond our 
control.  In addition, incurring additional debt may significantly increase our interest expense and financial leverage, and issuing shares of common stock 
may result in significant stockholder dilution.  Neither Antero Resources or any of its affiliates is committed to providing any direct or indirect support to 
fund our growth.

We may be unable to access the equity or debt capital markets to meet our obligations. 

Declines in commodity prices or the financial condition or prospects of Antero Resources may cause the financial markets to exert downward
pressure on our stock price and credit capacity.  For example, for portions of 2020, the market for senior unsecured notes was unfavorable for high-yield
issuers such as us. Our plans for growth may require access to the capital and credit markets. Although the market for high-yield debt securities improved
in 2022 and 2021 as compared to 2020, if the high-yield market deteriorates, or if we are unable to access alternative means of debt or equity financing on
acceptable terms or at all, we may be unable to carry out our business plan, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and
results of operations and impair our ability to service our indebtedness.
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Restrictions in our existing and future debt agreements could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our revolving credit facility limits our ability to, among other things:

● incur or guarantee additional debt;

● redeem or repurchase units or make distributions under certain circumstances;

● make certain investments;

● enter into mergers;

● incur certain liens or permit them to exist;

● enter into certain types of transactions with affiliates;

● merge or consolidate with another company; and

● transfer, sell or otherwise dispose of assets.

The indentures governing our senior notes contains similar restrictive covenants.  In addition, our revolving credit facility contains covenants 
requiring us to maintain certain financial ratios.  Our ability to meet those financial ratios and tests can be affected by events beyond our control, and we 
cannot assure you that we will meet any such ratio or test.  Additionally, we may not be able to borrow the full amount of commitments under our 
revolving credit facility if doing so would cause us to breach a financial covenant.

The provisions of our revolving credit facility and the indentures governing our senior notes may affect our ability to obtain future financing and 
pursue attractive business opportunities and our flexibility in planning for, and reacting to, changes in business conditions.  In addition, a failure to comply 
with the provisions of our revolving credit facility or the indentures governing our senior notes could result in a default or an event of default that could 
enable our lenders or noteholders to declare the outstanding principal of that debt, together with accrued and unpaid interest, to be immediately due and 
payable.  If our obligations to repay our debt are accelerated, our assets may be insufficient to repay such debt in full, and you could experience a partial or 
total loss of your investment.  See “Item 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and 
Capital Resources.”

Debt we incur in the future may limit our flexibility to obtain financing and to pursue other business opportunities.

Our future level of debt could have important consequences to us, including the following:

● our ability to obtain additional financing, if necessary, for working capital, capital expenditures (including required drilling pad connections
and well connections pursuant to our gathering and compression agreements as well as acquisitions) or other purposes may be impaired or
such financing may not be available on favorable terms;

● our funds available for operations and future business opportunities will be reduced by that portion of our cash flows required to make
interest payments on our debt;

● we may be more vulnerable to competitive pressures or a downturn in our business or the economy generally; and

● our flexibility in responding to changing business and economic conditions may be limited.

Our ability to service our debt will depend upon, among other things, our future financial and operating performance, which will be affected by 
prevailing economic conditions and financial, business, regulatory and other factors, some of which are beyond our control.  If our operating results are not 
sufficient to service any future indebtedness, we will be forced to take actions such as reducing or not paying dividends, reducing or delaying our business 
activities, investments or capital expenditures, selling assets or issuing equity.  We may not be able to effect any of these actions on satisfactory terms or at 
all.

Increases in interest rates could adversely affect our business.

Our business and operating results can be harmed by factors such as the availability, terms of and cost of capital, increases in interest rates or a 
reduction in credit rating.  These changes could cause our cost of doing business to increase, limit our ability to 
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pursue growth opportunities, reduce cash flow used for our services and place us at a competitive disadvantage.  For example, during 2022, we had average 
outstanding borrowings under our revolving credit facility of approximately $619 million, and the impact of a 1.0% increase in interest rates on this 
amount of indebtedness would result in increased interest expense for that period of approximately $6 million and a corresponding decrease in our cash 
flows and net income before the effects of income taxes.  Disruptions and volatility in the global financial markets may lead to a contraction in credit 
availability impacting our ability to finance our operations.  A significant reduction in cash flows from operations or the availability of credit could 
materially and adversely affect our ability to carry out our business plan.

Geographic Concentration

Our gathering and compression and water handling systems are concentrated in the Appalachian Basin, making us vulnerable to risks associated
with operating in one major geographic area.

We rely primarily on revenues generated from our gathering and compression and water handling systems, which are all located in the 
Appalachian Basin.  As a result of this concentration, we may be disproportionately exposed to the impact of regional supply and demand factors, delays or 
interruptions of production from wells in this area caused by, and associated with, governmental regulation, state and local political activities, market 
limitations, availability of equipment and personnel or interruption of the compression, processing or transportation of natural gas, NGLs or oil.

A shortage of equipment and skilled labor in the Appalachian Basin could reduce equipment availability and labor productivity and increase
labor costs, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Gathering and compression and water handling services require special equipment and laborers skilled in multiple disciplines, such as equipment 
operators, mechanics and engineers, among others.  If Antero Resources experiences shortages of skilled labor or there is a lack of necessary equipment in 
the Appalachian Basin in the future, our allocation of labor costs and overall productivity could be materially and adversely affected.  If our allocation of 
labor prices increase or if Antero Resources experiences materially increased health and benefit costs for employees, our business and results of operations 
could be materially and adversely affected.

Acquisitions and Takeovers

We may be unable to make attractive acquisitions or successfully integrate acquired businesses, and any inability to do so may disrupt our
business and hinder our ability to grow.

In the future, we may acquire businesses that complement or expand our current business.  We may not be able to identify attractive acquisition 
opportunities.  Even if we do identify attractive acquisition opportunities, we may not be able to complete the acquisition or do so on commercially 
acceptable terms.

The success of any completed acquisition will depend on our ability to effectively integrate the acquired business into our existing operations.  
The process of integrating acquired businesses may involve unforeseen difficulties and may require a disproportionate amount of our managerial and 
financial resources.  In addition, possible future acquisitions may be larger and for purchase prices significantly higher than those paid for earlier 
acquisitions.  No assurance can be given that we will be able to identify suitable acquisition opportunities, negotiate acceptable terms, obtain financing for 
acquisitions on acceptable terms or successfully acquire identified targets.  Our failure to achieve consolidation savings, to successfully integrate the 
acquired businesses and assets into our existing operations or to minimize any unforeseen operational difficulties could have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, our agreements governing our debt impose certain limitations on our ability to enter into mergers or combination transactions.  Our 
revolving credit facility and the indentures governing our senior notes also limit our ability to incur certain indebtedness, which could indirectly limit our 
ability to engage in acquisitions of businesses.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as Delaware law, contain provisions that could discourage acquisition bids or merger
proposals, which may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

Certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire control of us, even if the 
change of control would be beneficial to our stockholders.  Among other things, our certificate of incorporation and bylaws:
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● provide advance notice procedures with regard to stockholder nominations of candidates for election as directors or other stockholder
proposals to be brought before meetings of our stockholders, which may preclude our stockholders from bringing certain matters before our
stockholders at an annual or special meeting;

● provide our Board of Directors (the “Board”) the ability to authorize issuance of preferred stock in one or more classes or series, which
makes it possible for our Board to issue, without stockholder approval, preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could
impede the success of any attempt to change control of us and which may have the effect of deterring hostile takeovers or delaying changes
in control or management of us;

● provide that the authorized number of directors may be changed only by resolution of our Board;

● provide that, subject to the rights of holders of any series of preferred stock to elect directors or fill vacancies in respect of such directors as 
specified in the related preferred stock designation and the terms of that certain Stockholders’ Agreement, dated October 9, 2018, by and 
among Antero Midstream Corporation and certain of its stockholders named thereto (the “Stockholders’ Agreement”), all vacancies, 
including newly created directorships be filled by the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of directors then in office, even if less than a 
quorum, or by the sole remaining director, and will not be filled by our stockholders;  

● provide that, subject to the rights of the holders of any series of preferred stock to elect directors under specified circumstances, if any, and
the terms of the Stockholders’ Agreement, any action required or permitted to be taken by our stockholders must be effected at a duly called
annual or special meeting of our stockholders and may not be effected by any consent in writing in lieu of a meeting of such stockholders;

● provide for our Board to be divided into three classes of directors, with each class as nearly equal in number as possible, serving staggered
three-year terms;

● provide that, subject to the rights of the holders of shares of any series of preferred stock, if any, to remove directors elected by such series of
preferred stock pursuant to our certificate of incorporation (including any preferred stock designation thereunder) and the terms of the
Stockholders’ Agreement, directors may be removed from office at any time, only for cause and by the holders of a majority of the voting
power of all outstanding voting shares entitled to vote generally in the election of directors;

● provide that special meetings of our stockholders may only be called by the Chief Executive Officer, the Chairman of our Board or our Board
pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the total number of directors that we would have if there were no vacancies;

● provide that (i)  Yorktown Partners LLC (“Yorktown”) and their affiliates are permitted to participate (directly or indirectly) in venture capital
and other direct investments in corporations, joint ventures, limited liability companies and other entities conducting business of any kind,
nature or description, (ii) Yorktown and their affiliates are permitted to have interests in, participate with, aid and maintain seats on the boards
of directors or similar governing bodies of any such investments, in each case that may, are or will be competitive with our business and the
business of our subsidiaries or in the same or similar lines of business as us and our subsidiaries, or that could be suitable for us or our
subsidiaries and (iii) we have, subject to limited exceptions, renounced, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any interest or expectancy in,
or in being offered an opportunity to participate in, such corporate opportunities;

● provide that the provisions of our certificate of incorporation can only be amended or repealed by the affirmative vote of the holders of at
least 66 2/3% in voting power of the outstanding shares of our common stock entitled to vote thereon, voting together as a single class;
provided, however, that so long as the Stockholders' Agreement remains in effect, no provision of our certificate of incorporation may be
amended, altered or repealed in any manner that would be contrary to or inconsistent with the terms of the Stockholders’ Agreement, and no
amendment to the Stockholders’ Agreement (regardless of whether such amendment modifies any provision of the Stockholders’ Agreement
to which our certificate of incorporation is subject) will be deemed an amendment of our certificate of incorporation; and

● provide that our bylaws can be altered or repealed by (a) our Board or (b) our stockholders upon the affirmative vote of holders of at least 66 
2/3% of the voting power of our common stock outstanding and entitled to vote thereon, voting together as a single class.  However, so long 
as the Stockholders’ Agreement remains in effect, our Board may not approve any amendment, alteration or repeal of any provision of our 
bylaws or the adoption of any new bylaw, that (a) would be contrary to or inconsistent with the terms of the Stockholders’ Agreement or 
(b) would amend, alter or 
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repeal certain portions of our certificate of incorporation; provided, however, that so long as the Stockholders’ Agreement remains in effect, 
the parties to the Stockholders' Agreement may amend any provision of the Stockholders’ Agreement, and no amendment to the 
Stockholders’ Agreement (regardless of whether such amendment modifies any provision of the Stockholders’ Agreement to which the 
bylaws are subject) will be deemed an amendment of the bylaws for purposes of the amendment provisions of our bylaws. 

We have elected not to be subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”), regulating corporate
takeovers.

In general, the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL prohibit a Delaware corporation, including those whose securities are listed for trading on
the New York Stock Exchange, from engaging in any business combination with any interested stockholder for a period of three years following the date
that the stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless:

● prior to such time, the business combination or the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder is
approved by our Board;

● upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned
at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced (excluding certain specified shares); or

● on or after such time the business combination is approved by our Board and authorized at a meeting of stockholders by the holders of at
least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder.

Section 203 of the DGCL permits a Delaware corporation to elect not to be governed by the provisions of Section 203.  Pursuant to our certificate 
of incorporation, we expressly elected not to be governed by Section 203.  Accordingly, we are not subject to any anti-takeover effects or protections of 
Section 203 of the DGCL, although no assurance can be given that we will not elect to be governed by Section 203 of the DGCL pursuant to an 
amendment to our certificate of incorporation in the future.

Joint Ventures

We own a 50% interest in the Joint Venture, which is operated by MarkWest.  While we have the ability to influence certain business decisions 
affecting the Joint Venture, the success of our investment in the Joint Venture will depend on MarkWest’s operation of the Joint Venture.

On February 6, 2017, we entered into the Joint Venture with MarkWest.  While we and MarkWest each own a 50% interest in the Joint Venture, 
MarkWest is the primary operator of the Joint Venture, and we depend on MarkWest for the day-to-day operations of the Joint Venture.  Our lack of control 
over the Joint Venture’s day-to-day operations and the associated costs of operations could result in receiving lower cash distributions from the Joint 
Venture than currently anticipated.  In addition, differences in views among the owners of the Joint Venture could result in delayed decisions or in failures 
to agree on significant matters, potentially adversely affecting the business and results of operations or prospects of the Joint Venture and, in turn, the 
amount of cash from the Joint Venture operations distributed to us.

If the Joint Venture is not successful or if the Joint Venture does not perform as expected, our future financial performance may be negatively
impacted.

We may be exposed to certain risks in connection with our ownership interest in the Joint Venture, including regulatory, environmental and 
litigation risks.  If such risks or other anticipated or unanticipated liabilities were to materialize, any desired benefits of our entry into the Joint Venture may 
not be fully realized, if at all, and its future financial performance may be negatively impacted.

In addition, the Joint Venture may result in other difficulties including, among other things:

● diversion of our management’s attention from other business concerns;

● managing regulatory compliance and corporate governance matters;

● an increase in our indebtedness; and
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● potential environmental or other regulatory compliance matters or liabilities and/or title issues, including certain liabilities arising from the
operation of the Joint Venture assets prior to the closing of the Joint Venture.

Interruptions in operations at any of the Joint Venture’s facilities may adversely affect its operations and our gathering and processing and water
handling operations.

The Joint Venture assets consist of processing plants in West Virginia and a one-third interest in two fractionators in Ohio (the “MarkWest 
fractionators”).  Any significant interruption at these facilities would adversely affect the Joint Venture’s operations.  Because a significant portion of 
Antero Resources’ production is processed by the Joint Venture, any significant interruption at these facilities would also adversely affect our other 
midstream operations.

We do not operate the MarkWest fractionators, and the operations of the MarkWest’s and Joint Venture’s processing facilities and the MarkWest
fractionators could be partially or completely shut down, temporarily or permanently, as the result of circumstances not within its control, such as:

● unscheduled turnarounds or catastrophic events, including damages to facilities, related equipment and surrounding properties caused by
earthquakes, tornadoes, hurricanes, floods, fires, severe weather, explosions and other natural disasters;

● restrictions imposed by governmental authorities or court proceedings;

● labor difficulties that result in a work stoppage or slowdown;

● a disruption in the supply of gas to MarkWest’s or the Joint Venture’s processing and fractionation plants and associated facilities;

● disruption in the supply of power, water and other resources necessary to operate MarkWest’s or the Joint Venture’s facilities;

● damage to MarkWest’s or the Joint Venture’s facilities resulting from gas that does not comply with applicable specifications; and

● inadequate fractionation capacity or market access to support production volumes, including lack of availability of rail cars, barges, pipeline
capacity or market constraints, including reduced demand or limited markets for certain NGL products.

In addition, MarkWest’s fractionation operations in the Appalachian Basin are integrated, and as a result, it is possible that an interruption of these
operations in other regions may impact operations in the regions in which the Joint Venture’s facilities are located.

Compliance with Regulations

We are subject to complex federal, state and local laws and regulations that could adversely affect the cost, manner or feasibility of conducting our
operations or expose us to significant liabilities.

Our operations are subject to complex and stringent federal, state and local laws and regulations.  In order to conduct our operations in compliance 
with these laws and regulations, we must obtain and maintain numerous permits, approvals and certificates from various federal, state and local 
governmental authorities.  We may incur substantial costs in order to maintain compliance with these existing laws and regulations and the permits and 
other approvals issued thereunder.  In addition, our costs of compliance may increase or operational delays may occur if existing laws and regulations are 
revised or reinterpreted, or if new laws and regulations apply to our operations.  Failure to comply with such laws and regulations, including any evolving 
interpretation and enforcement by governmental authorities, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.  Also, we might not be able to obtain or maintain all required environmental regulatory approvals for our operations.  If there is a delay in 
obtaining any required environmental regulatory approvals, or if we fail to obtain and comply with them, the operation or construction of our facilities 
could be prevented or become subject to additional costs.

In addition, new or additional regulations, new interpretations of existing requirements or changes in our operations could also trigger the need for
Environmental Assessments or more detailed Environmental Impact Statements under the National
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Environmental Policy Act and analogous state laws, or that impose new permitting requirements on our operations could result in increased costs or delays 
of, or denial of rights to conduct, our development programs.  For example, in April 2020, the federal district court for the District of Montana determined 
that the CWA Section 404 NWP 12 failed to comply with consultation requirements under the federal Endangered Species Act.  The district court vacated 
NWP 12 and enjoined the issuance of new authorizations for oil and gas pipeline projects.  While the district court’s order has subsequently been limited to 
the particular pipeline in that case pending appeal, we cannot predict the ultimate outcome of this case and its impacts to the NWP program.  Relatedly, in 
response to the vacatur, the Corps reissued NWP 12 for oil and natural gas pipeline activities, including certain revisions to the conditions for the use of 
NWP 12; however, an October 2021 decision by the District Court for the Northern District of California resulted in a vacatur of a 2020 rule revising the 
CWA Section 401 certification process.  The U.S. Supreme Court has since stayed this vacatur and the EPA has proposed a rule to update and replace the 
relevant regulations, public comment on which closed in August 2022.  While the Corps has resumed permitting decisions for such NWPs, the Corps has 
advised that, as part of the permitting decision process, the Corps will coordinate with certifying authorities on Section 401 certifications as needed, which 
may result in permit delays or otherwise impact our operations.  Additionally, in March 2022, the Corps announced that it was seeking stakeholder input on 
a formal review of NWP 12.  While the full extent and impact of these actions is unclear at this time, any disruption in our ability to obtain coverage under 
NWP 12 or other general permits may result in increased costs and project delays if we are forced to seek individual permits from the Corps.  This in turn 
could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operation.  

Separately, the definition of WOTUS has been subject to substantial controversy.  In 2015 and 2020, respectively, the Obama and Trump 
Administrations each published final rules attempting to define the federal jurisdictional reach over WOTUS.  However, both of these rulemakings have 
been subject to legal challenge, and the Biden administration has announced plans to establish its own definition of WOTUS.  More recently, the EPA and 
Corps published a rule to finalize a rule based on the pre-2015 regulations, incorporating updates from Supreme Court decisions and regulatory guidance.  
However, this rule is currently subject to legal challenge.  Additionally, in October 2022, the Supreme Court heard arguments on a case on the scope and 
authority of the CWA and the definition of WOTUS.  As a result, the scope of the CWA’s jurisdiction is uncertain at this time.  To the extent any action 
further expands the scope of the CWA’s jurisdiction, we could face increased costs and delays with respect to obtaining permits for dredge and fill activities 
in wetland areas.  Such potential regulations or litigation could increase our operating costs, reduce our liquidity, delay or halt our operations or otherwise 
alter the way we conduct our business, which could in turn have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  
Further, any discharges of natural gas, NGLs, oil and other pollutants into the air, soil or water may give rise to significant liabilities on our part to the 
government and third parties.  See “Item 1. Business—Regulation of Environmental and Occupational Safety and Health Matters” for a further description 
of laws and regulations that affect us.

If our assets become subject to FERC regulation or federal, state or local regulations or policies change, or if we fail to comply with market
behavior rules, our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Our gathering and transportation operations are exempt from regulation by the FERC, under the NGA.  Section 1(b) of the NGA, exempts natural 
gas gathering facilities from regulation by the FERC under the NGA.  Although the FERC has not made any formal determinations with respect to any of 
our facilities, we believe that the natural gas pipelines in our gathering systems meet the traditional tests the FERC has used to establish whether a pipeline 
is a gathering pipeline not subject to FERC jurisdiction.  The distinction between FERC-regulated transmission services and federally unregulated 
gathering services, however, has been the subject of substantial litigation, and the FERC determines whether facilities are gathering facilities on a case-by-
case basis, so the classification and regulation of our gathering facilities may be subject to change based on future determinations by the FERC, the courts 
or Congress.  If the FERC were to consider the status of an individual facility and determine that the facility or services provided by it are not exempt from 
FERC regulation under the NGA, the rates for, and terms and conditions of, services provided by such facility would be subject to regulation by the FERC 
under the NGA or the NGPA.  Such regulation could decrease revenue, increase operating costs and, depending upon the facility in question, could 
adversely affect our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

State regulation of natural gas gathering facilities and intrastate transportation pipelines generally includes various safety, environmental and, in 
some circumstances, nondiscriminatory take and common purchaser requirements, as well as complaint-based rate regulation.  Other state regulations may 
not directly apply to our business, but may nonetheless affect the availability of natural gas for purchase, compression and sale.

Moreover, FERC regulations indirectly impact our businesses and the markets for products derived from these businesses.  The FERC’s policies 
and practices across the range of its natural gas regulatory activities, including, for example, its policies on open access transportation, market 
manipulation, ratemaking, gas quality, capacity release and market center promotion, indirectly affect the intrastate natural gas market.  Should we fail to 
comply with any applicable FERC administered statutes, rules, regulations and 
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orders, we could be subject to substantial penalties and fines, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, cash flows and results 
of operations.  The FERC has civil penalty authority under the NGA and NGPA to impose penalties for current violations of up to $1,496,035 per day for 
each violation and disgorgement of profits associated with any violation.

For more information regarding federal and state regulation of our operations, see “Business—Regulation of Operations.”

Increased regulation of hydraulic fracturing could result in reductions or delays in production by our customers, which could reduce the
throughput on our gathering and processing systems and the number of wells for which we provide water handling services, which could
adversely impact our revenues.

All of Antero Resources’ natural gas, NGLs and oil production is developed from unconventional sources, such as shale formations.  These 
reservoirs require hydraulic fracturing completion processes to release the liquids and natural gas from the rock so it can flow through casing to the surface.  
Hydraulic fracturing is a well stimulation process that utilizes large volumes of water and sand (or other proppant) combined with fracturing chemical 
additives that are pumped at high pressure to crack open previously impenetrable rock to release hydrocarbons.  Hydraulic fracturing is typically regulated 
by state oil and gas commissions and similar agencies, but the EPA has asserted federal regulatory authority over certain hydraulic fracturing activities.  
For example, the EPA finalized rules in June 2016 that prohibit the discharge of wastewater from hydraulic fracturing operations to publicly owned 
wastewater treatment plants.

In addition, Congress has from time to time considered legislation to provide for federal regulation of hydraulic fracturing under the Safe 
Drinking Water Act and to require disclosure of the chemicals used in the hydraulic fracturing process.  New legislation regulating hydraulic fracturing 
may be considered again in future, though we cannot predict when or the scope of any such legislation at this time.  At the state level, several states have 
adopted or are considering legal requirements that could impose more stringent permitting, disclosure and well construction requirements on hydraulic 
fracturing activities.  For example, both West Virginia and Ohio have adopted requirements governing well pad construction, as well as requiring oil and 
natural gas operators to disclose chemical ingredients used to hydraulically fracture wells and to conduct pre-drilling baseline water quality sampling of 
certain water wells near a proposed horizontal well.  Local governments also may seek to adopt ordinances within their jurisdictions regulating the time, 
place and manner of drilling activities in general or hydraulic fracturing activities in particular.

We cannot predict whether any such legislation will ever be enacted and if so, what its provisions would be.  If additional levels of regulation and 
permits were required through the adoption of new laws and regulations at the federal, state or local level, that could lead to delays, increased operating 
costs and process prohibitions that could reduce the amount of natural gas that moves through our gathering and processing systems or reduce the number 
of wells drilled and completed that require fresh water for hydraulic fracturing activities, which in turn could materially and adversely affect our revenues 
and results of operations.

We or any third-party customers may incur significant liability under, or costs and expenditures to comply with, environmental and occupational
health and workplace safety regulations, which are complex and subject to frequent change.

As an owner, lessee or operator of gathering pipelines and compressor stations, we are subject to various stringent federal, state, provincial and 
local laws and regulations relating to the discharge of materials into, and protection of, the environment.  Numerous governmental authorities, such as the 
EPA and analogous state agencies, have the power to enforce compliance with these laws and regulations and the permits issued under them, oftentimes 
requiring difficult and costly response actions.  These laws and regulations may impose various obligations that are applicable to our and our customer’s 
operations, including the acquisition of permits to conduct regulated activities, the incurrence of capital or operating expenditures to limit or prevent 
releases of materials from our or our customers’ operations, the imposition of specific standards addressing worker protection and the imposition of 
substantial liabilities and remedial obligations for pollution or contamination resulting from our and our customer’s operations.  Failure to comply with 
these laws, regulations and permits may result in joint and several, strict liability and the assessment of administrative, civil and criminal penalties, the 
imposition of remedial obligations and the issuance of injunctions limiting or preventing some or all of our operations.  Private parties, including the 
owners of the properties through which our gathering systems pass and facilities where wastes resulting from our operations are taken for reclamation or 
disposal, may also have the right to pursue legal actions to enforce compliance, as well as to seek damages for non-compliance, with environmental laws 
and regulations or for personal injury or property damage.  We may not be able to recover all or any of these costs from insurance.  In addition, we may 
experience a delay in obtaining or be unable to obtain required permits, which may cause us to lose potential and current customers, interrupt our 
operations and limit our growth and revenues, which in turn could affect our profitability.  There is no assurance that changes in or additions to public 
policy regarding the protection of the environment will not have a significant impact on our operations and profitability.  For example, President Biden has 
made action on environmental matters, and climate change in particular, a focus of his administration, and our operations and those of our clients, may be 
subject to greater environmental, health and safety restrictions, particularly with regards to hydraulic fracturing, permitting and GHG emissions.
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Our operations also pose risks of environmental liability due to potential leakage, migration, releases or spills from our operations to surface or 
subsurface soils, surface water or groundwater.  Certain environmental laws impose strict as well as joint and several liability for costs required to 
remediate and restore sites where hazardous substances, hydrocarbons or solid wastes have been stored or released.  We may be required to remediate 
contaminated properties currently or formerly operated by us or facilities of third parties that received waste generated by our operations regardless of 
whether such contamination resulted from the conduct of others or from consequences of our own actions that were in compliance with all applicable laws 
at the time those actions were taken.  In addition, claims for damages to persons or property, including natural resources, may result from the 
environmental, health and safety impacts of our operations.  Moreover, public interest in the protection of the environment has increased dramatically in 
recent years.  The trend of more expansive and stringent environmental legislation and regulations is expected to continue, which may result in increased 
costs of doing business and consequently affecting profitability.  See “Business—Regulation of Environmental and Occupational Safety and Health 
Matters” for more information.

The Inflation Reduction Act could accelerate the transition to a low carbon economy and could impose new costs on our operations and those of
our customers.

In August 2022, President Biden signed the IRA 2022 into law.  The IRA 2022 contains hundreds of billions of dollars in incentives for the 
development of renewable energy, clean hydrogen, clean fuels, electric vehicles and supporting infrastructure and carbon capture and sequestration, 
amongst other provisions.  In addition, the IRA 2022 imposes the first ever federal fee on the emission of greenhouse gases through a methane emissions 
charge.  The IRA 2022 amends the federal Clean Air Act to impose a fee on the emission of methane from sources required to report their GHG emissions 
to the EPA, including those sources in the onshore petroleum and natural gas production and gathering and boosting source categories.  The methane 
emissions charge would start in calendar year 2024 at $900 per ton of methane, increase to $1,200 in 2025, and be set at $1,500 for 2026 and each year 
after.  Calculation of the fee is based on certain thresholds established in the IRA 2022.  The methane charge and the incentives for renewable energy 
infrastructure development could impose additional costs on our operations and further accelerate the transition of the economy away from the use of oil 
and natural gas towards lower- or zero-carbon emissions alternatives.  This could decrease demand for oil and gas and consequently, adversely affect our 
business and results of operations and those of our customers.

Our operations are subject to a series of risks related to climate change that could result in increased operating costs, limit the areas in which our
customers may conduct oil and gas exploration and production activities, and reduce demand for the services we provide.

The threat of climate change continues to attract considerable attention in the United States and in foreign countries.  In the United States, no 
comprehensive climate change legislation has been implemented at the federal level.  However, President Biden has highlighted addressing climate change 
as a priority of his administration, which includes certain potential initiatives for climate change legislation to be proposed and passed into law.  Moreover, 
federal regulators, state and local governments and private parties have taken (or announced that they plan to take) actions that have or may have a 
significant influence on our operations.  For example, in response to findings that emissions of carbon dioxide, methane and other GHGs endanger public 
health and the environment, the EPA has adopted regulations under existing provisions of the federal CAA that, among other things, establish PSD 
construction and Title V operating permit reviews for certain large stationary sources that are already potential major sources of certain principal, or 
criteria, pollutant emissions.  Facilities required to obtain PSD permits for their GHG emissions also will be required to meet “best available control 
technology” standards that will be established by the states or, in some cases, by the EPA for those emissions.  These EPA rules could adversely affect our 
operations and restrict or delay our ability to obtain air permits for new or modified sources.  In addition, the EPA has adopted rules requiring the 
monitoring and reporting of GHG emissions from specified onshore and offshore oil and gas production sources in the United States on an annual basis, 
which include certain of our operations. 

The federal regulation of methane from oil and gas facilities has been subject to substantial uncertainty in recent years.  In June 2016, the EPA 
finalized NSPS, known as Subpart OOOOa, that established emission standards for methane and VOCs from new and modified oil and natural gas 
production and natural gas processing and transmission facilities.  In September 2020, the EPA finalized amendments to the 2016 standards that removed 
the transmission and storage segment from the oil and natural gas source category and rescinded the methane-specific requirements for production and 
processing facilities.  However, President Biden signed an executive order on his first day in office calling for the suspension, revision or rescission of the 
September 2020 rule and the reinstatement or issuance of methane emission standards for new, modified and existing oil and gas facilities.  Subsequently, 
the U.S. Congress approved, and President Biden has signed into law, a resolution under the Congressional Review Act to repeal the September 2020 
revisions to the methane standards, effectively reinstating the prior standards.  In response to President Biden’s executive order, in November 2021, the 
EPA issued a proposed rule that, if finalized, would establish OOOOb as new source and OOOOc as first-time existing source standards of performance for 
methane and VOC emissions for the crude oil and natural gas source category.  Owners or operators of affected emission units or processes would have to 
comply with specific standards of performance that may include leak detecting using optical gas imaging and subsequent repair requirements, reduction of 
regulated 
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emissions through capture and control systems, zero-emission requirements for certain equipment or processes, operations and maintenance requirements 
and requirements for “green well” completions.  In November 2022, the EPA published a supplemental proposal which, among other items, would impose 
expanded inspection, monitoring and emissions control requirements on oil and gas sites, as well as strengthen requirements related to emissions from 
equipment and routine flaring.  The proposal would also establish a “Super Emitter Response Program” that would require operator response to emissions 
events exceeding 200 pounds per hour, as detected by regulatory authorities or qualified third parties.  The proposal is currently subject to public comment 
and is expected to be finalized in 2023; however, all of these regulatory actions will likely be subject to legal challenges.  As a result, we cannot predict the 
scope of any final methane regulatory requirements or the cost to comply with such requirements.  Given the long-term trend toward increasing regulation, 
future federal GHG regulations of the oil and gas industry remain a possibility, and several states, including West Virginia and Ohio, have separately 
imposed their own regulations on methane emissions from oil and gas production activities. 

Internationally, the Paris Agreement requires member states to individually determine and submit non-binding emissions reduction targets every 
five years beginning 2020.  President Biden recommitted the United States to the Paris Agreement in February 2021 and, in April 2021, announced a goal 
of reducing the United States’ emissions by 50-52% below 2005 levels by 2030.  Additionally, in November 2021, the international community gathered 
again in Glasgow COP26, during which multiple announcements were made, including a call for parties to eliminate certain oil and natural gas subsidies 
and pursue further action on non-CO2 GHGs.  Relatedly, the United States and European Union jointly announced the launch of the “Global Methane 
Pledge,” an initiative committing to a collective goal of reducing global methane pollution by at least 30% by 2030 relative to 2020 levels, including “all 
feasible reductions” in the energy sector.  The impacts of these orders, pledges, agreements and any legislation or regulation promulgated to fulfill the 
United States’ commitments under the Paris Agreement, COP26, or other international conventions cannot be predicted at this time.

Concern over the threat of climate change has also resulted in increasing political risks in the United States, including climate-change related 
pledges made by President Biden and other public office representatives.  On January 27, 2021, President Biden signed an executive order calling for 
substantial action on climate change, including among other things, the increased use of zero-emissions vehicles by the federal government, the elimination 
of subsidies provided to the oil and natural gas industry and increased emphasis on climate-related risks across agencies and economic sectors.  
Additionally, in November 2021, the Biden Administration released “The Long-Term Strategy of the United States: Pathways to Net-Zero Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions by 2050,” which establishes a roadmap to net zero emissions in the United States by 2050 through, among other things, improving energy 
efficiency; decarbonizing energy sources via electricity, hydrogen and sustainable biofuels; and reducing non-CO2 GHG emissions, such as methane and 
nitrous oxide.  Other actions that could be pursued by the Biden administration include more restrictive requirements for the development of pipeline 
infrastructure or LNG export facilities, as well as more restrictive GHG emissions limitations for oil and gas facilities.  

Increasingly, oil and natural gas companies are also exposed to litigation risks from climate change.  A number of parties have brought suits 
against oil and natural gas companies in state or federal court for alleged contributions to, or failures to disclose the impacts of, climate change.  While we 
are not currently party to any such litigation, we could be named in future actions making similar claims of liability.  Moreover, to the extent that societal 
pressures or political or other factors are involved, it is possible that such liability could be imposed without regard to the company’s causation of or 
contribution to the asserted damage, or to other mitigating factors.

Additionally, in response to concerns related to climate change, companies in the oil and natural gas industry may be exposed to increasing 
financial risks.  Financial institutions, including investment advisors and certain sovereign wealth, pension and endowment funds, may elect in the future to 
shift some or all of their investment into non-oil and natural gas related industries.  Institutional lenders who provide financing to oil and natural gas 
companies have also become more attentive to sustainable lending practices, and some of them may elect in future not to provide funding for oil and 
natural gas companies.  Many of the largest U.S. banks have made net zero commitments and have announced that they will be assessing financed 
emissions across their portfolios and taking steps to quantify and reduce those emissions.  In addition, at COP26, GFANZ announced that commitments 
from over 450 firms across 45 countries had resulted in over $130 trillion in capital committed to net zero goals.  The various sub-alliances of GFANZ 
generally require participants to set short-term, sector-specific targets to transition their financing, investing and/or underwriting activities to net zero 
emissions by 2050.  These and other developments in the financial sector could lead to some lenders restricting access to capital for or divesting from 
certain industries or companies, including the oil and natural gas sector, or requiring that borrowers take additional steps to reduce their GHG emissions.  
There is also a risk that financial institutions will be required to adopt policies that have the effect of reducing the funding provided to the oil and natural 
gas industry.  The Federal Reserve has joined the NGFS, a consortium of financial regulators focused on addressing climate-related risks in the financial 
sector and, in November 2021, issued a statement in support of the efforts of the NGFS to identify key issues and potential solutions for the climate-related 
challenges most relevant to central banks and supervisory authorities.  The Federal Reserve also recently released instructions for a pilot climate scenario 
analysis being undertaken by six of the U.S.’s largest banks through 2023.  A material reduction in the capital 
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available to the oil and natural gas industry could make it more difficult to secure funding for exploration, development, production, transportation and 
processing activities, which could result in decreased demand for our midstream services.  In addition, the SEC proposed a rule requiring registrants to 
include certain climate-related disclosures, including Scope 1, 2 and 3 GHG emissions, climate-related targets and goals, and certain climate-related 
financial statement metrics, in registration statements and periodic reports.  The final rule is expected in 2023.  Although the final form and substance of 
these requirements is not yet known, and we cannot predict what any such rules may require to the extent the rules impose additional reporting obligations, 
we could face increased costs or limitations or restrictions on our access to capital.  Separately, the SEC has also announced that is scrutinizing existing 
climate-change related disclosures in public filings, increasing the potential for enforcement if the SEC were to allege an issuer’s existing climate 
disclosures misleading or deficient.

The adoption and implementation of new or more stringent international, federal or state legislation, regulations or other regulatory initiatives 
related to climate change or GHG emissions from oil and natural gas facilities could result in increased costs of compliance or costs of consumption, 
thereby reducing demand for the services we provide.  One or more of these developments could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operation.  

Moreover, climate change may also result in various physical risks such as the increased frequency or intensity of extreme weather events or 
changes in meteorological and hydrological patterns that could adversely impact our financial condition and operations, as well as those of our suppliers or 
customers.  Such physical risks may result in damage to our facilities or otherwise adversely impact our operations, such as if we become subject to water 
use curtailments in response to drought, or demand for our services, such as to the extent warmer winters reduce the demand for energy for heating 
purposes. Such physical risks may also impact the infrastructure on which we rely to provide our services.  One or more of these developments could have 
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operations.  In addition, while our consideration of changing weather conditions and 
inclusion of safety factors in design covers the uncertainties that climate change and other events may potentially introduce, our ability to mitigate the 
adverse impacts of these events depends in part on the effectiveness of our facilities and our disaster preparedness and response and business continuity 
planning, which may not have considered or be prepared for every eventuality.

We may incur significant costs and liabilities as a result of pipeline integrity management program testing and any related pipeline repair or
preventative or remedial measures.

The DOT has adopted regulations requiring pipeline operators to develop integrity management programs for transportation pipelines located 
where a leak or rupture could do the most harm in HCAs or MCAs.  The regulations require operators to:

● perform ongoing assessments of pipeline integrity;

● identify and characterize applicable threats to pipeline segments that could impact certain high risk areas;

● improve data collection, integration and analysis;

● repair and remediate the pipeline as necessary; and

● implement preventive and mitigating actions.

The 2011 Pipeline Safety Act among other things, increased the maximum civil penalty for pipeline safety violations and directed the Secretary of 
Transportation to promulgate rules or standards relating to expanded integrity management requirements, automatic or remote-controlled valve use, excess 
flow valve use, leak detection system installation and testing to confirm the material strength of pipe operating above 30% of specified minimum yield 
strength in HCAs.  Consistent with the 2011 Pipeline Safety Act, the PHMSA, finalized rules that increased the maximum administrative civil penalties for 
violations of the pipeline safety laws and regulations to $200,000 per violation per day, with a maximum of $2,000,000 for a related series of violations.  In 
January 2023, those maximum civil penalties were increased to $257,664 and $2,576,627, respectively, to account for inflation.  Should our operations fail 
to comply with DOT or comparable state regulations, we could be subject to substantial penalties and fines.  

Following legislation enacted by Congress, PHMSA has issued or proposed regulations that either seek to impose new obligations on pipeline 
operations or expand existing pipeline safety requirements to previously unregulated pipelines.  For example, in November 2021, PHMSA issued a final 
rule that imposes safety regulations on approximately 400,000 miles of previously unregulated onshore gas gathering lines that, among other things, will 
impose criteria for inspection and repair of fugitive emissions, extend reporting requirements to all gas gathering operators and apply a set of minimum 
safety requirements to certain gas gathering pipelines with large diameters and high operating pressures.  Separately, in June 2021, PHMSA issued an 
Advisory Bulletin advising pipeline and pipeline facility operators of applicable requirements to update their inspection and maintenance plans for the 
elimination of hazardous leaks and minimization of natural gas released from pipeline facilities, in accordance with the PIPES Act of 2020.  
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PHMSA, together with state regulators, are expected to commence and complete inspection of these plans in 2022.  In August 2022, PHMSA finalized the 
rule entitled “Pipeline Safety: Safety of Gas Transmission Pipelines, Repair Criteria, Integrity Management Improvements, Cathodic Protection, 
Management of Change and Other Related Amendments” which adjusted the repair criteria for pipelines in HCAs, created new criteria for pipelines in 
non-HCAs and strengthened integrity management assessment requirements, among other items.  We are in the process of assessing the impact of these 
rules on our future costs of operations and revenue from operations, but we do not expect our operations to be affected by these new rules any differently 
than other similarly situated midstream companies.  Separately, in the Fiscal Year 2021 Omnibus Appropriations Bill, Congress directed PHMSA to move 
forward with several regulatory actions, the promulgation of rules related to changes in class location of existing pipelines, pipeline leak detection and 
repair and the management of idled pipelines, amongst other matters.  While we cannot predict the full scope of these regulations at this time, more 
stringent requirements may require us to incur significant costs to maintain compliance, which may have a negative impact on our business performance 
and results of operations.

The adoption of these and other laws or regulations that apply more comprehensive or stringent safety standards could require us to install new or 
modified safety controls, pursue new capital projects or conduct maintenance programs on an accelerated basis, all of which could require us to incur 
increased operational costs that could be significant, consistent with other similarly situated midstream companies.  While we cannot predict the outcome 
of legislative or regulatory initiatives, such legislative and regulatory changes could have a material effect on our cash flow.  See “Business—Pipeline 
Safety Regulation” for more information.

Regulations related to the protection of wildlife could adversely affect our ability to conduct oil and gas operations in some of the areas where we
operate.

Oil and gas operations in our operating areas can be adversely affected by regulations designed to protect various wildlife. For example, following 
a 2020 court order to reconsider its decision to list the northern long-eared bat as threatened instead of endangered, the USFWS redesignated the bat as 
threatened under the ESA.  The designation of previously unprotected species as threatened or endangered, or redesignation of a threatened species as 
endangered, in areas where we operate could cause us to incur increased costs arising from species protection measures, result in constraints on our 
customer’s exploration and production activities and on our pipeline construction and operation activities.  This limits our ability to operate in those areas 
and can intensify competition during those months for drilling rigs, oilfield equipment, services, supplies and qualified personnel, which may lead to 
periodic shortages.  These constraints and the resulting shortages or high costs could delay our operations or the operations of our customers and materially 
increase our operating and capital costs.

Human Capital

The loss of senior management or technical personnel could adversely affect operations.

We depend on the services of a relatively small group of senior management and technical personnel.  We do not maintain, nor do we plan to 
obtain, any insurance against the loss of any of these individuals.  The loss of the services of our senior management or technical personnel, including Paul 
M. Rady, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

Our officers and employees provide services to both Antero Resources and us.

All of our executive officers and certain other personnel who provide corporate, general and administrative services to our business are, when 
providing services to us, concurrently employed by Antero Resources and us pursuant to the terms of a services agreement.  In addition, our operational 
personnel are seconded to us by Antero Resources pursuant to the terms of a secondment agreement and are concurrently employed by Antero Resources 
and us during such secondment.  As a result, there could be material competition for the time and effort of the officers and employees who provide services 
to Antero Resources and us.  If such officers and employees do not devote sufficient attention to the management and operation of our business, our 
financial results may suffer.

Related Parties

Antero Resources owns a significant interest in us and, as a result, conflicts of interest will arise from time to time between it and us, and Antero
Resources may favor their own interests to the detriment of us and our other stockholders. Additionally, Antero Resources is under no obligation
to adopt a business strategy that favors us.

All of our officers and certain of our directors are also officers or directors of Antero Resources.  Also, as of December 31, 2022, Antero 
Resources beneficially owned 29.1% of our outstanding common stock.  Conflicts of interest will arise between Antero Resources and us.  Our directors 
and officers who are also directors and officers of Antero Resources have a fiduciary duty to manage Antero Resources in a manner that is beneficial to 
Antero Resources.  In resolving these actual or apparent conflicts of interest, these 
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directors and officers may choose strategies that favor Antero Resources over our interests and the interests of our stockholders.  These actual and apparent 
conflicts may in certain cases include, for example, the decision to declare and pay dividends or the decision to repurchase shares of our common stock 
owned by Antero Resources.  The resolution of any conflicts of interest between Antero Resources and its subsidiaries, on one hand, and us and our 
subsidiaries, on the other, to the extent we can resolve them, may be costly and reduce the amount of time and attention that our directors and officers may 
spend in operating our business, which, in each case, may adversely affect our business.

Furthermore, Antero Resources is under no obligation to adopt a business strategy that favors us. For example, Antero Resources has dedicated
acreage to, and entered into long-term contracts for gathering and compression services on, our gathering and compression systems, as well as long-term
contracts for receiving water services.  However, while we have a right of first offer that expires in 2038 to provide processing and fractionation services to
Antero Resources, subject to certain exceptions, Antero Resources is under no obligation to consider whether any future drilling plans would create
beneficial opportunities for us.  Additionally, although our processing and fractionation services provided by the Joint Venture are supported by minimum
volume commitments, the gathering and compression agreements include minimum volumes commitments only on high pressure pipelines and/or
compressor stations constructed at Antero Resources’ request.  Any decision by Antero Resources to operate its assets in a manner that does not support our
operations could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are a holding company whose sole material asset is our equity interest in Antero Midstream Partners, and we are accordingly dependent upon
distributions from Antero Midstream Partners to pay taxes, return capital to stockholders and cover our corporate and other overhead expenses.

We are a holding company and have no material assets other than our equity interest in Antero Midstream Partners.  We have no independent 
means of generating revenue.  To the extent Antero Midstream Partners has available cash, we intend to cause Antero Midstream Partners to make 
distributions to us in an amount at least sufficient to allow us to pay our taxes, to fund our return of capital to our stockholders (including paying dividends 
and repurchasing shares of our common stock) and for our corporate and other overhead expenses.  To the extent that we need funds and Antero Midstream 
Partners or its subsidiaries are restricted from making such distributions or payments under applicable law or regulation or under the terms of any financing 
arrangements, or are otherwise unable to provide such funds, our liquidity and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

Certain of our stockholders have investments in our affiliates that may conflict with the interests of other stockholders.

Paul M. Rady and an individual affiliated with Yorktown serve as members of our Board and the Board of Directors of Antero Resources.  Mr. 
Rady and Yorktown also own a significant portion of the shares of common stock of Antero Resources.  As a result of their investments in Antero 
Resources, Mr. Rady and Yorktown may have conflicting interests with other stockholders.  Conflicts of interest could arise in the future between us, on the 
one hand, and Mr. Rady and Yorktown, on the other hand, regarding, among other things, decisions related to our financing, capital expenditures and 
growth plans, the terms of our agreements with Antero Resources and its subsidiaries and the pursuit of potentially competitive business activities or 
business opportunities.

Income Taxes

Our future tax liability may be greater than expected if we do not generate deductions or net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards sufficient to
offset taxable income or if tax authorities challenge certain of our tax positions.

We expect to generate deductions and NOL carryforwards that we can use to offset our taxable income.  As a result, we do not expect to pay 
material U.S. federal and state income taxes through 2027.  This expectation is based upon assumptions our management has made regarding, among other 
things, income, capital expenditures and net working capital. Further, the IRS or other tax authorities could challenge one or more tax positions we take, 
such as the classification of assets under the income tax depreciation rules, the characterization of expenses for income tax purposes and the tax 
characterization of the Transactions. Further, any change in law may affect our tax position.  While we expect that our deductions and NOL carryforwards 
will be available to us as a future benefit, in the event that they are not generated as expected, are successfully challenged by the IRS (in a tax audit or 
otherwise), or are subject to future limitations, our ability to realize these benefits may be limited.

Changes to applicable tax laws and regulations or exposure to additional income tax liabilities could affect our business and
future profitability.

We are subject to various complex and evolving U.S. federal, state and local taxes. U.S. federal, state and local tax laws, policies, statutes, rules,
regulations or ordinances could be interpreted, changed, modified or applied adversely to us, in each case, possibly with retroactive effect, and may have an
adverse effect on our business and future profitability.
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Taxable gain or loss on the sale of our common stock could be more or less than expected.

If a holder sells our common stock, the holder will recognize gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realized and the holder’s tax 
basis in the shares of common stock sold.  To the extent that the amount of distributions on our common stock exceeds our current and accumulated 
earnings and profits, such distributions will be treated as a tax free return of capital and will reduce a holder’s tax basis in its common stock.  We expect the 
majority of our distributions to be in excess of our earnings and profits through 2027.  Because our distributions in excess of our earnings and profits 
decrease a holder’s tax basis in our common stock, such excess distributions will result in a corresponding increase in the amount of gain, or a 
corresponding decrease in the amount of loss, recognized by the holder upon the sale of our common stock.

The IRS Forms 1099-DIV that our stockholders receive from their brokers may over-report dividend income with respect to our common stock 
for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which may result in a stockholder’s overpayment of tax.  In addition, failure to report dividend income in a 
manner consistent with the IRS Forms 1099-DIV may cause the IRS to assert audit adjustments to a stockholder’s U.S. federal income tax return.  
For non-U.S. holders of our common stock, brokers or other withholding agents may overwithhold taxes from dividends paid, in which case a 
stockholder generally would have to timely file a U.S. tax return or an appropriate claim for refund to claim a refund of the overwithheld taxes.

Distributions we pay with respect to our common stock will constitute “dividends” for U.S. federal income tax purposes only to the extent of our 
current and accumulated earnings and profits. Distributions we pay in excess of our earnings and profits will not be treated as “dividends” for U.S. federal 
income tax purposes; instead, they will be treated first as a tax-free return of capital to the extent of a stockholder’s tax basis in their common stock and 
then as capital gain realized on the sale or exchange of such stock.  We may be unable to timely determine the portion of our distributions that is a 
“dividend” for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which may result in a stockholder’s overpayment of tax with respect to distribution amounts that should 
have been classified as a tax-free return of capital.  In such a case, a stockholder generally would have to timely file an amended U.S. tax return or an 
appropriate claim for refund to obtain a refund of the overpaid tax.

For a U.S. holder of our common stock, the IRS Forms 1099-DIV received from brokers may not be consistent with our determination of the 
amount that constitutes a “dividend” for U.S. federal income tax purposes or a stockholder may receive a corrected IRS Form 1099-DIV (and may 
therefore need to file an amended U.S. federal, state or local income tax return).  We will attempt to timely notify our stockholders of available information 
to assist with income tax reporting (such as posting the correct information on our website). However, the information that we provide to our stockholders 
may be inconsistent with the amounts reported by a broker on IRS Form 1099-DIV, and the IRS may disagree with any such information and may make 
audit adjustments to a stockholder’s tax return.

For a non-U.S. holder of our common stock, “dividends” for U.S. federal income tax purposes will be subject to withholding of U.S. federal 
income tax at a 30% rate (or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty) unless the dividends are effectively connected with the 
conduct of a U.S. trade or business.  In the event that we are unable to timely determine the portion of our distributions that constitute a “dividend” for U.S. 
federal income tax purposes, or a stockholder’s broker or withholding agent chooses to withhold taxes from distributions in a manner inconsistent with our 
determination of the amount that constitutes a “dividend” for such purposes, a stockholder’s broker or other withholding agent may overwithhold taxes 
from distributions paid.  In such a case, a stockholder generally would have to timely file a U.S. tax return or an appropriate claim for refund in order to 
obtain a refund of the overwithheld tax.

General Risks

We expect to use a significant portion of our cash flows to pay dividends to our stockholders and/or repurchase shares of our common stock,
which could limit our ability to grow and make acquisitions.

We have previously announced that we plan to return capital to our stockholders through dividends to our stockholders and repurchasing shares of 
our common stock, which may cause our growth to proceed at a slower pace than that of businesses that reinvest their cash to expand ongoing operations.  
To the extent we issue additional shares of common stock in connection with any acquisitions or expansion capital expenditures, the payment of dividends 
on those additional shares may increase the risk that we will be unable to maintain or increase our per share dividend level.  In addition, the incurrence of 
commercial borrowings or other debt to finance our growth strategy would result in increased interest expense, which, in turn, may reduce the cash that we 
have available to return capital to our stockholders through dividends and/or repurchases of shares of our common stock.

We may reduce or cease paying dividends on our common stock.

We are not obligated to pay dividends on shares of our common stock. Subject to preferences that may be applicable to any
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outstanding shares or series of preferred stock, holders of our common stock are only entitled to receive ratably such dividends (payable in cash, stock or 
otherwise), if any, as may be declared from time to time by our Board out of funds legally available for dividend payments.  Our Board makes a 
determination each quarter as to the actual amount, if any, of dividends to pay on our common stock, based on various factors, some of which are beyond 
our control, including our operating cash flows, our working capital needs, our ability to access capital markets for debt and equity financing on reasonable 
terms, the restrictions contained in our debt instruments, our debt service requirements, credit metrics and the cost of acquisitions, if any.  We may not have 
sufficient cash each quarter to pay dividends or maintain current or expected levels of dividends.  Accordingly, we cannot guarantee that we will declare 
any future dividends at levels consistent with our historic practice or at all.

The price of our common stock may be volatile, and you could lose a significant portion of your investment.

The market price of our common stock could be volatile, and holders of common stock may not be able to resell their common stock at or above
the price at which they acquired such securities due to fluctuations in the market price of our common stock.

        Specific factors that may have a significant effect on the market price for our common stock include:

● our operating and financial performance and prospects and the trading price of our common stock;

● the level of our dividends;

● quarterly variations in the rate of growth of our financial indicators, such as dividends per share of our common stock, net income and
revenues;

● levels of indebtedness;

● changes in revenue or earnings estimates or publication of research reports by analysts;

● speculation by the press or investment community;

● sales of our common stock by other stockholders;

● announcements by us or our competitors of significant contracts, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, securities offerings or
capital commitments;

● general market conditions;

● changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations or principles;

● adverse changes in tax laws or regulations;

● domestic and international economic, legal and regulatory factors related to our performance; and

● Antero Resources’ operating and financial performance and prospects, and the trading price of its common stock.

There may be future dilution of our common stock, which could adversely affect the market price of shares of our common stock.

We are not restricted from issuing additional shares of our common stock out of our authorized capital.  In the future, we may issue shares of our 
common stock to raise cash for future activities, acquisitions or other purposes.  We may also acquire interests in other companies by using a combination 
of cash and shares of our common stock or only shares.  We may also issue securities convertible into, or exchangeable for, or that represent the right to 
receive, shares of our common stock.  Any of these events may dilute the ownership interests of our stockholders, reduce our earnings per share or have an 
adverse effect on the price of shares of our common stock. 

Sales of a substantial amount of shares of our common stock in the public market could adversely affect the market price of our shares.

Sales of a substantial amount of shares of our common stock in the public market or grants to our directors and officers under
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the AM LTIP, or the perception that these sales or grants may occur, could reduce the market price of shares of our common stock.  All of the shares of our 
common stock are freely tradable without restriction or further registration under the Securities Act, unless the shares are held by any of our “affiliates” as 
such term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act.  In addition, we are party to a registration rights agreement with Antero Resources, certain 
members of management and certain funds affiliated with Yorktown, pursuant to which we agreed to register the resale of shares of our common stock 
issued or paid to them in the Transactions.  We cannot predict the size of future issuances of our common stock or securities convertible into our common 
stock or the effect, if any, that future issuances and sales of shares of our common stock will have on the market price of our common stock.

Our certificate of incorporation designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of
actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders' ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum
for disputes with us or our directors, officers, employees or agents.

Our certificate of incorporation provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the
State of Delaware (the “Court of Chancery”) will, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative
action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action or proceeding asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our current or
former directors, officers, stockholders, employees or agents to us or our stockholders, (iii) any action or proceeding asserting a claim arising pursuant to
any provision of the DGCL, our certificate of incorporation or our bylaws as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery or (iv) any 
action or proceeding asserting a claim against us governed by the internal affairs doctrine, in each such case subject to the Court of Chancery having 
personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants therein.  The foregoing provision does not apply to claims under the Securities 
Act, the Exchange Act or any claim for which the U.S. federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction.  Furthermore, if the Court of Chancery lacks subject 
matter jurisdiction for any such matter, any state or federal court located within Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for that matter.  Any person 
or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in shares of our capital stock will be deemed to have notice of, and consented to, the 
provisions of certificate of incorporation described in the preceding sentence.  This choice of forum provision may limit our stockholder’s ability to bring a 
claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with it or its directors, officers, employees or agents, which may discourage such lawsuits 
against us and such persons.  Alternatively, if a court were to find these provisions of our certificate of incorporation inapplicable to, or unenforceable in 
respect of, one or more of the specified types of actions or proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other 
jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We may issue preferred stock, which may have terms that could adversely affect the voting power or value of our common stock.

Our certificate of incorporation authorizes our Board to issue, without the approval of our stockholders, one or more classes or series of preferred 
stock having such designations, preferences, limitations and relative rights, including preferences over our common stock respecting dividends and 
distributions, as our Board may determine.  The terms of one or more classes or series of our preferred stock could adversely impact the voting power or 
value of our common stock.  For example, we might grant holders of a class or series of our preferred stock the right to elect some number of our directors 
in all events or on the happening of specified events or the right to veto specified transactions.  Similarly, the repurchase or redemption rights or liquidation 
preferences we might assign to holders of our preferred stock could affect the residual value of our common stock.

ITEM 1B.  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.

ITEM 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Our operations are subject to a variety of risks and disputes normally incident to our business.  As a result, we may, at any given time, be a 
defendant in various legal proceedings and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business.

We maintain insurance policies with insurers in amounts and with coverage and deductibles that we, with the advice of our insurance advisors and 
brokers, believe are reasonable and prudent.  We cannot, however, assure you that this insurance will be adequate to protect us from all material expenses 
related to potential future claims for personal and property damage or that these levels of insurance will be available in the future at economical prices.
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Veolia

The Company is currently involved in a consolidated lawsuit with Veolia Water Technologies, Inc. (“Veolia”) relating to the Clearwater Facility.

On March 13, 2020, Antero Treatment, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, filed suit against Veolia in the district court of Denver County,
Colorado, asserting claims of fraud, breach of contract and other related claims. Antero Treatment alleges that Veolia failed to meet its contractual
obligations to design and build a “turnkey” wastewater disposal facility under a Design/Build Agreement dated August 18, 2015 (the “DBA”), and that
Veolia fraudulently concealed certain miscalculations and design flaws during contract negotiations and continued to conceal and fraudulently misrepresent
the impact of certain design changes post-execution of the DBA.  On March 13, 2020, Veolia filed a separate suit against the Company, Antero Resources, 
and certain of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively, the “Antero Defendants”) in Denver County, Colorado.  In its lawsuit, Veolia 
asserted breach of contract and equitable claims against the Antero Defendants for alleged failures under the DBA.  Veolia’s suit was consolidated into the 
action filed by Antero Treatment.

Veolia and the Antero Defendants each filed partial motions to dismiss and motions for summary judgment directed at certain claims asserted by 
the opposing party.  A bench trial on the remaining claims was held from January 24 through February 10, 2022 and concluded on February 24, 2022.  At 
trial, Antero Treatment sought damages from Veolia of approximately $450 million, which represents the Company’s out-of-pocket costs associated with 
the Clearwater Facility project.  In the alternative, Antero Treatment sought damages related to multiple breaches of the DBA, totaling approximately $370 
million.  Also, at trial, Veolia sought monetary damages of approximately $118 million, including alleged delay and extra-contractual costs and a contract 
balance relating to an allegation that Antero Defendants improperly terminated the DBA.

On January 3, 2023, the Court found that Antero Treatment had prevailed on its claims for breach of contract and fraud, and awarded 
approximately $242 million in damages to Antero Treatment, plus pre- and post-judgment interest and reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees. The Court also 
found in Antero Defendants’ favor on all of Veolia’s affirmative claims.  On January 27, 2023 the Court entered judgment in favor of Antero Treatment in 
the amount of $309,183,975 in damages, which includes pre-judgment interest.  Antero was also awarded costs and attorneys’ fees, the amount of which 
will be determined in separate proceedings.  The judgment remains subject to appeal and applicable post-judgment proceedings.

ITEM 4.  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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 PART II

ITEM 5.  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

Common Stock

We have one class of common equity outstanding, our common stock, par value $0.01 per share.  Our common stock is listed on the New York 
Stock Exchange and traded under the symbol “AM.” On February 10, 2023, shares of our common stock were held by 40 holders of record.  The number 
of holders does not include the holders for whom shares of our common stock are held in a “nominee” or “street” name.  In addition, as of February 10, 
2023, Antero Resources and its subsidiaries owned 139,042,345 shares of our common stock, which represented a 29.1% interest in us.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table sets forth our common stock share purchase activity for each period presented:

Approximate
Total Number of Dollar Value of

Total Number Average Price Shares Purchased Shares that May
of Shares Paid per as Part of Publicly Yet be Purchased

Period Purchased (1)  Share Announced Plans (2) Under the Plan
October 1, 2022 – October 31, 2022      11,812 $  9.79  — $  149,767,409
November 1, 2022 – November 30, 2022      —  —  — N/A
December 1, 2022 – December 31, 2022      —  —  — N/A

Total  11,812 $  9.79  — $  149,767,409

(1) The total number of shares purchased represents shares of our common stock transferred to us in order to satisfy tax withholding obligations incurred upon the vesting of equity awards held
by our employees.

(2) In August 2019, the Board authorized a $300 million share repurchase program, which was extended through June 30, 2023 during the first quarter of 2021.  During the three months ended
December 31, 2022, we did not make any repurchases under this program.  Our share repurchase program will be subject to the new 1% excise tax on stock repurchases imposed under the 
IRA 2022 for all repurchases on or after January 1, 2023.

Dividends

On January 11, 2023, the Board declared an aggregate cash dividend on the shares of our common stock of $0.2250 per share for the quarter
ended December 31, 2022.  The dividend was paid on February 8, 2023 to stockholders of record as of January 25, 2023.  

The Board also declared a cash dividend of $138 thousand on shares of our Series A Non-Voting Perpetual Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 (the 
“Series A Preferred Stock”), that was paid on February 14, 2023 in accordance with the terms of the Series A Preferred Stock, which are discussed in Note 
12—Equity and Earnings Per Common Share to our consolidated financial statements.  As of December 31, 2022, there were dividends in the amount of 
$69 thousand accumulated in arrears on our Series A Preferred Stock.

The amount and timing of future payment of cash dividends on our common stock, if any, is within the discretion of the Board and will depend on
our earnings, capital requirements, financial condition and other relevant factors

Stock Performance Graph

The graph below shows the cumulative total shareholder return assuming the investment of $100 on December 31, 2017, in each of (i) our
predecessor’s, AMGP, common shares through March 12, 2019 and our common stock thereafter (assuming reinvestment of dividends), (ii) the Standard &
Poor’s 500 (“S&P 500”) Index and (iii) the Alerian Midstream Energy (“AMNA”) Index.  We believe the AMNA Index is meaningful because it is an 
independent, objective view of the performance of similarly-sized midstream energy companies. 
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The information in this Form 10-K appearing under the heading “Stock Performance Graph” is being “furnished” pursuant to Item 2.01(e) of
Regulation S-K under the Securities Act and shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or “filed” with the SEC or subject to Regulation 14A or 14C,
other than as provided in Item 2.01(e) of Regulation S-K, or to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Exchange Act and shall not be deemed incorporated by
reference into any filing under the Securities Act of the Exchange Act except to the extent that we specifically request that it be treated as such.

ITEM 6.  RESERVED
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ITEM 7.  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated 
financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this report.  The information provided below supplements, but does not form part of, our 
consolidated financial statements.  This discussion contains forward-looking statements that are based on the views and beliefs of our management, as well 
as assumptions and estimates made by our management.  Actual results could differ materially from such forward-looking statements as a result of various 
risk factors, including those that may not be in the control of management.  For further information on items that could impact our future operating 
performance or financial condition, see “Item 1A.  Risk Factors.” and the section entitled “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking 
Statements.”  We do not undertake any obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements except as otherwise required by applicable law.

In this section, references to “Antero Midstream,” “AM,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Antero Midstream Corporation and its
consolidated subsidiaries, unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires.

Overview

We are a growth-oriented midstream energy company formed to own, operate and develop midstream energy assets to primarily service Antero 
Resources’ production and completion activity.  We believe that our strategically located assets and our relationship with Antero Resources have allowed us 
to become a leading midstream energy company serving the Appalachian Basin and present opportunities to expand our midstream services to other 
operators in the Appalachian Basin.  Our assets consist of gathering pipelines, compressor stations and interests in processing and fractionation plants that 
collect and process production from Antero Resources’ wells in the Appalachian Basin in West Virginia and Ohio.  Our assets also include two independent 
water handling systems that deliver water from the Ohio River and several regional waterways.  These water handling systems consist of permanent buried 
pipelines, surface pipelines and water storage facilities, as well as pumping stations, blending facilities and impoundments.  Portions of these water 
handling systems are also utilized to transport flowback and produced water.  These services are provided by us directly or through third-parties with which 
we contract.  

Asset Acquisitions

On October 25, 2022, we acquired certain Marcellus gas gathering and compression assets from Crestwood for $205 million in cash, before 
closing adjustments, which was funded by borrowings under our Credit Facility.  These assets include 72 miles of dry gas gathering pipelines and nine 
compressor stations with approximately 700 MMcf/d of compression capacity.  Current throughput of the assets is approximately 200 MMcf/d, resulting in 
significant available capacity for growth.

Additionally, on December 21, 2022, we acquired certain Utica compression assets from EnLink for $10 million in cash, before closing 
adjustments, which was funded by borrowings under our Credit Facility.  These assets include four compressor stations with approximately 380 MMcf/d of 
compression capacity.  The acquired compression assets are interconnected with the Company’s existing low pressure and high pressure gathering systems 
and service Antero Resources’ production.  Current throughput of the assets is approximately 100 MMcf/d.  See Note 6—Property and Equipment to the
consolidated financial statements for more information on our asset acquisitions.

Market Conditions and Business Trends

Commodity Markets

Prices for natural gas, NGLs and oil increased significantly during the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2021.  While substantially all of our revenues are based on fixed-fee contracts that are not directly impacted by changes in commodity 
prices, commodity price changes do impact the revenues and cash flows of Antero Resources, and Antero Resources’ drilling and development plan does 
have a direct impact on our gathering, compression and water handling services, revenues and cash flows.  In the current economic environment, we expect 
that commodity prices for some or all of the commodities produced by Antero Resources could remain volatile.  However, to the extent Antero Resources 
maintains a maintenance capital program as it has done in recent years, we do not expect to experience substantial variability in our throughput volumes 
resulting from volatile commodity prices.
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Growth Incentive Fee Program with Antero Resources

Our 2019 gathering and compression agreement with Antero Resources includes a growth incentive fee program whereby we agreed to provide 
quarterly fee rebates to Antero Resources through December 31, 2023, contingent upon Antero Resources achieving volumetric growth targets on low 
pressure gathering. Antero Resources’ throughput on the acquired assets is not considered in the low pressure gathering volume targets.  If actual low 
pressure volumes are below the lowest threshold for the respective period, Antero Resources will not earn a reduction in low pressure gathering fees.

The growth incentive fee rebate program expires December 31, 2023, and the following table summarizes the remaining low pressure gathering
growth incentive targets through 2023:

Low Pressure Gathering Quarterly Fee
Volume Growth Incentive Reduction

Targets (MMcf/d) (in millions)
Calendar Year 2023

Threshold 1 >2,900 and <3,150 $12.0
Threshold 2 >3,150 and <3,400 $15.5
Threshold 3 >3,400 $19.0

Antero Resources earned $48 million in fee rebates during the year ended December 31, 2022 by achieving all four quarterly volumetric targets 
for the year.  Antero Resources earned $12 million in fee rebates during the year ended December 31, 2021 by achieving the quarterly volumetric target
during the fourth quarter of 2021.

Economic Indicators

The economy is experiencing elevated inflation levels as a result of global supply and demand imbalances, where global demand continues to 
outpace current supplies.  For example, the CPI for all urban consumers increased 8% from year ended December 31, 2021 to year ended December 31, 
2022 as compared to the Federal Reserve’s stated goal of 2%.  See “—Capital Resources and Liquidity—Capital Investment” for more information.  In 
order to manage the inflation risk currently present in the United States’ economy, the Federal Reserve has utilized monetary policy in the form of interest 
rate increases in an effort to bring the inflation rate in line with its stated goal of 2% on a long-term basis.    

The global economy also continues to be impacted by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and global events, among other factors.  These 
events have often caused global supply chain disruptions with additional pressure due to trade sanctions on Russia and other global trade restrictions, 
among others.  However, neither our nor Antero Resources’ supply chain has experienced any significant interruptions due to the COVID-19 pandemic or 
global supply and demand imbalances.

Inflationary pressures and supply chain disruptions could result in further increases to our operating and capital costs that are not fixed.  
Additionally, these economic variables could lead to a renegotiation of contracts and/or supply agreements, among others.  These economic variables are 
beyond our control and may adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and future cash flows.

COVID-19 Pandemic

We continue to operate throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, in some cases subject to federal, state and local regulations, and we have taken and 
continue to take steps to protect the health and safety of our workers.  We have implemented protocols to reduce the risk of an outbreak within our field 
operations and offices, and these protocols have not impacted Antero Resources’ production, our throughput or our business activities.  During 2022, we 
transitioned from a hybrid working arrangement for non-field level employees, which involved a combination of in-office and remote work-from-home 
arrangements, to an in-office working arrangement for all non-field level employees.  We have been able to maintain a consistent level of effectiveness 
through these arrangements, including maintaining our day-to-day operations, our financial reporting systems and our internal control over financial 
reporting.  We continue to monitor the COVID-19 environment in order to protect the health and safety of our employees.

Sources of Our Revenues

The following items are the primary components of our revenues:

● Gathering and Processing.  Our low pressure gathering, compression and high pressure gathering services support production operations for 
Antero Resources.  Our gathering and processing revenues are driven by the volumes of 
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natural gas we gather and compress.  We receive a low pressure gathering fee per Mcf, a compression fee per Mcf and a high-pressure 
gathering fee per Mcf, as applicable, substantially all of which are subject to annual CPI-based adjustments.  Additionally, our gathering and 
compression agreements provide for certain minimum volume commitments for gathering and compression services that run to 2032.  
Pursuant to our long-term contracts with Antero Resources, we have secured long-term dedications covering substantially all of Antero 
Resources’ current and future acreage for gathering and compression services.  Our gathering and compression operations are substantially 
dependent upon natural gas production from Antero Resources’ upstream activity in its areas of operation.  In addition, there is a natural 
decline in production from existing wells that are connected to our gathering systems.  Although we expect that Antero Resources will 
continue to devote substantial resources to the development of oil and gas reserves, we have no control over this activity and Antero 
Resources has the ability to reduce or curtail such development at its discretion.  See Note 5—Revenue to the consolidated financial 
statements for more information on our gathering and compression agreements.

● Water Handling.  Our fresh water delivery systems and other fluid handling services support well completion and production operations for 
Antero Resources.  These services are provided by us directly or through third-parties with which we contract.  Our water handling revenues 
are driven by quantities of fresh water delivered to our customers to support their well completion operations and produced water transported, 
blended and/or disposed.  We receive a fixed fee for all fresh water deliveries by pipeline directly to the well site, subject to annual CPI-based 
adjustments.  Our other fluid handling services include wastewater handling, blending and high-rate transfer services. For other fluid
handling services provided by us, we charge Antero Resources a cost of service fee.  For other fluid handling services provided by third-
parties, we charge Antero Resources a fee based on our third-party out-of-pocket costs plus 3%.  We have a long-term water services 
agreement covering Antero Resources’ 553,000 gross acres in West Virginia and Ohio, with a right of first offer on all future areas of 
operation.  The initial term of the water services agreement runs to 2035.  Our water handling operations are substantially dependent upon the 
number of wells drilled and completed by Antero Resources, as well as Antero Resources’ production.  As of December 31, 2022, Antero 
Resources had disclosed estimated net proved reserves of 17.8 Tcfe, of which 58% was natural gas, 41% were NGLs and 1% was oil.  As of 
December 31, 2022, Antero Resources’ drilling inventory consisted of 1,819 gross identified potential horizontal well locations, substantially 
all of which were on acreage dedicated to us, providing us with significant opportunity for future capital investments as Antero Resources’ 
drilling program continues.  See Note 5—Revenue to the consolidated financial statements for more information on our water services 
agreement.

Principal Components of Our Cost Structure

The following items are the primary components of our operating expenses:

● Direct Operating.  We seek to maximize the profitability of our operations in part by minimizing, to the extent appropriate, expenses directly 
tied to operating and maintaining our assets.  We schedule and conduct preventative maintenance over time to avoid significant variability in 
our direct operating expense and minimize the impact on our cash flow.  Gathering and compression operating costs consist primarily of 
labor, water disposal, pigging, fuel, monitoring, repair and maintenance, utilities and contract services.  Gathering and compression operating 
costs vary with the miles of pipeline and number of compressor stations in our gathering and compression system.  Fresh water operating 
expenses consist primarily of labor, pigging, monitoring, repair and maintenance and contract services.  Fresh water operating costs vary with 
the miles of pipeline, number of pumping stations and to a lesser extent the number of well completions in the Appalachian Basin for which 
we deliver fresh water and number of impoundments in our water system.  Other fluid handling costs, relate to contract services performed 
by us and third parties.  Our other fluid handling costs consist of labor, monitoring and repair and maintenance costs.  The other primary 
drivers of our direct operating expense include maintenance and contract services, regulatory and compliance expense and ad valorem taxes. 

● General and Administrative.  Our general and administrative expenses include direct charges incurred by us and costs charged by Antero 
Resources.  These costs relate to: (i) various business services, including payroll processing, accounts payable processing and facilities 
management, (ii) various corporate services, including legal, accounting, treasury, information technology and human resources and (iii) 
compensation, including certain equity-based compensation.  These expenses are charged to the Company based on the nature of the 
expenses and are apportioned based on a combination of the Company’s proportionate share of gross property and equipment, capital 
expenditures and labor costs, as applicable.  Management believes these allocation methodologies are reasonable. Equity-based 
compensation includes (i) costs allocated to Antero Midstream by Antero Resources for grants made prior to March 12, 2019 pursuant to the 
Antero Resources Corporation Long-Term Incentive Plan and (ii) costs related to the Antero Midstream Corporation Long-Term Incentive 
Plan.
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● Depreciation.  Depreciation consists of our estimate of the decrease in value of the assets capitalized in property and equipment as a result of 
using the assets throughout the applicable year.  Depreciation is computed over the asset’s estimated useful life using the straight-line basis.  
See Note 6—Property and Equipment to our consolidated financial statements for additional information on our asset classes and estimated
lives of our assets.

● Impairment.  We evaluate our long-lived assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the related carrying 
values of the assets may not be recoverable.  If the carrying values of the assets are deemed not recoverable, the carrying values are reduced 
to their estimated fair value.

● Interest.  We have typically financed a portion of our cash requirements with borrowings under our revolving credit facility and with senior 
unsecured notes.  Our interest expense also includes amortization of deferred financing costs incurred in connection with our revolving credit 
facility and senior notes and amortization of senior notes premiums.  See Note 8—Long-Term Debt to our consolidated financial statements
and “—Capital Resources and Liquidity—Debt Agreements” for additional information on our debt agreements.

● Income tax expense.  We are subject to state and federal income taxes but are currently not in a cash tax paying position with respect to state 
and federal income taxes. The difference between our financial statement income tax expense and our current U.S. federal income tax 
liability is primarily due to the differences in the tax and financial statement treatment of our investment in Antero Midstream Partners.  We 
have recorded deferred income tax expense to the extent our deferred tax liabilities exceed our deferred tax assets.  Our deferred tax assets 
result primarily from net operating loss carryforwards.  As of December 31, 2022, we had approximately $415 million of U.S. federal NOL 
carryforwards, and approximately $478 million of state NOL carryforwards.  The Company currently considers all of its deferred tax assets, 
except for those related to charitable contributions, realizable.  The amount of deferred tax assets considered realizable, however, could 
change as we generate taxable income or as estimates of future taxable income are reduced.  See Note 7—Income Taxes to our consolidated
financial statements for a discussion of our deferred tax position and income tax expense.

How We Evaluate Our Operations

We use a variety of financial and operational metrics to evaluate our performance.  These metrics help us identify factors and trends that impact 
our operating results, profitability and financial condition.  The following are the key metrics we use to evaluate our business:

● Adjusted EBITDA.  We use Adjusted EBITDA as a corporate-level performance measure to assess the ability of our assets to generate cash 
sufficient to pay interest costs, support indebtedness and return capital to stockholders.  Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure.  
See “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below for more information regarding this financial measure, including a reconciliation to its most 
directly comparable GAAP measure.

● Gathering and Compression Throughput.  We must continually obtain additional supplies of natural gas to maintain or increase throughput 
on our systems.  Our ability to maintain existing supplies of natural gas and obtain additional supplies is primarily impacted by (i) our 
acreage dedication and the level of successful drilling activity by Antero Resources and (ii) the potential for acreage dedications with and 
successful drilling by third-party producers.  Any increase in our throughput volumes over the near term will likely be driven by Antero 
Resources continuing its drilling and development activities on its Appalachian Basin acreage.

● Water Handling Volumes.  Our fresh water volumes are primarily driven by hydraulic fracturing activities conducted as part of well 
completions.  Our other fluid handling volumes are driven by hydraulic fracturing activities and produced water volumes, which are 
primarily a function of Antero Resources’ completion activities and production.  Antero Resources’ consolidated acreage position allows us 
to provide fresh water and other fluid handling services for Antero Resources’ completion activities in a more efficient manner.  However, to 
the extent that Antero Resources’ drilling and completion schedule is not met, or Antero Resources uses less fresh water and other fluid 
handling services in its well completion operations than expected (for example, due to a reduction in completions), and production declines, 
our water volumes may decline.  
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Results of Operations

We have two operating segments: (i) gathering and processing and (ii) water handling. The gathering and processing segment includes a network 
of gathering pipelines and compressor stations that collect and process production from Antero Resources’ wells in the Appalachian Basin, as well as 
equity in earnings from our investments in the Joint Venture and Stonewall.  The Joint Venture and Stonewall provide processing, fractionation and high-
pressure gas gathering services in the Appalachian Basin.  The water handling segment includes (i) two independent systems that deliver water from 
sources including the Ohio River, local reservoirs and several regional waterways, and (ii) other fluid handling services, which include high rate transfer, 
wastewater transportation, disposal and blending.

Year Ended December 31, 2021 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2022

The operating results of our reportable segments were as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2021
Gathering and     Water         Consolidated

(in thousands)    Processing    Handling    Unallocated (1)    Total
Revenues:

Revenue–Antero Resources $  761,737  218,621  —  980,358
Revenue–third-party  —  516  —  516
Gathering—low pressure fee rebate  (12,000)  —  —  (12,000)
Amortization of customer relationships  (37,086)  (33,586)  —  (70,672)

Total revenues  712,651  185,551  —  898,202
Operating expenses:

Direct operating  65,983  91,137  —  157,120
General and administrative (excluding equity-based

compensation)  26,261  20,317  3,731  50,309
Equity-based compensation  10,119  2,500  910  13,529
Facility idling  —  3,997  —  3,997
Depreciation  59,692  49,098  —  108,790
Impairment of property and equipment  4,608  434  —  5,042
Accretion of asset retirement obligations  —  460  —  460
Loss on asset sale  3,628  —  —  3,628

Total operating expenses  170,291  167,943  4,641  342,875
Operating income  542,360  17,608  (4,641)  555,327

Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net  —  —  (175,281)  (175,281)
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates  90,451  —  —  90,451
Loss on early extinguishment of debt  —  —  (21,757)  (21,757)

Total other income (expense)  90,451  —  (197,038)  (106,587)
Income before income taxes  632,811  17,608  (201,679)  448,740

Income tax expense  —  —  (117,123)  (117,123)
Net income and comprehensive income $  632,811  17,608  (318,802)  331,617

Adjusted EBITDA (2) $  876,438

(1) Corporate expenses that are not directly attributable to either the gathering and processing or water handling segments.
(2) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. For a discussion of this measure, including a reconciliation to its most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented

in accordance with GAAP, see “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures”.
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Year Ended December 31, 2022
Gathering and     Water         Consolidated

(in thousands)     Processing     Handling     Unallocated (1)     Total
Revenues:

Revenue–Antero Resources $  791,265  244,770  —  1,036,035
Revenue–third-party  —  2,622  —  2,622
Gathering—low pressure fee rebate  (48,000)  —  —  (48,000)
Amortization of customer relationships  (37,086)  (33,586)  —  (70,672)

Total revenues  706,179  213,806  —  919,985
Operating expenses:

Direct operating  75,889  104,365  —  180,254
General and administrative (excluding equity-based

compensation)  24,578  13,080  4,813  42,471
Equity-based compensation  14,394  4,415  845  19,654
Facility idling  —  4,166  —  4,166
Depreciation  81,390  50,372  —  131,762
Impairment of property and equipment  1,130  2,572  —  3,702
Accretion of asset retirement obligations  —  222  —  222
Loss on settlement of asset retirement obligations  —  539  —  539
Gain on asset sale  (2,120)  (131)  —  (2,251)

Total operating expenses  195,261  179,600  5,658  380,519
Operating income  510,918  34,206  (5,658)  539,466

Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net  —  —  (189,948)  (189,948)
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates  94,218  —  —  94,218

Total other income (expense)  94,218  —  (189,948)  (95,730)
Income before income taxes  605,136  34,206  (195,606)  443,736

Income tax expense  —  —  (117,494)  (117,494)
Net income and comprehensive income $  605,136  34,206  (313,100)  326,242

Adjusted EBITDA (2) $  884,226

(1) Corporate expenses that are not directly attributable to either the gathering and processing or water handling segments.
(2) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. For a discussion of this measure, including a reconciliation to its most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented

in accordance with GAAP, see “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures”.
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The operating data for Antero Midstream is as follows:

Year Ended Amount of
December 31,  Increase Percentage

  2021   2022   or Decrease   Change
Operating Data:

Gathering—low pressure (MMcf)  1,060,444  1,088,036  27,592  3 %
Compression (MMcf)  1,006,366  1,034,052  27,686  3 %
Gathering—high pressure (MMcf)  1,037,094  1,027,459  (9,635)  (1) %
Fresh water delivery (MBbl)  34,572  37,685  3,113  9 %
Other fluid handling (MBbl)  16,930  19,059  2,129  13 %
Wells serviced by fresh water delivery  75  76  1  1 %
Gathering—low pressure (MMcf/d)  2,905  2,981  76  3 %
Compression (MMcf/d)  2,757  2,833  76  3 %
Gathering—high pressure (MMcf/d)  2,841  2,815  (26)  (1) %
Fresh water delivery (MBbl/d)  95  103  8  8 %
Other fluid handling (MBbl/d)  46  52  6  13 %

Average Realized Fees:
Average gathering—low pressure fee ($/Mcf) (1) $ 0.33 0.34  0.01  3 %
Average compression fee ($/Mcf) $ 0.20 0.21  0.01  3 %
Average gathering—high pressure fee ($/Mcf) $ 0.20 0.21  0.01  3 %
Average fresh water delivery fee ($/Bbl) $ 3.97 4.07  0.10  3 %

Joint Venture Operating Data:
Processing—Joint Venture (MMcf)  543,649  540,052  (3,597)  (1) %
Fractionation—Joint Venture (MBbl)  13,644  13,022  (622)  (5) %
Processing—Joint Venture (MMcf/d)  1,489  1,480  (9)  (1) %
Fractionation—Joint Venture (MBbl/d)  37  36  (1)  (3) %

(1) The year ended December 31, 2021 average realized fee does not include $2.4 million of low pressure gathering fee revenues which volumes relate to prior periods.

Revenues.  Total revenues increased by $22 million, from $898 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, to $920 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2022.  Amortization of customer relationships was $71 million during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022. Gathering and 
processing revenues decreased by 1%, from $713 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to $706 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.  
Water handling revenues increased by 15%, from $185 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to $214 million for the year ended December 31, 
2022.  These fluctuations primarily resulted from the following:

Gathering and Processing

● Low pressure gathering revenue decreased $22 million period over period primarily due to $36 million in higher fee rebates to Antero Resources
during the year ended December 31, 2022, partially offset by a 3% increase in the low pressure gathering rate as a result of the annual CPI-based
adjustment and by increased throughput volumes of 28 Bcf, or 76 MMcf/d.  Low pressure gathering volumes increased between periods 
primarily due to 327 additional wells being connected to our system since December 31, 2021, of which 253 wells are from our asset
acquisitions that closed during the fourth quarter of 2022.

● Compression revenue increased $11 million period over period due to a 3% increase in the compression rate as a result of the annual CPI-
based adjustment, as well as increased throughput volumes of 28 Bcf, or 76 MMcf/d and our asset acquisitions during the fourth quarter of 
2022.  Compression volumes increased primarily due to additional wells connected to our system since December 31, 2021 and 12 compressor
stations that were acquired during the fourth quarter of 2022.

● High pressure gathering revenue increased $4 million period over period due to a 3% increase to the high pressure gathering rate as a result of
the annual CPI-based adjustment partially offset by decreased throughput volumes of 10 Bcf, or 26 MMcf/d. The high pressure gathering
volumes decreased period over period primarily as a result of higher production from Antero Resources that was subject to a third-party high
pressure gathering acreage dedication, partially offset by 74 new wells connected to our high pressure system since December 31, 2021.  The 
assets we acquired during the year ended 
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December 31, 2022 were connected to our high pressure system prior to such acquisitions, and therefore, the 253 wells connected to such assets 
were already gathered by our existing high-pressure gathering system.

Water Handling

● Fresh water delivery revenue increased $16 million period over period primarily due to increased fresh water delivery volumes of 3 MMBbl, or
8 MBbl/d and a 3% increase to the fresh water delivery rate as a result of the annual CPI-based adjustment.

● Other fluid handling services revenue increased $13 million period over period primarily due to increased costs, partially due to inflationary
pressures that impact our cost plus 3% and cost of service rates, and increased other fluid handling volumes of 2 MMBbl, or 6 MBbl/d.

Direct operating expenses.  Total direct operating expenses increased by 15%, from $157 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to
$180 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.  Gathering and processing direct operating expenses increased 15% from $66 million for the year
ended December 31, 2021 to $76 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 primarily due to (i) higher throughput volumes between periods, (ii) 12
acquired compressors that came online during the fourth quarter of 2022 and (iii) higher chemical, fuel, labor and heavy maintenance expense.  Water 
handling direct operating expenses increased by 15%, from $91 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to $104 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022 primarily due to increased water blending locations, trucking rates, labor costs and Utica fresh water deliveries between periods.

General and administrative (excluding equity-based compensation) expenses.  General and administrative expenses (excluding equity-based
compensation expense) decreased 16%, from $50 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to $42 million for the year ended December 31, 2022
primarily due to (i) lower legal costs associated with the Veolia legal matter between periods and (ii) lower costs allocated to us from Antero Resources.

Equity-based compensation expenses.  Equity-based compensation expenses increased by 45% from $14 million to $20 million for the years
ended December 31, 2021 and 2022, respectively, primarily due to an increase in the annual equity awards granted during the year ended December 31,
2022 compared to prior years.

Facility idling expenses.  Facility idling expenses remained consistent at $4 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022.

Depreciation expense.  Total depreciation expense increased by 21% from $109 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to $132 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2022.  This increase is primarily due to (i) $16 million for a phased early retirement of an underutilized compressor station, 
(ii) $6 million related to gathering and processing system assets placed in service during 2022 and (iii) $1 million for our asset acquisitions during the 
fourth quarter of 2022.  The phased early retirement of an underutilized compressor station began in the second quarter of 2022 and will be completed by 
the first half of 2023, and allows us to relocate and reuse the compressor units and equipment to (i) expand an existing compressor station and/or (ii) 
contribute to a new compressor station. There are certain costs associated with the underutilized compressor station that cannot be relocated or reused, and 
such costs will be fully depreciated during the first half of 2023.

Impairment of property and equipment expense.  Impairment of property and equipment expense of $5 million for the year ended December 31, 
2021 was primarily a lower of cost or net realizable value adjustment for pipe inventory.  Impairment of property and equipment expense of $4 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2022 was primarily due to (i) a write-down of the Clearwater Facility related to the retirement obligation for the facility and 
(ii) cancelled projects. 

Loss (gain) on asset sale.  Loss on asset sale of $4 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 primarily relates to the sale of excess pipe 
inventory.  Gain on asset sale of $2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 primarily relates to (i) the sale of four compressor engines, (ii)
reimbursement of certain cancelled projects and (iii) sale of miscellaneous equipment and excess pipe inventory.

Interest expense.  Interest expense increased by 8%, from $175 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to $190 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2022 primarily due to (i) the issuance of $750 million of 5.375% senior notes due June 15, 2029 (the “2029 Notes”) on June 8, 2021, (ii) 
increased interest rates on our Credit Facility due to higher benchmark rates during the year ended December 31, 2022, and (iii) increased borrowings on 
our Credit Facility due to our asset acquisitions, partially offset by the redemption of all $650 million of the 2024 Notes on June 8, 2021. 
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Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates.  Equity in earnings in unconsolidated affiliates increased by 4%, from $90 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2021 to $94 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 primarily due to higher Joint Venture earnings as a result of annual CPI-
based adjustments for processing and fractionation fees, partially offset by lower processed volumes at the Joint Venture between periods.

Loss on early extinguishment of debt.  Loss on early extinguishment of debt for the year ended December 31, 2021 of $22 million primarily 
relates to the redemption of all $650 million of the 2024 Notes at a premium to par of $17 million as well as the write-off of $6 million of unamortized 
deferred financing costs, partially offset by $2 million of unamortized premium.  There was no loss on early extinguishment of debt for the year ended 
December 31, 2022.  

Income tax expense.  Income tax expense remained consistent for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022 at $117 million, which reflects 
effective tax rates of 26.1% and 26.5%, respectively.

Net income.  Net income decreased by 2% from $332 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to $326 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2022.  The decrease between periods was primarily related to higher direct operating costs, depreciation expense and interest expense and 
lower gathering and processing revenues, partially offset by higher water handling revenues, higher equity in earnings from unconsolidated affiliates and 
lower general and administrative costs.

Adjusted EBITDA.  Adjusted EBITDA increased by 1%, from $876 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to $884 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2022.  The increase between periods was primarily due to higher water handling revenues and lower general and administrative costs, 
excluding equity-based compensation, partially offset by higher direct operating costs and lower gathering and processing revenues.  For a discussion of 
the non-GAAP financial measure Adjusted EBITDA, including a reconciliation to its most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented 
in accordance with GAAP, read “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below.

Year Ended December 31, 2020 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2021

See “Item 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations —Results of Operations” in our 2021
Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of the results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to the year ended December 31,
2021.

Capital Resources and Liquidity

Sources and Uses of Cash

Capital resources and liquidity are provided by operating cash flows, available borrowings under our Credit Facility and capital market 
transactions.  See Note 8—Long-Term Debt to our consolidated financial statements.  We expect that the combination of these capital resources will be 
adequate to meet our working capital requirements, capital expenditures program, expected quarterly cash dividends and share repurchases under our share 
repurchases program for at least the next 12 months.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we paid dividends of $0.90 per share, or a total of $433 million, to holders of our common stock, as 
applicable, and we paid $550 thousand of dividends on our Series A Preferred Stock.  On January 11, 2023, the Board declared a cash dividend on the 
shares of our common stock of $0.2250 per share for the quarter ended December 31, 2022 paid on February 8, 2023 to stockholders of record as of 
January 25, 2023.  The Board also declared an aggregate cash dividend of $138 thousand on our Series A Preferred Stock that was paid on February 14, 
2023.   As of December 31, 2022, there were dividends in the amount of $69 thousand accumulated in arrears on our Series A Preferred Stock.

As of December 31, 2022, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.



Table of Contents

51

Cash Flows

The following table and discussion presents a summary of our net cash provided by (used in) operating activities, investing activities and
financing activities for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)     2021     2022
Net cash provided by operating activities $  709,752  699,604
Net cash used in investing activities  (233,242)  (493,826)
Net cash used in financing activities  (477,150)  (205,778)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents $  (640)  —

Year Ended December 31, 2021 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2022

Operating Activities.  Net cash provided by operating activities was $710 million and $700 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 
2022, respectively.  The decrease in net cash provided by operating activities between periods was primarily the due to (i) $16 million in income tax 
refunds received during the year ended December 31, 2021 from certain net operating loss carryback provisions included in the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, 
and Economic Security Act that was enacted in March 2020, (ii) higher direct operating costs, (iii) lower gathering and processing revenues, (iv) higher 
asset retirement obligation settlement costs and (v) higher interest expense payments, partially offset by higher water handling revenues and lower general 
and administrative costs, excluding equity-based compensation.

Investing Activities.  Net cash flows used in investing activities was $233 million and $494 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 
2022, respectively.  The increase in cash flows used in investing activities between periods was primarily due to (i) gathering systems and facilities asset 
acquisitions of $217 million during the year ended December 31, 2022, (ii) an increase in capital spending for expansion of our gathering systems of $41 
million and (iii) an increase in capital spending for expansion of our water handling systems of $25 million, partially offset by a $17 million return of 
capital distribution from the Joint Venture for a processing plant held in inventory that was sold by the Joint Venture during 2022 and an increase in asset 
sale proceeds of $4 million between periods. 

Financing Activities.  Net cash used in financing activities was $477 million and $206 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022, 
respectively.  The decrease in net cash used in financing activities between periods is primarily related to lower debt repurchases, higher net borrowings on 
our Credit Facility and lower total dividends paid to our common stockholders and preferred stockholders, partially offset by lower debt issuances.  Net 
cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 included: (i) issuance of the 2029 Notes of $750 million; (ii) repayment of the 2024 
Notes of $667 million, which includes the redemption premium at 102.688% of par, (iii) total dividends to our common stockholders and preferred 
stockholders of $472 million; (iv) $66 million in net payments on the Credit Facility; and (v) $17 million in deferred financing costs payments associated 
with the issuance of the 2029 Notes and the senior secured revolving credit facility amendment. Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended 
December 31, 2022 included net borrowings of $235 million on our Credit Facility and total dividends to our common stockholders and preferred 
stockholders of $433 million  

Year Ended December 31, 2020 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2021

See “Item 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations —Capital Resources and Liquidity” in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 for a discussion of the cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to
the year ended December 31, 2021.

Capital Investments

Our capital expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2022 were $265 million, including $209 million for gathering and compression
infrastructure and $73 million for water infrastructure, partially offset by a $17 million return of capital distribution from the Joint Venture for a processing
plant held in inventory that was sold by the Joint Venture during year ended December 31, 2022.

Our 2023 capital budget is $195 million to $215 million, which includes growth capital supporting the increased volumes expected from Antero 
Resources’ drilling partnership in addition to its maintenance capital program for 2023.  Our capital budgets may be adjusted as business conditions 
warrant.  If natural gas, NGLs and oil prices decline to levels below acceptable levels or costs increase to levels above acceptable levels, Antero Resources 
could choose to defer a significant portion of its budgeted capital expenditures until later periods.  As a result, we may also defer a significant portion of 
our budgeted capital expenditures to achieve the desired balance between sources and uses of liquidity and prioritize capital projects that we believe have 
the highest expected 



Table of Contents

52

returns and potential to generate consistent cash flows.  We routinely monitor and adjust our capital expenditures in response to changes in Antero 
Resources’ development plans, changes in prices, availability of financing, acquisition costs, industry conditions, the timing of regulatory approvals, 
success or lack of success in Antero Resources’ drilling activities, contractual obligations, internally generated cash flows and other factors both within and 
outside our control.

Debt Agreements

Credit Facility

Antero Midstream Partners, as borrower (the “Borrower”), an indirect, wholly owned subsidiary of Antero Midstream Corporation, has a senior 
secured revolving credit facility with a consortium of banks.  On October 26, 2021, we entered into an amended and restated senior secured revolving 
credit facility, the Credit Facility.  The Credit Facility provides for borrowing under either Adjusted Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) or 
the Base Rate (as each term is defined in the Credit Facility).

The Credit Facility has lender commitments of $1.25 billion and matures on October 26, 2026; provided that if on November 17, 2025 any of the 
7.875% senior notes due May 15, 2026 (the “2026 Notes”) are outstanding, the Credit Facility will mature on such date.  As of December 31, 2022, we had 
$782 million of borrowings and no letters of credit outstanding under the Credit Facility.  

We have a choice of borrowing at Adjusted Term SOFR or at the base rate.  Principal amounts borrowed are payable on the maturity date with 
such borrowings bearing interest that is payable (i) with respect to base rate loans, quarterly and (ii) with respect to SOFR Loans, the last day of each 
Interest Period (as defined below); provided that if any Interest Period for a SOFR Loan exceeds three months, interest will be payable on the respective 
dates that fall every three months after the beginning of such Interest Period.  SORF Loans bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the rate for SOFR rate 
loans for three or six months (the “Interest Period”) plus an applicable margin ranging from 150 to 250 basis points (subject to certain exceptions), 
depending on the leverage ratio then in effect. Base rate loans bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the greatest of (i) the agent bank’s reference rate, 
(ii) the federal funds effective rate plus 50 basis points and (iii) the rate for one month SOFR Rate loans plus 100 basis points, plus an applicable margin 
ranging from 50 to 150 basis points (subject to certain exceptions) depending on the leverage ratio then in effect.

The Credit Facility is guaranteed by our subsidiaries and is secured by mortgages on substantially all of Antero Midstream Partners’ and its
subsidiaries’ properties. The Credit Facility contains restrictive covenants that may limit our ability to, among other things:

● incur additional indebtedness;

● sell assets;

● make loans to others;

● make investments and acquisitions;

● enter into mergers;

● make certain restricted payments;

● incur liens; and

● engage in certain other transactions without the prior consent of the lenders.

The Credit Facility also requires us to maintain the following financial ratios (subject to certain exceptions):

● a consolidated interest coverage ratio, which is the ratio of our consolidated EBITDA to its consolidated current interest charges of at
least 2.5 to 1.0 at the end of each fiscal quarter;

● a consolidated total leverage ratio, which is the ratio of consolidated debt to consolidated EBITDA, of not more than 5.00 to 1.00 at the
end of each fiscal quarter; provided that, at our election (the “Financial Covenant Election”), the consolidated total leverage ratio shall be
no more than 5.25 to 1.0; and
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● after a Financial Covenant Election, a consolidated senior secured leverage ratio covenant rather than the consolidated total leverage
ratio covenant, which is the ratio of consolidated senior secured debt to consolidated EBITDA, of not more than 3.75 to 1.0.

We were in compliance with the applicable covenants and ratios as of December 31, 2022.

See Note 8—Long-Term Debt to the consolidated financial statements for more information on our Credit Facility.

Senior Notes

The following table summarizes the material terms of our senior unsecured notes as of December 31, 2022:

   2026 Notes 2027 Notes 2028 Notes 2029 Notes
Outstanding principal (in thousands) $  550,000 $  650,000 $  650,000 $  750,000
Interest rate  7.875 %  5.75 %  5.75 %  5.375 %
Maturity date May 15, 2026 March 1, 2027 January 15, 2028 June 15, 2029
Interest payment dates May 15, Nov. 15 Mar. 1, Sept. 1 Jan. 15, July 15 Jun. 15, Dec. 15
Make-whole redemption date (1) May 15, 2025 March 1, 2025 January 15, 2026 June 15, 2026

(1) On or after these dates, we may redeem the applicable series of senior notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount redeemed, together with 
accrued and unpaid interest up to the redemption date.  Prior to such date, we may, in certain circumstances, redeem the notes at a redemption price that includes an applicable premium as 
defined in the indentures to such notes.

See Note 8—Long-Term Debt to the consolidated financial statements for more information.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We use Adjusted EBITDA as an important indicator of our performance.  We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income before net interest expense, 
income tax expense, depreciation, impairments, accretion of asset retirement obligations, equity-based compensation, excluding equity in earnings of 
unconsolidated affiliates, amortization of customer relationships, loss on early extinguishment of debt, loss on settlement of asset retirement obligations, 
loss (gain) on asset sale and including distributions from unconsolidated affiliates.

We use Adjusted EBITDA to assess:

● the financial performance of our assets, without regard to financing methods, capital structure or historical cost basis;

● our operating performance and return on capital as compared to other publicly traded companies in the midstream energy sector, without
regard to financing or capital structure; and

● the viability of acquisitions and other capital expenditure projects.

Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure.  The GAAP measure most directly comparable to Adjusted EBITDA is net income.  The 
non-GAAP financial measure of Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as an alternative to the GAAP measure of net income.  Adjusted EBITDA 
presentations are not made in accordance with GAAP and have important limitations as an analytical tool because they include some, but not all, items that 
affect net income.  You should not consider Adjusted EBITDA in isolation or as a substitute for analyses of results as reported under GAAP.  Our definition 
of Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other corporations. 
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The following table represents a reconciliation of our Adjusted EBITDA to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure for the periods
presented:

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2021 2022
Net income $  331,617  326,242

Interest expense, net  175,281  189,948
Income tax expense  117,123  117,494
Depreciation expense  108,790  131,762
Amortization of customer relationships  70,672  70,672
Equity-based compensation  13,529  19,654
Impairment of property and equipment  5,042  3,702
Accretion of asset retirement obligations  460  222
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates  (90,451)  (94,218)
Distributions from unconsolidated affiliates  118,990  120,460
Loss on early extinguishment of debt  21,757  —
Loss on settlement of asset retirement obligations  —  539
Loss (gain) on asset sale  3,628  (2,251)

Adjusted EBITDA $  876,438  884,226

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our financial statements, which have been prepared 
in accordance with GAAP.  The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent liabilities.  Certain accounting policies involve judgments and 
uncertainties to such an extent that there is reasonable likelihood that materially different amounts could have been reported under different conditions, or 
if different assumptions had been used.  We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on a regular basis.  We base our estimates on historical experience and 
various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  Actual results may differ from these estimates and assumptions 
used in preparation of our financial statements.  We provide expanded discussion of our more significant accounting policies, estimates and judgments 
below.  We believe these accounting policies reflect our more significant estimates and assumptions used in preparation of our financial statements.  See 
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements for a discussion of additional accounting policies and 
estimates made by management.

Fair Value Measurement

The FASB ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, clarifies the definition of fair value, establishes a framework for measuring 
fair value, and sets forth disclosure requirements about fair value measurements.  This guidance also relates to all nonfinancial assets and liabilities that are 
not recognized or disclosed on a recurring basis (e.g., the initial recognition of asset retirement obligations and impairments of long-lived assets).  The fair 
value is the price that we estimate would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date.  A fair value hierarchy is used to prioritize inputs to valuation techniques used to estimate fair value.  An asset or liability subject to 
the fair value requirements is categorized within the hierarchy based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.  Our 
assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the asset 
or liability.  The highest priority (Level 1) is given to unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, and the lowest 
priority (Level 3) is given to unobservable inputs.  Level 2 inputs are data, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired in the acquisition of a business.  We
test goodwill for impairment annually in the fourth quarter and when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the fair value of a reporting unit with
goodwill has been reduced below its carrying value.  The impairment test requires allocating goodwill and other assets and liabilities to reporting units. 
The fair value of each reporting unit is determined and compared to the carrying value of the reporting unit.  The fair value is calculated using the expected
present value of future cash flows method. Significant assumptions used in the cash flow forecasts include future net operating margins, future volumes,
discount rates and future capital requirements. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying value, including goodwill, the excess of the
book value over the fair value of goodwill is charged to net income as an impairment expense.
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We utilized a combination of approaches to estimate the fair value of our assets including the discounted cash flow approach, comparable 
company method and the cost approach, whereby certain property and equipment was adjusted for recent purchases of similar items, economic and 
functional obsolescence, location, normal useful lives and capacity (if applicable).  We performed our first quarter of 2020 quantitative analysis using a 
weighted-average cost of capital of 18.0%, which was based on significant inputs not observable in the market, and thus represents a Level 3 measurement 
within the fair value hierarchy.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment primarily consists of gathering pipelines, compressor stations and the water handling assets.  We evaluate our long-lived 
assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the related carrying values of the assets may not be recoverable.  Generally, 
the basis for making such assessments is undiscounted future cash flow projections for the assets being assessed.  If the carrying values of the assets are 
deemed not recoverable, the carrying values are reduced to the estimated fair values, which are calculated using the expected present value of future cash 
flows method.  Significant assumptions used in the cash flow forecasts include future net operating margins, future volumes, discount rates and future 
capital requirements.  

We utilized a discounted cash flow approach to estimate the fair value of our assets.  We performed our first quarter of 2020 quantitative analysis 
using a weighted-average cost of capital of 19.0%, which was based on significant inputs not observable in the market, and thus represents a Level 3 
measurement within the fair value hierarchy.

Contingent Acquisition Consideration

In connection with our September 2015 acquisition of certain water handling assets, we agreed to pay Antero Resources (a) $125 million in cash if
we delivered 176 million barrels or more of fresh water during the period between January 1, 2017 and December 31, 2019 and (b) an additional $125
million in cash if we delivered 219 million barrels or more of fresh water during the period between January 1, 2018 and December 31, 2020.  This 
contingent consideration liability was valued based on Level 3 inputs related to the expected average volumes and weighted average cost of capital and was 
recorded at the time of such acquisition in accordance with accounting guidance for business combinations.  In January 2020, Antero Midstream Partners
paid Antero Resources $125 million and, as of December 31, 2020, no additional contingent acquisition consideration was earned.

General and Administrative and Equity-Based Compensation Costs

General and administrative costs are charged or allocated to us based on the nature of the expenses and are allocated based on our proportionate 
share of Antero Resources’ gross property and equipment, capital expenditures and labor costs, as applicable.  These allocations are based on estimates and 
assumptions that management believes are reasonable.

Equity-based compensation grants are measured at their grant date fair value and related compensation cost is recognized over the vesting period 
of the grant.  Compensation cost for awards with graded vesting provisions is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of each 
separately vesting portion of the award.  Estimating the fair value of each award requires management to apply judgment.

Equity-based compensation expenses that are subject to allocation as described in “—Principal Components of our Cost Structure,” are allocated 
to us based on our proportionate share of Antero Resources’ labor costs.  These allocations are based on estimates and assumptions that management 
believes are reasonable.

New Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements for information on new accounting
pronouncements.

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The primary objective of the following information is to provide forward-looking quantitative and qualitative information about our potential 
exposure to market risk.  The term “market risk” refers to the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in commodity prices and interest rates.  The 
disclosures are not meant to be precise indicators of expected future losses, but rather indicators of reasonably possible losses.  This forward-looking 
information provides indicators of how we view and manage our ongoing market risk exposures.
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Commodity Price Risk

Our gathering and compression and water services agreements with Antero Resources provide for fixed-fee and cost of service fee structures, and
we intend to continue to pursue additional fixed-fee or cost of service fee opportunities with Antero Resources and third parties in order to avoid direct 
commodity price exposure.  However, to the extent that our future contractual arrangements with Antero Resources or third parties do not provide for 
fixed-fee or cost of service fee structures, we may become subject to commodity price risk.  We are subject to commodity price risks to the extent that they 
impact Antero Resources’ development program and production and therefore our gathering, compression and water handling volumes.  We cannot predict 
to what extent our business would be impacted by lower commodity prices and any resulting impact on Antero Resources’ operations.

Interest Rate Risk

Our primary exposure to interest rate risk results from outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility, which has a floating interest rate.  We do 
not currently, but may in the future, hedge the interest on portions of our borrowings under the Credit Facility from time-to-time in order to manage risks 
associated with floating interest rates.  As of December 31, 2022, we had $782 million of borrowings and no letters of credit outstanding under the Credit 
Facility.  A 1.0% increase in the Credit Facility interest rate would have resulted in an estimated $6 million increase in interest expense for the year ended 
December 31, 2022. 

Credit Risk

We are dependent on Antero Resources as our primary customer, and we expect to derive substantially all of our revenues from Antero Resources 
for the foreseeable future.  As a result, any event, whether in our area of operations or otherwise, that adversely affects Antero Resources’ production, 
drilling schedule, financial condition, leverage, market reputation, liquidity, results of operations or cash flows may adversely affect our revenues and 
operating results.

Further, we are subject to the risk of non-payment or non-performance by Antero Resources, including with respect to our gathering and 
compression and water handling services agreements.  We cannot predict the extent to which Antero Resources’ business would be impacted if conditions 
in the energy industry were to deteriorate, nor can we estimate the impact such conditions would have on Antero Resources’ ability to execute its drilling 
and development program or to perform under our agreements.  Any material non-payment or non-performance by Antero Resources could adversely 
affect our revenues and operating results and our ability to return capital to stockholders.

ITEM 8.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, Consolidated Financial Statements and supplementary financial data required for
this Item are set forth beginning on page  F-2 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Exchange Act we have evaluated, under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this annual report.  Our disclosure 
controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file under the 
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as 
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified 
in the rules and forms of the SEC.  Based upon that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure 
controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2022 at a reasonable assurance level. 
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act)
during the three months ended December 31, 2022 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.  

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for us as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act.  This system is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and dispositions of the assets;

(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our
management and directors; and

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, a system of internal control over financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance and may not 
prevent or detect all misstatements.  Further, because of changes in conditions, effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting may vary over 
time.

Under the supervision of, and with the participation of our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework and criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework in 2013, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  Based on this evaluation, 
our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2022.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 has been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears on page F-2 in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9B.  OTHER INFORMATION

Amended and Restated Bylaws

On February 14, 2023, the Board approved an amendment and restatement of the Company’s bylaws (as amended and restated, the “A&R
Bylaws”), effective as of such date. Among other matters, the A&R Bylaws:

● revise procedures and disclosure requirements for the nomination of directors to address new Rule 14a-19 of the Exchange Act; and

● make other minor administrative, modernizing, clarifying and conforming changes, including adding certain clarifying language to better
conform the A&R Bylaws to the DGCL.

The foregoing summary of the amendments to the Company’s bylaws does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference
to the complete text of the A&R Bylaws, a copy of which is filed as Exhibit 3.3 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by
reference.
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ITEM 9C.  DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS 

Not applicable.

PART III

ITEM 10.  DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, we incorporate by reference into this Item the information to be disclosed in our definitive
proxy statement for our 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Code of Ethics

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K relating to amendments to or waivers from any provision of our
Corporate Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer and
other persons performing similar functions by posting such information in the “Governance” subsection of our website at www.anteromidstream.com.

ITEM 11.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, we incorporate by reference into this Item the information to be disclosed in our definitive 
proxy statement for our 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.   

ITEM 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER 
MATTERS

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, we incorporate by reference into this Item the information to be disclosed in our definitive
proxy statement for our 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

ITEM 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, we incorporate by reference into this Item the information to be disclosed in our definitive
proxy statement for our 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Our independent registered accounting firm is KPMG LLP, Denver, CO, Auditor Firm ID: 185.

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, we incorporate by reference into this Item the information to be disclosed in our definitive
proxy statement for our 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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PART IV

ITEM 15.  EXHIBIT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1) and (a)(2) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules

The consolidated financial statements are listed on the Index to Financial Statements to this Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on page F-1.

(a)(3) Exhibits.

Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit

2.1 Simplification Agreement, dated as of October 9, 2018, by and among AMGP GP LLC, Antero Midstream GP LP, Antero IDR
Holdings LLC, Arkrose Midstream Preferred Co LLC, Arkrose Midstream NewCo Inc., Arkrose Midstream Merger Sub LLC,
Antero Midstream Partners GP LLC and Antero Midstream Partners LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Antero
Midstream GP LP’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on October 10, 2018).

3.1 Certificate of Conversion of Antero Midstream Corporation, dated March 12, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on March 12, 2019).

3.2 Certificate of Incorporation of Antero Midstream Corporation, dated March 12, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on March 12, 2019).

3.3* Amended and Restated Bylaws of Antero Midstream Corporation, dated February 14, 2023.

3.4 Certificate of Designations of Antero Midstream Corporation, dated March 12, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on March 12, 2019).

4.1 Indenture, dated as of February 25, 2019, by and among Antero Midstream Partners LP, Antero Midstream Finance Corporation,
the subsidiary guarantors party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on February 25, 2019).

4.2 Form of 5.75% Senior Note due 2027 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on February 25, 2019).

4.3 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 15, 2019, among Antero Midstream Partners LP, Antero Midstream Finance
Corporation, Antero Midstream Corporation, each of the other parties identified therein and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, a national banking association, to the indenture governing the 2027 Notes (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on April 16, 2019).

4.4 Indenture, dated as of June 28, 2019, by and among Antero Midstream Partners LP, Antero Midstream Finance Corporation, the
guarantors party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on June 28, 2019).

4.5 Form of 5.75% Senior Note due 2028 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on June 28, 2019).

4.6 Registration Rights Agreement, dated March 12, 2019, by and among the Company, Antero Resources Corporation, Arkrose
Subsidiary Holdings LLC, Glen C. Warren, Jr., Canton Investment Holdings LLC, Paul M. Rady, Mockingbird Investments, LLC
and the other holders named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on March 12, 2019).

4.7 Indenture, dated as of November 10, 2020, by and among Antero Midstream Partners LP, Antero Midstream Finance Corporation,
the guarantors party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000110465918061231/a18-36477_2ex2d1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000110465919014276/a19-6219_4ex3d2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000110465919014276/a19-6219_4ex3d3.htm
https://s3.amazonaws.com/content.stockpr.com/anteromidstream/sec/0001558370-23-001377/for_pdf/am-20221231xex3d3.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000110465919014276/a19-6219_4ex3d1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000110465919010361/a19-5342_1ex4d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000110465919010361/a19-5342_1ex4d1.htm#Exhibit4_1_125351
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000110465919021415/a19-8358_1ex4d1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000110465919021415/a19-8358_1ex4d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000110465919010361/a19-5342_1ex4d1.htm#Exhibit4_1_125351
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000110465919038265/a19-12084_2ex4d1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000110465919014276/a19-6219_4ex4d1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000110465919014276/a19-6219_4ex4d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000110465920123610/tm2034964d3_ex4-1.htm
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(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-38075) filed
on November 10, 2020)

4.8 Form of 7.875% Senior Note due 2026 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on November 10, 2020).

4.9 Description of Securities Registered Under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.11 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on February 12,
2020).

4.10 Indenture, dated June 8, 2021, by and among Antero Midstream Partners LP, Antero Midstream Finance Corporation, the
guarantors party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on June 8, 2021).

4.11 Form of 5.375% Senior Note due 2029 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on June 8, 2021).

10.1 Second Amended and Restated Gathering and Compression Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2019, by and between Antero
Resources Corporation and Antero Midstream LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K (Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on February 12, 2020).

10.2 Amended and Restated Secondment Agreement, effective as of March 13, 2019, by and between Antero Midstream Corporation,
Antero Midstream Partners LP, Antero Midstream Partners GP LLC, Antero Midstream LLC, Antero Water LLC, Antero
Treatment LLC and Antero Resources Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K (Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on February 12, 2020).

10.3 Second Amended and Restated Services Agreement, effective as of March 13, 2019, by and among Antero Midstream Partners LP,
Antero Midstream Corporation, Antero Midstream Partners GP LLC and Antero Resources Corporation (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on February 12, 2020).

10.4** Amended and Restated Water Services Agreement, dated as of February 12, 2019, by and between Antero Resources Corporation
and Antero Water LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Antero Midstream Partners LP’s Annual Report on Form 10-
K (Commission File No. 001-36719) filed on February 13, 2019).

10.5 Amended and Restated Contribution Agreement, dated as of November 10, 2014, by and between Antero Resources Corporation
and Antero Midstream Partners LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Antero Midstream Partners LP’s Current Report
on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-36719) filed on November 17, 2014).

10.6 Second Amended and Restated Right of First Offer Agreement, dated as of February 13, 2018, by and between Antero Resources
Corporation and Antero Midstream LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Antero Midstream Partners LP’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 001-36719) filed on April 25, 2018).

10.7 License Agreement, dated as of November 10, 2014, by and between Antero Resources Corporation and Antero Midstream
Partners LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Antero Midstream Partners LP’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission File No. 001-36719) filed on November 17, 2014).

10.8 First Amendment and Joinder Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Antero
Midstream Partners LP’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-36719) filed on November 2, 2018).

10.9 Second Amendment, dated as of February 26, 2019, by and among the Lenders party thereto, Antero Midstream Partners LP, and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on February 12, 2020).

10.10 Joinder Agreement, dated as of November 19, 2019, by and among the Lenders party thereto, Antero Midstream Partners LP, and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on February 12, 2020).

10.11 Second Amended and Restated Credit Facility, dated as of October 26, 2021, by and among Antero Midstream Partners LP, as
Borrower, the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association., as

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000110465920123610/tm2034964d3_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000110465920123610/tm2034964d3_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000155837020000723/ex-4d11.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001623925/000110465921078329/tm2119014d1_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001623925/000110465921078329/tm2119014d1_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001623925/000155837020000723/ex-10d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000155837020000723/ex-10d2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000155837020000723/ex-10d3.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1598968/000155837019000632/am-20181231ex1042139c4.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1598968/000110465914081082/a14-24450_1ex10d1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1598968/000110465914081082/a14-24450_1ex10d1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1598968/000155837018003256/am-20180331ex102cec96a.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1598968/000155837018003256/am-20180331ex102cec96a.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1598968/000110465914081082/a14-24450_1ex10d4.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1598968/000110465914081082/a14-24450_1ex10d4.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1598968/000110465918065762/a18-39381_2ex10d1.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1598968/000110465918065762/a18-39381_2ex10d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000155837020000723/ex-10d9.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000155837020000723/ex-10d10.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000155837021013626/am-20210930xex10d1.htm
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Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission
File No. 001-38075) filed on October 27, 2021).

10.12† Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on March 12, 2019).

10.13† Antero Midstream Corporation Long Term Incentive Plan, effective as of March 12, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A (Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on March 12, 2019).

10.14† Letter to Phantom Unitholders under the Antero Midstream Partners LP Long-Term Incentive Plan Regarding the Phantom Unit
Exchange (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File No.
001-38075) filed on May 1, 2019).

10.15† Form of Performance Share Unit Grant Notice and Performance Share Unit Agreement under the Antero Midstream Corporation
Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on July 31, 2019).

10.16† Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Antero Midstream Corporation Long
Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission
File No. 001-38075) filed on July 31, 2019).

10.17† Form of Phantom Unit Agreement under the Antero Midstream Partners LP Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.4 to Antero Midstream Partners LP’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Commission File No. 333-200111) filed on
November 12, 2014).

10.18† Global Grant Amendment to Grant Notices and Award Agreements Under the Antero Midstream Partners LP Long-Term Incentive
Plan, effective as of October 24, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Antero Midstream Partners LP’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 001-36719) filed on October 26, 2016).

10.19† Form of Retention Award Grant Notice and Retention Award Agreement under the Antero Midstream Corporation Long Term
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File No.
001-38075) filed on April 29, 2020).

10.20† Form of Retention Award Grant Notice and Retention Award Agreement under the Antero Midstream Corporation Long Term
Incentive Plan (Employees) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on October 28, 2020).

10.21† Form of Performance Share Unit Grant Notice and Performance Share Unit Agreement under the Antero Midstream Corporation
Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(Commission File No. 001-38075) filed on July 27, 2022).

10.22 Stockholders’ Agreement, dated as of October 9, 2018, by and among Antero Midstream GP LP, Arkrose Subsidiary Holdings
LLC, Paul M. Rady, Mockingbird Investment, LLC, Glen C. Warren, Jr., Canton Investment Holdings LLC and the other holders
named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File
No. 001-38075) filed on October 10, 2018).

21.1* Subsidiaries of Antero Midstream Corporation.

23.1* Consent of KPMG LLP.

31.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 7241).

31.2* Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 7241).

32.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).

32.2* Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000155837021013626/am-20210930xex10d1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000110465919014276/a19-6219_4ex10d1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000110465919014276/a19-6219_4ex10d3.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000155837019003744/amgp-20190331ex107959d41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000155837019006670/amgp-20190630ex101ae8bdf.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000155837019006670/amgp-20190630ex102d7b047.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1598968/000110465914079665/a14-24164_1ex4d4.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1598968/000155837016008744/am-20160930ex1013c5a73.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000155837020004617/amgp-20200331xex10d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000155837020011882/amgp-20200930xex10d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000155837022011142/am-20220630xex10d1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000110465918061231/a18-36477_2ex10d3.htm#Exhibit:http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1623925/000110465918061231/a18-36477_2ex10d3.htm
https://s3.amazonaws.com/content.stockpr.com/anteromidstream/sec/0001558370-23-001377/for_pdf/am-20221231xex21d1.htm
https://s3.amazonaws.com/content.stockpr.com/anteromidstream/sec/0001558370-23-001377/for_pdf/am-20221231xex23d1.htm
https://s3.amazonaws.com/content.stockpr.com/anteromidstream/sec/0001558370-23-001377/for_pdf/am-20221231xex31d1.htm
https://s3.amazonaws.com/content.stockpr.com/anteromidstream/sec/0001558370-23-001377/for_pdf/am-20221231xex31d2.htm
https://s3.amazonaws.com/content.stockpr.com/anteromidstream/sec/0001558370-23-001377/for_pdf/am-20221231xex32d1.htm
https://s3.amazonaws.com/content.stockpr.com/anteromidstream/sec/0001558370-23-001377/for_pdf/am-20221231xex32d2.htm
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101* The following financial information from this Form 10-K of Antero Midstream Corporation for the year ended December 31,
2022, formatted in iXBRL (Inline eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss), (iii) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity, (iv)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and (v) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, tagged as blocks of text.

104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document).

The exhibits marked with the asterisk symbol (*) are filed or furnished with this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
** Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment.
† Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ANTERO MIDSTREAM CORPORATION

By: /s/ BRENDAN E. KRUEGER
Brendan E. Krueger
Chief Financial Officer, Vice President – Finance and Treasurer

Date: February 15, 2023

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature    Title    Date

Chairman of the Board, Director,
/s/ PAUL M. RADY President and Chief Executive Officer February 15, 2023

Paul M. Rady (principal executive officer)

Chief Financial Officer,
/s/ BRENDAN E. KRUEGER Vice President – Finance and Treasurer February 15, 2023

Brendan E. Krueger (principal financial officer)

Senior Vice President – Accounting and
/s/ SHERI L. PEARCE Chief Accounting Officer February 15, 2023

Sheri L. Pearce (principal accounting officer)

/s/ MICHAEL N. KENNEDY Director and Senior Vice President – Finance February 15, 2023
Michael N. Kennedy

/s/ NANCY E. CHISHOLM Director February 15, 2023
Nancy E. Chisholm

/s/ PETER A. DEA Director February 15, 2023
Peter A. Dea

/s/ W. HOWARD KEENAN, JR. Director February 15, 2023
W. Howard Keenan, Jr.

/s/ DAVID H. KEYTE Director February 15, 2023
David H. Keyte

/s/ BROOKS J. KLIMLEY Director February 15, 2023
Brooks J. Klimley

/s/ JANINE J. MCARDLE Director February 15, 2023
Janine J. McArdle

/s/ JOHN C. MOLLENKOPF Director February 15, 2023
John C. Mollenkopf
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Antero Midstream Corporation:

Opinions on the Consolidated Financial Statements and Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Antero Midstream Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31,
2021 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). We also have audited
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control –Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2021 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2022, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 based on criteria established in Internal Control –Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Basis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting,
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and an opinion
on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our
audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also
included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.



Table of Contents

F-3

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not
alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Lease classification for ongoing modifications to the gathering and compression assets  

As discussed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company determined that the gathering and compression agreements with
Antero Resources Corporation are operating leases. The Company continues to expand its gathering and compression system to serve its customer
and, as a result, the minimum volume commitments and the lease payments increase for the expanded system. The increases in volume
commitments and lease payments are modifications of the agreements that require evaluation of the lease classification.

We identified the evaluation of lease classification for ongoing modifications to the gathering and compression assets as a critical audit matter.
The evaluation of lease classification for these modified leases, including evaluating the economic life as a key estimate, required significant
judgment.

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included the following. We evaluated the design and tested the
operating effectiveness of the internal control over the Company’s process for identifying lease modifications and evaluating lease classification
for those modifications, including the review and approval of the Company’s lease modifications and the Company’s evaluation of the lease
classification. We evaluated the Company’s accounting memoranda and documentation underlying the accounting conclusions reached, including
application of relevant accounting guidance in regard to the modification accounting and subsequent lease classification. We evaluated the
economic life used in the determination of lease classification by comparing it to relevant industry publications. We evaluated fixed assets that are
placed in service for new minimum volume commitments which would require reassessment of the lease.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2016.

Denver, Colorado
February 15, 2023
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ANTERO MIDSTREAM CORPORATION
Consolidated Balance Sheets

 (In thousands, except per share amounts)

December 31,
    2021    2022  

Assets
Current assets:

Accounts receivable–Antero Resources $ 81,197 86,152
Accounts receivable–third party 747 575
Income tax receivable 940 940
Other current assets 920 1,326

Total current assets 83,804 88,993

Property and equipment, net 3,394,746 3,751,431
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates 696,009 652,767
Customer relationships 1,356,775 1,286,103
Other assets, net 12,667 12,026

Total assets $ 5,544,001 5,791,320

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable–Antero Resources $ 4,956 5,436
Accounts payable–third party 23,592 22,865
Accrued liabilities 80,838 72,715
Other current liabilities 4,623 1,061

Total current liabilities 114,009 102,077
Long-term liabilities:

Long-term debt 3,122,910 3,361,282
Deferred income tax liability 13,721 131,215
Other 6,663 4,428

Total liabilities 3,257,303 3,599,002

Stockholders' Equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value: 100,000 authorized as of December 31, 2021 and 2022

Series A non-voting perpetual preferred stock; 12 designated and 10 issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2021 and 2022 — —

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 2,000,000 authorized; 477,495 and 478,497 issued and outstanding as
of December 31, 2021 and 2022, respectively 4,775 4,785

Additional paid-in capital 2,414,398 2,104,740
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) (132,475) 82,793

Total stockholders' equity 2,286,698 2,192,318
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 5,544,001 5,791,320

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ANTERO MIDSTREAM CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)

 (In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,
    2020     2021     2022

Revenue:             
Gathering and compression–Antero Resources $ 711,459 749,737 743,265
Water handling–Antero Resources 259,932 218,621 244,770
Water handling–third party — 516 2,622
Amortization of customer relationships (70,672) (70,672) (70,672)

Total revenue 900,719 898,202 919,985
Operating expenses:

Direct operating 165,386 157,120 180,254
General and administrative (including $12,778, $13,529 and $19,654 of equity-based

compensation in 2020, 2021 and 2022, respectively) 52,213 63,838 62,125
Facility idling 15,219 3,997 4,166
Depreciation 108,790 108,790 131,762
Impairment of property and equipment 98,179 5,042 3,702
Impairment of goodwill 575,461 — —
Accretion of asset retirement obligations 180 460 222
Loss on settlement of asset retirement obligations — — 539
Loss (gain) on asset sale 2,929 3,628 (2,251)

Total operating expenses 1,018,357 342,875 380,519
Operating income (loss) (117,638) 555,327 539,466

Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net (147,007) (175,281) (189,948)
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates 86,430 90,451 94,218
Loss on early extinguishment of debt — (21,757) —

Total other expense (60,577) (106,587) (95,730)
Income (loss) before income taxes (178,215) 448,740 443,736

Income tax benefit (expense) 55,688 (117,123) (117,494)
Net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) $ (122,527) 331,617 326,242

Net income (loss) per share–basic $ (0.26) 0.69 0.68
Net income (loss) per share–diluted $ (0.26) 0.69 0.68

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 478,278 477,270 478,232
Diluted 478,278 479,736 480,300

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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ANTERO MIDSTREAM CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

 (In thousands)

Additional
Retained
Earnings

Preferred Common Stock Paid-In (Accumulated Total
Stock Shares Amount Capital Deficit) Equity

Balance at December 31, 2019 $ — 484,042 $ 4,840 3,480,139 (341,565) 3,143,414
Dividends to stockholders — — — (590,190) — (590,190)
Equity-based compensation — — — 12,778 — 12,778
Issuance of common stock upon vesting of equity-based

compensation awards, net of common stock withheld for
income taxes — 507 5 (481) — (476)

Repurchases and retirement of common stock — (7,910) (79) (24,634) — (24,713)
Net loss and comprehensive loss — — — — (122,527) (122,527)

Balance at December 31, 2020 — 476,639 4,766 2,877,612 (464,092) 2,418,286
Dividends to stockholders — — — (471,721) — (471,721)
Equity-based compensation — — — 13,529 — 13,529
Issuance of common stock upon vesting of equity-based

compensation awards, net of common stock withheld for
income taxes — 856 9 (5,022) — (5,013)

Net income and comprehensive income — — — — 331,617 331,617
Balance at December 31, 2021 — 477,495 4,775 2,414,398 (132,475) 2,286,698

Dividends to stockholders — — — (322,401) (110,974) (433,375)
Equity-based compensation — — — 19,654 — 19,654
Issuance of common stock upon vesting of equity-based

compensation awards, net of common stock withheld for
income taxes — 1,002 10 (6,911) — (6,901)

Net income and comprehensive income — — — — 326,242 326,242
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ — 478,497 $ 4,785 2,104,740 82,793 2,192,318

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ANTERO MIDSTREAM CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

 (In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
    2020     2021     2022  

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities:               
Net income (loss) $ (122,527) 331,617 326,242
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 108,790 108,790 131,762
Accretion of asset retirement obligations 180 460 222
Payment of contingent consideration in excess of acquisition date fair value (8,076) — —
Impairment 673,640 5,042 3,702
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) (171) 117,123 117,494
Equity-based compensation 12,778 13,529 19,654
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates (86,430) (90,451) (94,218)
Distributions from unconsolidated affiliates 98,858 118,990 120,460
Amortization of customer relationships 70,672 70,672 70,672
Amortization of deferred financing costs 4,503 5,549 5,716
Settlement of asset retirement obligations (2,183) (1,385) (5,454)
Loss on settlement of asset retirement obligations — — 539
Loss (gain) on asset sale 2,929 3,628 (2,251)
Loss on early extinguishment of debt — 21,757 —
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable–Antero Resources 27,306 (7,475) (3,354)
Accounts receivable–third party 1,434 904 723
Income tax receivable (17,251) 16,311 —
Other current assets 155 550 (313)
Accounts payable–Antero Resources 716 792 782
Accounts payable–third party 1,201 695 7,973
Accrued liabilities (13,142) (7,346) (747)

Net cash provided by operating activities 753,382 709,752 699,604
Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities:

Additions to gathering systems and facilities (157,931) (186,588) (227,561)
Additions to water handling systems (38,793) (46,237) (71,363)
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates (25,267) (2,070) —
Return of investment in unconsolidated affiliate — — 17,000
Acquisition of gathering systems and facilities — — (216,726)
Cash received in asset sale 822 1,653 5,726
Change in other assets 1,938 — (98)
Change in other liabilities — — (804)

Net cash used in investing activities (219,231) (233,242) (493,826)
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities:

Dividends to stockholders (589,640) (471,171) (432,825)
Dividends to preferred stockholders (550) (550) (550)
Repurchases of common stock (24,713) — —
Issuance of senior notes 550,000 750,000 —
Redemption of senior notes — (667,472) —
Payments of deferred financing costs (6,283) (16,603) (302)
Borrowings (repayments) on bank credit facilities, net (346,000) (66,300) 234,800
Payment of contingent acquisition consideration (116,924) — —
Employee tax withholding for settlement of equity compensation awards (476) (5,013) (6,901)
Other (160) (41) —

Net cash used in financing activities (534,746) (477,150) (205,778)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (595) (640) —

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 1,235 640 —
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 640 — —

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for interest $ 140,732 179,748 183,079
Cash received during the period for income taxes $ 39,205 16,311 —
Increase (decrease) in accrued capital expenditures and accounts payable for property and equipment $ (14,472) 26,995 (17,003)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(1)  Organization

Antero Midstream Corporation together with its consolidated subsidiaries (the “Company” or “Antero Midstream”), is a growth-oriented 
midstream company formed to own, operate and develop midstream energy infrastructure primarily to service Antero Resources and its production and 
completion activity in the Appalachian Basin.  The Company’s assets consist of gathering pipelines, compressor stations, interests in processing and 
fractionation plants and water handling assets.  Antero Midstream provides midstream services to Antero Resources under long-term contracts.  

The Company’s gathering and compression assets comprise of high and low pressure gathering pipelines, compressor stations and processing and 
fractionation plants that collect and process natural gas and NGLs from Antero Resources’ wells in the Appalachian Basin.  The Company’s water handling 
assets include two independent systems that deliver water from sources including the Ohio River, local reservoirs and several regional waterways, which 
portions of these systems are also utilized to transport flowback and produced water.  The Company’s water handling assets also include other flowback 
and produced water treatment facilities.

Antero Midstream also has a 50% equity interest in the Joint Venture and a 15% equity interest in a gathering system of Stonewall.  See Note 14
—Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates. 

The Company’s corporate headquarters is located in Denver, Colorado.

(2)  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP.  In the opinion of management, these 
consolidated financial statements include all adjustments (consisting of normal and recurring accruals) considered necessary to present fairly the 
Company’s financial position as of December 31, 2021 and 2022, and the results of the Company’s operations and its cash flows for the years ended 
December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022.  The Company has no items of other comprehensive income (loss); therefore, net income (loss) is equal to 
comprehensive income (loss). 

Certain costs of doing business incurred and charged to the Company by Antero Resources have been reflected in the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements.  These costs include general and administrative expenses provided to the Company by Antero Resources in exchange for:

● business services, such as payroll, accounts payable and facilities management;

● corporate services, such as finance and accounting, legal, human resources, investor relations and public and regulatory policy; and

● employee compensation, including equity-based compensation.

Transactions between the Company and Antero Resources have been identified in the consolidated financial statements (see Note 4—Transactions
with Affiliates).

(b) Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Antero Midstream Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiaries.  
All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Investments in entities for which the Company exercises significant influence, but not control, are accounted for under the equity method.  The 
Company’s judgment regarding the level of influence over its equity investments includes considering key factors such as Antero Midstream’s ownership 
interest, representation on the Board of Directors and participation in the policy-making decisions of equity method investees.  Such investments are 
included in Investments in unconsolidated affiliates on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.  Income from investees that are accounted for under the 
equity method is included in Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and cash flows.  When 
the Company records its proportionate share of net income, it increases equity income in the statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) and 
the 
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carrying value of that investment on the Company’s balance sheet.  When a distribution is received, it is recorded as a reduction to the carrying value of 
that investment on the balance sheet.

The Company accounts for distributions received from equity method investees under the “nature of the distribution” approach.  Under this 
approach, distributions received from equity method investees are classified on the basis of the nature of the activity or activities of the investee that 
generated the distribution as either a return on investment (classified as cash inflows from operating activities) or a return of investment (classified as cash 
inflows from investing activities).

(c) Revenue Recognition

The Company provides gathering, compression and water handling services under fee-based contracts primarily based on throughput or at cost 
plus a margin.  Certain of these contracts contain operating leases of the Company’s assets under GAAP.  Under these arrangements, the Company receives 
fees for gathering, compression and water handling services.  The revenue the Company earns from these arrangements is directly related to (i) in the case 
of natural gas gathering and compression, the volumes of metered natural gas that it gathers, compresses and delivers to natural gas compression sites or 
other transmission delivery points, (ii) in the case of fresh water services, the quantities of fresh water delivered to its customers for use in their well 
completion operations, (iii) in the case of other fluid handling services provided by third parties, the third-party costs the Company incurs plus 3% or (iv) 
in the case of other fluid handling services performed by the Company, a cost of service fee based on the costs incurred by the Company.  The Company 
recognizes revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation by delivering a service to a customer or the use of leased assets to a customer.  The Company 
includes lease revenue within revenues by service.  See Note 5—Revenue.  

(d) Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and notes in conformity with GAAP requires that management formulate estimates and 
assumptions that affect revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.  Items subject to estimates and assumptions 
include the useful lives of property and equipment, evaluating impairments of long-lived assets, goodwill and intangible assets, as well as the valuation of 
accrued liabilities and deferred and current income taxes, among others.  Although management believes these estimates are reasonable, actual results 
could differ from these estimates.

(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all liquid investments purchased with an initial maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.  The carrying 
value of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments.  

(f) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment primarily consists of (i) gathering pipelines, (ii) compressor stations, (iii) the wastewater treatment facility (the 
“Clearwater Facility”), (iv) other flowback and produced water facilities and (v) water handling pipelines and facilities stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairment.  The Company capitalizes construction-related direct labor and material costs.  Maintenance and 
repair costs are expensed as incurred.

Depreciation of property and equipment is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives and salvage values of assets.  
The depreciation of fixed assets recorded under operating lease agreements is included in depreciation expense.  Uncertainties that may impact these 
estimates of useful lives include, among others, changes in laws and regulations relating to environmental matters, including air and water quality, 
restoration and abandonment requirements, economic conditions and supply and demand for the Company’s services in the areas in which it operates.  
When assets are placed into service, management makes estimates with respect to useful lives and salvage values that management believes are reasonable.  

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the related carrying values of
the assets may not be recoverable.  Generally, the basis for making such assessments is undiscounted future cash flow projections for the assets being
assessed.  If the carrying values of the assets are deemed not recoverable, the carrying values are reduced to the estimated fair values, which are based on 
discounted future cash flows using assumptions as to revenues, costs and discount rates typical of third-party market participants, which is a Level 3 fair 
value measurement.  See Note 6— Property and Equipment for further information on property and equipment impairments.
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During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company acquired certain Marcellus gas gathering and compression assets and Utica compression 
assets.  These transactions were accounted for as asset acquisitions in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 805-50, Business Combinations, Related Issues 
(“ASC 805-50”).  Accordingly, the acquired assets were recorded based upon the cash consideration paid, with all value assigned to Property and 
equipment in the consolidated balance sheets.  See Note 6— Property and Equipment for further information on asset acquisitions.

(g) Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company’s asset retirement obligations include its obligation to close, maintain and monitor landfill cells and support facilities.  After the 
landfill is certified closed, the Company must continue to maintain and monitor the landfill for a post-closure period, which generally extends for 30 years.  
The Company records the fair value of its landfill retirement obligations as a liability in the period in which the regulatory obligation to retire a specific 
asset is triggered.  For the Company’s individual landfill cells, the required closure and post-closure obligations under the terms of its permits and its 
intended operation of the landfill cell are triggered and recorded when the cell is placed into service and salt is initially disposed in the landfill cell.  The 
fair value is based on the total estimated costs to close the landfill cell and perform post-closure activities once the landfill cell has reached capacity and is 
no longer accepting salt.  Retirement obligations are increased each year to reflect the passage of time by accreting the balance at the weighted average 
credit-adjusted risk-free rate that is used to calculate the recorded liability, with accretion charged to direct costs.  Actual cash expenditures to perform 
closure and post-closure activities reduce the retirement obligation liabilities as incurred.  After initial measurement, asset retirement obligations are 
adjusted at the end of each period to reflect changes, if any, in the estimated future cash flows underlying the obligation.  Landfill retirement assets are 
capitalized as the related retirement obligations are incurred, and are amortized on a units-of-consumption basis as the disposal capacity is consumed.  
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company commenced closure and reclamation operations on the landfill, and such closure and reclamation 
operations are currently ongoing as of December 31, 2022.

Asset retirement obligations are recorded for water impoundments and wastewater pits when an abandonment date is identified.  The Company 
records the fair value of its water impoundment and wastewater pit retirement obligations as liabilities in the period in which the regulatory obligation to 
retire a specific asset is triggered.  The fair value is based on the total reclamation costs of the assets.  Retirement obligations are increased each year to 
reflect the passage of time by accreting the balance at the weighted average credit-adjusted risk-free rate that is used to calculate the recorded liability, with 
accretion charged to direct costs.  Actual cash expenditures to perform remediation activities reduce the retirement obligation liabilities as incurred.  After 
initial measurement, asset retirement obligations are adjusted at the end of each period to reflect changes, if any, in the estimated future cash flows 
underlying the obligation.  Water impoundments and wastewater pit retirement assets are capitalized as the related retirement obligations are incurred, and 
are amortized on a straight-line basis until reclamation.  

The Company (i) is under no legal obligations, neither contractually nor under the doctrine of promissory estoppel, to restore or dismantle its
gathering pipelines, compressor stations, water delivery pipelines, flowback and produced water facilities and the Clearwater Facility upon abandonment or
(ii) intends to operate and maintain its assets as long as supply and demand for natural gas exists, which the Company expects to continue into the
foreseeable future.

(h) Litigation and Other Contingencies

A liability is recorded for a loss contingency when its occurrence is probable and damages can be reasonably estimated based on the anticipated 
most likely outcome or the minimum amount within a range of possible outcomes.  The Company regularly reviews contingencies to determine the 
adequacy of our accruals and related disclosures.  The ultimate amount of losses, if any, may differ from these estimates.  Any contingency that could result 
in a gain is recorded when realized.

The Company accrues losses associated with environmental obligations when such losses are probable and can be reasonably estimated.  Accruals 
for estimated environmental losses are recognized no later than at the time a remediation feasibility study or an evaluation of response options, is complete.  
These accruals are adjusted as additional information becomes available or as circumstances change.  Future environmental expenditures are not 
discounted to their present value.  Recoveries of environmental costs from other parties are recorded separately as assets at their undiscounted value when 
receipt of such recoveries is probable.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2022, the Company had not recorded any liabilities for litigation, environmental or other contingencies.
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(i) Equity-Based Compensation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements include equity-based compensation costs related to awards granted by its own plans, as in place 
before and after March 12, 2019, as well as costs allocated by Antero Resources for grants made prior to March 12, 2019.  Costs allocated from Antero 
Resources are offset to additional paid in capital on the consolidated balance sheet.  See Note 4—Transactions with Affiliates for additional information 
regarding Antero Resources’ allocation of expenses to the Company.  For awards granted under its own plan, the Company recognizes compensation cost 
related to all equity-based awards in the financial statements based on the estimated grant date fair value.  The Company is authorized to grant various 
types of equity-based compensation awards, including stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit (“RSU”) 
awards, dividend equivalent awards and other types of awards.  The grant date fair values of such awards are determined based on the type of award and 
may utilize market prices on the date of grant, Black-Scholes option-pricing model, Monte Carlo simulations or other acceptable valuation methodologies, 
as appropriate for the type of equity-based award.  Compensation cost is recognized ratably over the applicable vesting or service period.  Forfeitures are 
accounted for as they occur by reversing the expense previously recognized for awards that were forfeited during the period.  See Note 10—Equity-Based 
Compensation and Cash Awards.

(j) Income Taxes

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for temporary differences resulting from net operating loss and charitable contribution 
carryforwards and the differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities.  The effect of changes in tax laws or tax rates is 
recognized in income during the period such changes are enacted.  Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of 
management, it is more likely than not that some portion, or all, of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.  The Company regularly reviews its tax 
positions in each significant taxing jurisdiction during the process of evaluating its tax provision.  The Company makes adjustments to its tax provision 
when: (i) facts and circumstances regarding a tax position change, causing a change in management’s judgment regarding that tax position; and/or (ii) a tax 
position is effectively settled with a tax authority at a differing amount.

In March 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) was enacted.  The CARES Act allows corporations with 
NOL carryforwards incurred in 2018, 2019 and 2020 to carryback such NOL carryforwards to each of the five years preceding the year of the NOL 
carryforwards, beginning with the earliest year in which there was taxable income, and claim an income tax refund in the applicable carryback years.  As a 
result of this NOL carryforwards carryback provision in the CARES Act, the Company was able to recognize an income tax refund receivable in March 
2020 of $55 million, including $11 million in income tax benefit for the current year and $44 million of previously recognized deferred income tax benefit.  
As of December 31, 2021, the Company had received all of this refund.

(k) Fair Value Measures

The FASB ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, clarifies the definition of fair value, establishes a framework for measuring 
fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.  This guidance also relates to all nonfinancial assets and liabilities that are not 
recognized or disclosed on a recurring basis (e.g., the initial recognition of asset retirement obligations and impairments of long-lived assets).  The fair 
value is the price that the Company estimates would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date.  A fair value hierarchy is used to prioritize inputs to valuation techniques used to estimate fair value.  An asset or 
liability subject to the fair value requirements is categorized within the hierarchy based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement.  The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and 
considers factors specific to the asset or liability.  The highest priority (Level 1) is given to unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities, and the lowest priority (Level 3) is given to unobservable inputs.  Level 2 inputs are data, other than quoted prices included within 
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

The carrying values on the consolidated balance sheet of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable—Antero Resources, 
accounts receivable—third party, other current assets, accounts payable—Antero Resources, accounts payable—third party, accrued liabilities and, other 
current liabilities approximate fair values due to their short-term maturities.  The Company uses certain valuation techniques in performing its annual 
goodwill impairment test described below and in determining the fair value of property and equipment.  See Note 13—Fair Value Measurement.
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(l) Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates

The Company uses the equity method to account for its investments in companies if the investment provides the Company with the ability to 
exercise significant influence over, but not control of, the operating and financial policies of the investee.  The Company’s consolidated net income 
includes the Company’s proportionate share of the net income or loss of such companies.  The Company’s judgment regarding the level of influence over 
each equity method investee includes considering key factors such as the Company’s ownership interest, representation on the Board of Directors and 
participation in policy-making decisions of the investee and material intercompany transactions.  See Note 14—Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates.

(m) Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired in the acquisition of a business. 
Goodwill is not amortized, but rather is tested for impairment annually in the fourth quarter and when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
fair value of a reporting unit with goodwill has been reduced below its carrying value.  The impairment test requires allocating goodwill and other assets
and liabilities to reporting units.  The fair value of each reporting unit is determined and compared to the carrying value of the reporting unit.  The fair
value is calculated using the expected present value of future cash flows method. Significant assumptions used in the cash flow forecasts include future net
operating margins, future volumes, discount rates and future capital requirements. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying value,
including goodwill, the excess of the book value over the fair value of goodwill is charged to net income as an impairment expense. As of March 31, 2020,
the Company’s goodwill was fully impaired. See Note 3—Goodwill and Intangibles.

Amortization of intangible assets with definite lives is calculated using the straight-line method, which is reflective of the benefit pattern in which 
the estimated economic benefit is expected to be received over the estimated useful life of the intangible asset.  Intangible assets subject to amortization are 
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the intangible asset may not be recoverable.  If 
the sum of the expected undiscounted future cash flows related to the asset is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognized 
based on the fair value of the asset.  

(n) Dividends

Preferred and common dividends declared are recorded as a reduction of retained earnings to the extent that retained earnings were available at the
close of the quarter prior to the dividend declaration date, with any excess recorded as a reduction of additional paid-in capital.

(o) Treasury Share Retirement

The Company periodically retires treasury shares acquired through share repurchases and returns those shares to the status of authorized but 
unissued.  When treasury shares are retired, the Company’s policy is to allocate the excess of the repurchase price over the par value of shares acquired 
first, to additional paid-in capital, and then to retained earnings (accumulated deficit).  The portion allocable to additional paid-in capital is determined by 
applying a percentage, determined by dividing the number of shares to be retired by the number of shares outstanding, to the balance of additional paid-in 
capital as of retirement.

(p) Recently Adopted Accounting Standard

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes.  This ASU removes certain exceptions to
the general principles in ASC 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”) and also simplifies portions of ASC 740 by clarifying and amending existing guidance.  It is 
effective for interim and annual reporting periods after December 15, 2020.  The Company adopted this ASU on January 1, 2021, and it did not have a 
material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

(3)  Goodwill and Intangibles

(a) Goodwill

The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment annually during the fourth quarter and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate it 
is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit with goodwill is less than its carrying amount.  Significant assumptions used to estimate the 
reporting units’ fair value include the discount rate as well as estimates of future cash flows, which are impacted primarily by commodity prices and 
producer customers’ development plans (which impact volumes and 
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capital requirements).

During the first quarter of 2020, the Company performed an interim impairment analysis of the goodwill due to changes in Antero Resources’ 
drilling plans as a result of the decline in commodity prices.  As a result of this evaluation, the Company impaired all remaining goodwill of $575 million
associated with its gathering and processing segment.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment were as follows:

Gathering and Water     
(in thousands) Processing Handling Total
Goodwill as of December 31, 2019     $ 575,461 — 575,461

Impairment of goodwill (575,461) — (575,461)
Goodwill as of December 31, 2020 $ — — —

(b) Customer Relationships Intangibles

All customer relationships are subject to amortization and will be amortized over a weighted-average period of 19 years, which reflects the
remaining economic life of the relationships as of December 31, 2022.

The changes in the carrying amount of customer relationships were as follows (in thousands):

Customer relationships as of December 31, 2019     $ 1,498,119
Amortization of customer relationships (70,672)

Customer relationships as of December 31, 2020 1,427,447
Amortization of customer relationships (70,672)

Customer relationships as of December 31, 2021 1,356,775
Amortization of customer relationships (70,672)

Customer relationships as of December 31, 2022 $ 1,286,103

Future amortization expense is as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31, 2023 $ 70,672
Year ending December 31, 2024 70,672
Year ending December 31, 2025 70,672
Year ending December 31, 2026 70,672
Year ending December 31, 2027 70,672
Thereafter 932,743

Total $ 1,286,103

(4)  Transactions with Affiliates

(a) Revenues

Substantially all revenues earned in the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022 were earned from Antero Resources, under various 
agreements for gathering and compression and water handling services.  Revenues earned from gathering and compression services consists of lease 
income. 

(b) Accounts receivable—Antero Resources and Accounts payable—Antero Resources

Accounts receivable—Antero Resources represents amounts due from Antero Resources, primarily related to gathering and compression services 
and water handling services.  Accounts payable—Antero Resources represents amounts due to Antero Resources for general and administrative and other 
costs. 

(c) Allocation of Costs Charged by Antero Resources

The employees supporting the Company’s operations are concurrently employed by Antero Resources and the
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Company.  Direct operating expense includes costs charged to the Company of $7 million, $9 million and $14 million during the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, respectively. These costs were for services provided by employees associated with the operation of the Company’s
gathering lines, compressor stations and water handling assets.  For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, general and administrative
expenses charged to the Company by Antero Resources were $25 million, $32 million and $30 million, respectively.  These costs relate to: (i) various 
business services, including payroll processing, accounts payable processing and facilities management, (ii) various corporate services, including legal, 
accounting, treasury, information technology and human resources and (iii) compensation, including certain equity-based compensation.  These expenses 
are charged to the Company based on the nature of the expenses and are apportioned based on a combination of the Company’s proportionate share of 
gross property and equipment, capital expenditures and labor costs, as applicable.  The Company reimburses Antero Resources directly for all general and 
administrative costs charged to it, except costs attributable to noncash equity-based compensation, see Note 10—Equity-Based Compensation and Cash 
Awards.

(5)  Revenue

All of the Company’s gathering and compression revenues are derived from operating lease agreements, and all of the Company’s water handling 
revenues are derived from service contracts with customers.  The Company currently earns substantially all of its revenues from Antero Resources. 

(a) Gathering and Compression

The Company’s gathering and compression service agreements with Antero Resources include: (i) the 2019 gathering and compression 
agreement, (ii) Marcellus gathering and compression agreements and (iii) the Utica compression agreement.  See Note 6—Property and Equipment for
additional information. The 2019 gathering and compression agreement has an initial term through 2038, the Marcellus gathering and compression
agreements expire between 2023 and 2031, and the Utica compression agreement has two dedicated areas that expire in 2024 and 2030.  Upon expiration 
of each of the Marcellus gathering and compression service agreements and the Utica compression agreement, the Company will continue to provide 
gathering and compression services under the 2019 gathering and compression agreement.  Pursuant to the gathering and compression agreements, Antero 
Resources has dedicated substantially all of its current and future acreage in West Virginia, Ohio and Pennsylvania to the Company for gathering and 
compression services.  The Company also has an option to gather and compress natural gas produced by Antero Resources on any additional acreage it 
acquires during the term of the 2019 gathering and compression agreement outside of West Virginia, Ohio and Pennsylvania on the same terms and
conditions as the 2019 gathering compression agreement.

The 2019 gathering and compression agreement includes a growth incentive fee program whereby low pressure gathering fees will be reduced 
from 2020 through 2023 to the extent Antero Resources achieves certain quarterly volumetric targets during such time.  Antero Resources’ throughput on 
acquired assets is not considered in low pressure gathering volume targets.  For years ended December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, Antero Resources earned
$48 million, $12 million and $48 million, respectively, in fee rebates.  Upon completion of the initial contract term in 2038, the 2019 gathering and 
compression agreement will continue in effect from year to year until such time as the agreement is terminated, effective upon an anniversary of the 
effective date of the agreement, by either the Company or Antero Resources on or before the 180th day prior to the anniversary of such effective date.

Under the gathering and compression agreements, the Company receives a low pressure gathering fee, a high pressure gathering fee and a 
compression fee, as applicable, substantially all of which are subject to annual CPI-based adjustments or a cost of service fee, as applicable, at the 
Company’s election when such assets are placed in-service.  In addition, the Company receives a reimbursement for certain variable costs, such as 
electricity and operating expenses.

The Company determined that its gathering and compression agreements are operating leases as Antero Resources obtains substantially all of the 
economic benefit of the asset and has the right to direct the use of the assets.  Each gathering and compression system is an identifiable asset, and consists 
of a network of assets that may include underground low pressure pipelines that connect and deliver gas from specific well pads to compressor stations to
compress the gas before delivery to underground high pressure pipelines that transport the gas to a third-party pipeline, third-party plant or a Joint Venture
plant.  Each compression system is an identifiable asset, and consists of a network of assets that include compressor stations that connect to underground 
high pressure pipelines that transport the gas to a third-party pipeline, third-party plant or a Joint Venture plant.  Each set of assets in an agreement are 
considered to be a single lease due to the interrelated network of the assets required to provide services under each respective agreement.  When a 
modification to an agreement occurs, the Company reassesses the classification of the lease.  The Company accounts for its lease and non-lease 
components as a single lease component as the lease component is the predominant component.  The non-lease components consist of operating, oversight 
and maintenance of the gathering systems, which are performed on time-
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elapsed measures.

The gathering and compression agreements include certain fixed fee provisions.  If and to the extent Antero Resources requests that the Company 
construct new low pressure lines, high pressure lines and/or compressor stations, the 2019 gathering and compression agreement contains options at the 
Company’s election for either (i) minimum volume commitments that require Antero Resources to utilize or pay for 75% of the high pressure gathering
capacity and 70% of the compression capacity of such new construction for 10 years or (ii) a cost of service fee that allows the Company to earn a 13%
rate of return on such new construction over seven years, which election is made individually for each piece of equipment placed in service.  In addition, 
the Marcellus gathering and compression agreements provide for a minimum volume commitment that requires Antero Resources to utilize or pay for 25%
of the capacity of new compressor station construction for 10 years. All lease payments under the minimum volume commitments and cost of service fees
are considered to be in-substance fixed lease payments under the gathering and compression agreements.

The Company recognizes lease income from its minimum volume commitments and cost of service fees under its gathering and compression 
agreements on a straight-line basis.  Additional variable operating lease income is earned when volumes in excess of the minimum commitments are 
delivered under the contract.  The Company recognizes variable lease income when low pressure volumes are delivered to a compressor station, 
compression volumes are delivered to a high pressure line and high pressure volumes are delivered to a processing plant or transmission pipeline, as 
applicable.  Minimum volume commitments are aggregated such that there is a single minimum volume commitment for the respective service each year 
for each agreement.  The Company invoices the customer the month after each service is performed, and payment is due in the same month.  The Company
is not party to any leases that have not commenced.

Minimum future lease cash flows to be received by the Company under the gathering and compression agreements as of December 31, 2022 are
as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31, 2023 $ 313,838
Year ending December 31, 2024 312,284
Year ending December 31, 2025 293,736
Year ending December 31, 2026 279,921
Year ending December 31, 2027 219,743
Thereafter 359,554

Total $ 1,779,076

(b) Water Handling

The Company is party to a water services agreement with Antero Resources, whereby the Company provides certain water handling services to 
Antero Resources within an area of dedication in defined service areas in West Virginia and Ohio.  The initial term of the water services agreement runs to 
2035.  Upon completion of the initial term in 2035, the water services agreement will continue in effect from year to year until such time as the agreement 
is terminated, effective upon an anniversary of the effective date of the agreement, by either the Company or Antero Resources on or before the 180th day 
prior to the anniversary of such effective date.  Under the agreement, the Company receives a fixed fee for fresh water deliveries by pipeline directly to the 
well site, subject to annual CPI-based adjustments.  In addition, the Company also provides other fluid handling services.  These operations, along with the 
Company’s fresh water delivery systems, support well completion and production operations for Antero Resources.  These services are provided by the 
Company directly or through third-parties with which the Company contracts.  For these other fluid handling services provided by third-parties, Antero
Resources reimburses the Company’s third-party out-of-pocket costs plus 3%.  For these other fluid handling services provided by the Company, the
Company charges Antero Resources a cost of service fee.

The Company satisfies its performance obligations and recognizes revenue when (i) the fresh water volumes have been delivered to the hydration
unit of a specified well pad or (ii) other fluid handling services have been completed.  The Company invoices the customer the month after water services 
are performed, and payment is due in the same month.  For services contracted through third-party providers, the Company’s performance obligation is 
satisfied when the service to be performed by the third-party provider has been completed.  The Company invoices the customer after the third-party 
provider billing is received, and payment is due in the same month.
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Transaction Price Allocated to Remaining Performance Obligations

The Company’s water service agreement with Antero Resources has a term greater than one year.  The Company is not required to disclose the 
transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations if the variable consideration is allocated entirely to a wholly unsatisfied performance 
obligation.  Under the Company’s service contract, each unit of product delivered to the customer represents a separate performance obligation; therefore, 
future volumes are wholly unsatisfied and disclosure of the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations is not required.

The Company also performs water services for third party customers, which contracts are short-term in nature with a contract term of one year or 
less.  Accordingly, the Company is exempt from disclosure of the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations if the performance 
obligation is part of a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less.

Contract Balances

Under the Company’s water service contracts, the Company invoices customers after the performance obligations have been satisfied, at which 
point payment is unconditional.  Accordingly, the Company’s water service contracts do not give rise to contract assets or liabilities. 

(c) Disaggregation of Revenue

In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by type of service and type of fee and is identified by the reportable segment to which such 
revenues relate.  For more information on reportable segments, see Note 16—Reportable Segments.

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2020 2021 2022     Reportable Segment
Type of service

Gathering—low pressure $ 353,491 354,941 368,996 Gathering and Processing (1)

Gathering—low pressure fee rebate (48,000) (12,000) (48,000) Gathering and Processing (1)

Compression 195,147 198,992 210,329 Gathering and Processing (1)

Gathering—high pressure 210,821 207,804 211,940 Gathering and Processing (1)

Fresh water delivery 158,707 137,278 153,546 Water Handling
Other fluid handling 101,225 81,859 93,846 Water Handling
Amortization of customer relationships (37,086) (37,086) (37,086) Gathering and Processing
Amortization of customer relationships (33,586) (33,586) (33,586) Water Handling

Total $ 900,719 898,202 919,985

Type of contract
Per Unit Fixed Fee $ 759,459 761,737 791,265 Gathering and Processing (1)

Gathering—low pressure fee rebate (48,000) (12,000) (48,000) Gathering and Processing (1)

Per Unit Fixed Fee 158,707 137,278 154,993 Water Handling
Cost plus 3% 90,478 65,007 71,490 Water Handling
Cost of service fee 10,747 16,852 20,909 Water Handling
Amortization of customer relationships (37,086) (37,086) (37,086) Gathering and Processing
Amortization of customer relationships (33,586) (33,586) (33,586) Water Handling

Total $ 900,719 898,202 919,985

(1) Revenue related to the gathering and processing segment is classified as lease income related to the gathering system.

The Company’s receivables from its contracts with customers and operating leases as of December 31, 2021 and 2022 were $81 million and $86 
million, respectively.  
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(6)  Property and Equipment

(a) Summary of Property and Equipment  

Estimated December 31,
(in thousands)     Useful Lives     2021 2022
Land     n/a     $ 23,369     31,668
Gathering systems and facilities 40-50 years (1) 2,817,918 3,281,872
Permanent buried pipelines and equipment 7-20 years 582,481 601,347
Surface pipelines and equipment 1-7 years 54,542 66,726
Heavy trucks and equipment 3-5 years 5,157 5,157
Above ground storage tanks 5-10 years 2,946 2,953
Construction-in-progress n/a  174,271 158,977

Total property and equipment 3,660,684 4,148,700
Less accumulated depreciation (265,938) (397,269)

Property and equipment, net $ 3,394,746 3,751,431

(1) Gathering systems and facilities are recognized as a single-leased asset with no residual value.

(b) Asset Acquisitions

On October 25, 2022, the Company acquired certain Marcellus gas gathering and compression assets from Crestwood for $205 million in cash, 
before closing adjustments.  These assets include 72 miles of dry gas gathering pipelines and nine compressor stations with approximately 700 MMcf/d of 
compression capacity.  The cash consideration for this asset acquisition was allocated to land and gathering systems and facilities, included in Property and 
equipment in the consolidated balance sheets, for $3 million and $202 million, respectively.

Additionally, on December 21, 2022, the Company acquired certain Utica compression assets from EnLink for $10 million in cash, before closing 
adjustments.  These assets include four compressor stations with approximately 380 MMcf/d of compression capacity.  The acquired compression assets 
are interconnected with the Company’s existing low pressure and high pressure gathering systems and service Antero Resources’ production.  The cash 
consideration for this asset acquisition was allocated to gathering systems and facilities included in Property and equipment in the consolidated balance 
sheets. 

(c) Asset Impairment

During the first quarter of 2020, the Company evaluated its assets for impairment due to the decline in the industry environment as a result of low 
commodity prices.  As a result of this evaluation, the Company recorded an impairment expense of $89 million, which included an $83 million impairment
expense to its permanent buried pipelines and equipment and a $6 million impairment expense to its surface pipelines and equipment. Additionally, during
the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company determined that the carrying value of the landfill associated with the Clearwater Facility was no longer
recoverable resulting in an impairment charge to property and equipment of $7 million.

(d) Clearwater Facility Idling

On September 18, 2019, the Company commenced a strategic evaluation of the Clearwater Facility at which time, such facility was idled.  The 
Company expects the facility to be idled for the foreseeable future, and as such, the Clearwater Facility was fully impaired at the time of idling.  The 
Company incurred $15 million, $4 million and $4 million in facility idling costs for the care and maintenance of the Clearwater Facility during the years
ended December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, respectively.
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(7)  Income Taxes

Income tax expense (benefit) consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)     2020     2021     2022
Current income tax expense (benefit) $ (55,517) — —
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) (171) 117,123 117,494

Total income tax expense (benefit) $ (55,688) 117,123 117,494

Income tax expense differs from the amount that would be computed by applying the U.S. statutory federal income tax rate of 21% to income
before taxes as a result of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)     2020     2021     2022
Federal income tax expense (benefit) $ (37,426) 94,235 93,185
State income tax expense (benefit), net of federal effect (6,998) 21,375 20,891
Equity-based compensation 516 1,713 1,027
Carryback of NOLs (11,225) — —
Change in valuation allowance — — 2,582
Other (555) (200) (191)

Total income tax expense (benefit) $ (55,688) 117,123 117,494

Deferred income taxes reflect the impact of temporary differences between assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and such amounts 
as measured by tax laws.  The tax effect of the temporary differences giving rise to net deferred tax assets and liabilities is as follows: 

December 31,
(in thousands)     2021     2022
Deferred tax assets:         

NOL carryforwards $ 92,896 111,615
Equity-based compensation 1,815 2,766
Charitable contributions 2,582 2,582

Total deferred tax asset 97,293 116,963
Valuation allowance — (2,582)

Net deferred tax asset 97,293 114,381

Deferred tax liabilities:
Investment in Antero Midstream Partners 111,014 245,596

Total deferred tax liability 111,014 245,596
Net deferred tax liability $ (13,721) (131,215)

In assessing the realizability of all of the deferred tax assets, management considers whether some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be 
realized based on a more-likely-than-not standard of judgment.  The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future 
taxable income during the periods in which the Company’s temporary differences become deductible.  Management considers projected future taxable 
income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment.  Based upon the projections of future taxable income over the periods in which the deferred 
tax assets are deductible, management believes that the Company will not realize the benefits of certain of these deductible differences and has recorded a 
valuation allowance of $3 million during the year ended December 31, 2022 related to charitable contributions.

The calculation of the Company’s tax assets and liabilities involves uncertainties in the application of complex tax laws and regulations. The
Company gives financial statement recognition to those tax positions that it believes are more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination by the
Internal Revenue Service or state revenue authorities. As of December 31, 2021 and 2022, the Company did not have any uncertain tax positions.
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As of December 31, 2022, the Company has U.S. federal and state NOL carryforwards before the effect of income taxes of $415 million and $478 
million, respectively, which have no expiration date.  Tax years 2019 through 2022 remain open to examination by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, and 
tax year 2019 is currently under audit.  The Company to date has not been notified of any adjustments to its federal taxable income or associated tax 
liability for any year under audit.  The Company and its subsidiaries file tax returns with various state taxing authorities and those returns remain open to 
examination for tax years 2018 through 2022.

(8)  Long-Term Debt

The Company’s long-term debt is as follows:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2021 2022
Credit Facility (a)     $ 547,200     782,000
7.875% senior notes due 2026 (c) 550,000 550,000
5.75% senior notes due 2027 (d) 650,000 650,000
5.75% senior notes due 2028 (e) 650,000 650,000
5.375% senior notes due 2029 (f) 750,000 750,000

Total principal 3,147,200 3,382,000
Unamortized debt premiums 2,106 1,698
Unamortized debt issuance costs (26,396) (22,416)

Total long-term debt $ 3,122,910 3,361,282

(a) Credit Facility

Antero Midstream Partners, an indirect, wholly owned subsidiary of Antero Midstream Corporation, as borrower (the “Borrower”), has a senior 
secured revolving credit facility with a consortium of banks.  On October 26, 2021, the Company entered into an amended and restated senior secured 
revolving credit facility, the Credit Facility.  As of December 31, 2022, the Credit Facility had lender commitments of $1.25 billion and matures on October 
26, 2026; provided that if on November 17, 2025 any of the 2026 Notes (as defined below) are outstanding, the Credit Facility will mature on such date.  
As of December 31, 2022, the Credit Facility had an available borrowing capacity of $468 million.

The Credit Facility contains certain covenants including restrictions on indebtedness, and requirements with respect to leverage and interest 
coverage ratios.  The Credit Facility permits distributions to the holders of the Borrower’s equity interests in accordance with the cash distribution policy, 
provided that no event of default exists or would be caused thereby, and only to the extent permitted by the Borrower’s organizational documents.  The 
Borrower was in compliance with all of the financial covenants under the Credit Facility as of December 31, 2021 and 2022.

The Credit Facility in effect prior to October 26, 2021 provided for borrowing under either the Base Rate or the Eurodollar Rate (as each term is 
defined in the Credit Facility), and the Credit Facility in effect on and after October 26, 2021 provides for borrowing under either Adjusted Term SOFR or 
the Base Rate (as each term is defined in the Credit Facility).  Principal amounts borrowed are payable on the maturity date with such borrowings bearing
interest that is payable with respect to (i) base rate loans, quarterly and (ii) SOFR Loans at the end of the applicable interest period if three months (or 
shorter, if applicable), or every three months if the applicable interest period is longer than three months.  Interest was payable at a variable rate based on 
LIBOR or the base rate, determined by election at the time of borrowing, plus an applicable margin rate under the Credit Facility agreement in effect prior 
to October 26, 2021.  Interest is payable at a variable rate based on SOFR or the base rate, determined by election at the time of borrowing, plus an 
applicable margin rate under the Credit Facility in effect on and after October 26, 2021.  Interest at the time of borrowing is determined with reference to 
the Borrower’s then-current leverage ratio subject to certain exceptions.  Commitment fees on the unused portion of the Credit Facility are due quarterly at 
rates ranging from 0.25% to 0.375% subject to certain exceptions based on the leverage ratio then in effect.

  As of December 31, 2021, the Borrower had outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility of $547 million with a weighted average interest
rate of 1.81%.  As of December 31, 2022, the Borrower had outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility of $782 million with a weighted average
interest rate of 6.17%.  No letters of credit under the Credit Facility were outstanding as of December 31, 2021 and 2022.  
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(b) 5.375% Senior Notes Due 2024

On September 13, 2016, Antero Midstream Partners and its wholly owned subsidiary Finance Corp (the “Issuers”), issued $650 million in
aggregate principal amount of 5.375% senior notes due September 15, 2024 (the “2024 Notes”) at par.  The 2024 Notes were recorded at their fair value of
$652.6 million as of March 12, 2019, and the related premium of $2.6 million was amortized into interest expense over the life of the 2024 Notes.  The 
Issuers redeemed all $650 million of the 2024 Notes at 102.688% of par on June 8, 2021, and recognized a loss of $21 million on the early extinguishment 
of debt during the year ended December 31, 2021, which included the write-off of all unamortized debt premium and issuance costs.  Interest on the 2024 
Notes was payable on March 15 and September 15 of each year.

(c) 7.875% Senior Notes Due 2026

On November 10, 2020, the Issuers issued $550 million in aggregate principal amount of 7.875% senior notes due May 15, 2026 (the “2026
Notes”) at par.  The 2026 Notes are unsecured and effectively subordinated to the Credit Facility to the extent of the value of the collateral securing the
Credit Facility.  The 2026 Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a joint and several senior unsecured basis by Antero Midstream Corporation,
Antero Midstream Partners’ wholly owned subsidiaries (other than Finance Corp) and certain of its future restricted subsidiaries.  Interest on the 2026
Notes is payable on May 15 and November 15 of each year.  Antero Midstream Partners may redeem all or part of the 2026 Notes at any time on or after
May 15, 2023 at redemption prices ranging from 103.938% on or after May 15, 2023 to 100.00% on or after May 15, 2025.  In addition, prior to May 15,
2023, Antero Midstream Partners may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2026 Notes with an amount of cash not greater than the
net cash proceeds of certain equity offerings, if certain conditions are met, at a redemption price of 107.875% of the principal amount of the 2026 Notes,
plus accrued and unpaid interest.  At any time prior to May 15, 2023, Antero Midstream Partners may also redeem the 2026 Notes, in whole or in part, at a
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2026 Notes plus a “make-whole” premium and accrued and unpaid interest.  If Antero Midstream
Partners undergoes a change of control followed by a rating decline, the holders of the 2026 Notes will have the right to require Antero Midstream Partners
to repurchase all or a portion of the 2026 Notes at a price equal to 101% of the principal amount of the 2026 Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest.  

(d) 5.75% Senior Notes Due 2027

On February 25, 2019, the Issuers issued $650 million in aggregate principal amount of 5.75% senior notes due March 1, 2027 (the “2027 Notes”)
at par.  The 2027 Notes were recorded at their fair value of $653.3 million as of March 12, 2019, and the related premium of $3.3 million will be amortized
into interest expense over the life of the 2027 Notes. The 2027 Notes are unsecured and effectively subordinated to the Credit Facility to the extent of the
value of the collateral securing the Credit Facility.  The 2027 Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a joint and several senior unsecured basis
by Antero Midstream Corporation, Antero Midstream Partners’ wholly owned subsidiaries (other than Finance Corp) and certain of its future restricted
subsidiaries.  Interest on the 2027 Notes is payable on March 1 and September 1 of each year.  Antero Midstream Partners may redeem all or part of the
2027 Notes at any time on or after March 1, 2022 at redemption prices ranging from 102.875% currently to 100% on or after March 1, 2025.  If Antero 
Midstream Partners undergoes a change of control followed by a rating decline, the holders of the 2027 Notes will have the right to require Antero 
Midstream Partners to repurchase all or a portion of the 2027 Notes at a price equal to 101% of the principal amount of the 2027 Notes, plus accrued and 
unpaid interest.  

(e) 5.75% Senior Notes Due 2028

On June 28, 2019, the Issuers issued $650 million in aggregate principal amount of 5.75% senior notes due January 15, 2028 (the “2028 Notes”)
at par.  The 2028 Notes are unsecured and effectively subordinated to the Credit Facility to the extent of the value of the collateral securing the Credit
Facility.  The 2028 Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a joint and several senior unsecured basis by Antero Midstream Corporation, Antero
Midstream Partners’ wholly owned subsidiaries (other than Finance Corp) and certain of its future restricted subsidiaries.  Interest on the 2028 Notes is
payable on January 15 and July 15 of each year.  Antero Midstream Partners may redeem all or part of the 2028 Notes at any time on or after January
15, 2023 at redemption prices ranging from 102.875% on or after January 15, 2023 to 100.00% on or after January 15, 2026.  In addition, prior to January
15, 2023, Antero Midstream Partners may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2028 Notes with an amount of cash not greater than
the net cash proceeds of certain equity offerings, if certain conditions are met, at a redemption price of 105.75% of the principal amount of the 2028 Notes,
plus accrued and unpaid interest.  At any time prior to January 15, 2023, Antero Midstream Partners may also redeem the 2028 Notes, in whole or in part,
at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2028 Notes plus a “make-whole” premium and accrued and unpaid interest.  If Antero Midstream
Partners undergoes a change of control followed by a rating decline, the holders of the 2028 Notes will have the right to require Antero Midstream Partners
to repurchase all or a portion of the
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2028 Notes at a price equal to 101% of the principal amount of the 2028 Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

(f) 5.375% Senior Notes Due 2029

On June 8, 2021, the Issuers issued $750 million in aggregate principal amount of 5.375% senior notes due June 15, 2029 (the “2029 Notes”) at 
par.  The 2029 Notes are unsecured and effectively subordinated to the Credit Facility to the extent of the value of the collateral securing the Credit 
Facility.  The 2029 Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a joint and several senior unsecured basis by Antero Midstream Corporation, Antero 
Midstream Partners’ wholly owned subsidiaries (other than Finance Corp) and certain of its future restricted subsidiaries.  Interest on the 2029 Notes is 
payable on June 15 and December 15 of each year.  Antero Midstream Partners may redeem all or part of the 2029 Notes at any time on or after June 15, 
2024 at redemption prices ranging from 102.688% on or after June 15, 2024 to 100.00% on or after June 15, 2026.  In addition, prior to June 15, 2024, 
Antero Midstream Partners may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2029 Notes with an amount of cash not greater than the net
cash proceeds of certain equity offerings, if certain conditions are met, at a redemption price of 105.375% of the principal amount of the 2029 Notes, plus 
accrued and unpaid interest.  At any time prior to June 15, 2024, Antero Midstream Partners may also redeem the 2029 Notes, in whole or in part, at a price 
equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2029 Notes plus a “make-whole” premium and accrued and unpaid interest.  If Antero Midstream Partners 
undergoes a change of control followed by a rating decline, the holders of the 2029 Notes will have the right to require Antero Midstream Partners to 
repurchase all or a portion of the 2029 Notes at a price equal to 101% of the principal amount of the 2029 Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

(g) Senior Notes Guarantors

The Company and each of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries (except for the Issuers) has fully and unconditionally guaranteed the 2026
Notes, 2027 Notes, 2028 Notes and 2029 Notes (collectively the “Senior Notes”).  In the event a guarantor is sold or disposed of (whether by merger,
consolidation, the sale of a sufficient amount of its capital stock so that it no longer qualifies as a Restricted Subsidiary (as defined in the applicable
indenture governing the series of Senior Notes) of the Issuer or the sale of all or substantially all of its assets) and whether or not the guarantor is the
surviving entity in such transaction to a person that is not an Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary of an Issuer, such guarantor will be released from its
obligations under its guarantee if the sale or other disposition does not violate the covenants set forth in the indentures governing the applicable Senior
Notes.

In addition, a guarantor will be released from its obligations under the applicable indenture and its guarantee, upon the release or discharge of the 
guarantee of other indebtedness under a credit facility that resulted in the creation of such guarantee, except a release or discharge by or as a result of 
payment under such guarantee; if the Issuers designate such subsidiary as an unrestricted subsidiary and such designation complies with the other 
applicable provisions of the indenture governing the applicable Senior Notes or in connection with any covenant defeasance, legal defeasance or 
satisfaction and discharge of the applicable Senior Notes.  

During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, all of the Company’s assets and operations are attributable to the Issuers and its
guarantors.

(9)  Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following items:

December 31,
(in thousands)     2021     2022  
Capital expenditures $ 24,900 16,597
Operating expenses 10,417 11,118
Interest expense 36,794 37,947
Ad valorem taxes 5,400 5,661
Other 3,327 1,392

Total accrued liabilities $ 80,838 72,715
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(10)  Equity-Based Compensation and Cash Awards

(a) Summary of Equity-Based Compensation

The Company’s equity-based compensation includes (i) costs allocated to Antero Midstream by Antero Resources for grants made prior to March 
12, 2019 pursuant to the Antero Resources Corporation Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “AR LTIP”) and (ii) costs related to the Antero Midstream 
Corporation Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “AM LTIP”).  Antero Midstream’s equity-based compensation expense is included in general and 
administrative expenses, and recorded as a credit to the applicable classes of equity.  

AR LTIP

Equity-based compensation expense allocated to Antero Midstream from Antero Resources was $5.2 million, $2.1 million and $0.4 million for the
years ended December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, respectively, which includes expense related to the Converted AM RSU Awards (as defined below).  For 
grants made prior to March 12, 2019, Antero Resources has total unamortized expense related to its various equity-based compensation plans that can be 
allocated to the Company of less than $0.1 million as of December 31, 2022, which includes the Converted AM RSU Awards (as defined below).  The 
unamortized expense attributable to grants made prior to March 12, 2019 will be recorded during the first quarter of 2023.  A portion of this unamortized 
cost will be allocated to Antero Midstream as it is amortized over the remaining service period of the related awards.  The Company does not reimburse 
Antero Resources for noncash equity compensation allocated to it for awards issued under the AR LTIP.  

AM LTIP

Effective March 12, 2019, the Board of Directors of Antero Midstream Corporation (the “Board”) adopted the AM LTIP under which awards may 
be granted to employees, directors, and other service providers of the Company and its affiliates.  The Company is authorized to grant up to 15,398,901 
shares of AM common stock under the AM LTIP.  The AM LTIP provides for the grant of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, 
restricted stock units (“RSUs”), dividend equivalents, other stock-based awards, cash awards and substitute awards.  The terms and conditions of the 
awards granted are established by the compensation committee of the Board.  As of December 31, 2022, a total of 7,420,368 shares were available for 
future grant under the AM LTIP.   

The Company’s equity-based compensation expense, by type of award, is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2020 2021 2022
Restricted stock units (1) $ 9,964 11,461 16,039
Performance share units (1) 1,912 1,158 2,770
Equity awards issued to directors 902 910 845

Total expense $ 12,778 13,529 19,654

(1) Amounts include equity-based compensation expense allocated to the Company by Antero Resources.

The total fair value of the Company’s vested equity awards for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022 were $2 million, $12 million
and $18 million, respectively.

(b) Restricted Stock Unit Awards

RSU awards vest subject to the satisfaction of service requirements.  Expense related to each RSU award is recognized on a straight-line basis 
over the requisite service period of the entire award.  Forfeitures are accounted for as they occur by reversing the expense previously recognized for awards 
that were forfeited during the period.  The grant date fair values of these awards are determined based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock 
on the date of the grant.  The weighted average grant date fair value per share for RSUs granted during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022 
were $6.32, $8.71 and $11.28, respectively.  

The Company’s RSU awards include the unvested outstanding phantom units granted under the Antero Midstream Partners Long Term Incentive
Plan that was assumed by the Company on March 12, 2019, and converted into 1.8926 RSUs under the AM LTIP representing a right to receive shares of
the Company’s common stock for each converted phantom unit (all such RSUs, the “Converted AM RSU Awards”). The Converted AM RSU Awards are
accounted for as if they are distributed by Antero Midstream
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Partners to Antero Resources. Therefore, the expense related to the Converted AM RSU Awards is subject to allocation by Antero Resources.

A summary of the RSU awards activity, which includes the Converted AM RSU Awards, is as follows:

Weighted Average
Number Grant Date

    of Units     Fair Value
Total AM LTIP RSUs awarded and unvested—December 31, 2021 3,573,377 $ 8.11
Granted 2,750,896 11.28
Vested (1,269,848) 8.35
Forfeited (177,167) 9.43
Total AM LTIP RSUs awarded and unvested—December 31, 2022 4,877,258 $ 9.79

As of December 31, 2022, unamortized expense of $34 million related to the unvested RSUs is expected to be recognized over a weighted average
period of approximately 2.2 years.  

(c) Performance Share Unit Awards

2019 Performance Share Unit Awards

In 2019, the Company granted performance share units (“PSUs”) to certain of its employees and executive officers that vest based on the
Company’s actual return on invested capital (“ROIC”) (as defined in the award agreement) over a three-year period as compared to a targeted ROIC 
(“2019 ROIC PSUs”).  The number of shares of the Company’s common stock that could be earned with respect to the 2019 ROIC PSUs ranged from zero
to 200% of the target number of the 2019 ROIC PSUs originally granted.  The grant date fair value of these awards was based on the closing price of the 
Company’s common stock on the date of the grant, assuming target achievement of the performance condition.  Expense related to the 2019 ROIC PSUs 
was recognized based on the number of shares of the Company’s common stock that are expected to be issued at the end of the measurement period.  
During the year ended December 31, 2022, the performance condition for the 2019 ROIC PSU’s was met at 200% of target and 137,712 target 2019 ROIC
PSU’s converted into 275,424 shares of the Company’s common stock.  As of December 31, 2022, there were no 2019 ROIC PSU’s outstanding.

2022 Performance Share Unit Awards

In April 2022, the Company granted PSUs to certain of its executive officers that vest based on the Company’s actual ROIC (as defined in the
aware agreement) over a three-year period concluding on December 31, 2024 as compared to a targeted ROIC (“2022 ROIC PSUs”).  The number of 
shares of the Company’s common stock that can be earned with respect to the 2022 ROIC PSUs ranges from zero to 200% of the target number of 2022 
ROIC PSUs originally granted.  The grant date fair value of these awards was based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of 
the grant, assuming target achievement of the performance condition.  Expense related to the 2022 ROIC PSUs is recognized based on the number of 
shares of the Company’s common stock that are expected to be issued at the end of the measurement period, and such expense is reversed if the likelihood 
of achieving the performance condition decreases. The likelihood of achieving the performance conditions related to 2022 ROIC PSU awards was probable 
as of December 31, 2022.

A summary of the PSU awards activity is as follows:

Weighted Average
Number Grant Date

    of Units     Fair Value
Total AM LTIP PSUs awarded and unvested—December 31, 2021 116,526 $ 6.32
Granted 461,121 11.05
Vested (137,712) 6.32
Total AM LTIP PSUs awarded and unvested—December 31, 2022 439,935 $ 11.28

As of December 31, 2022, there was $8 million of unamortized equity-based compensation expense related to unvested PSUs that is expected to
be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.3 years.
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(d) Cash Awards

In January 2020, the Company granted cash awards of $2.2 million to certain executives under the AM LTIP that vest ratably over a period of up
to three years.  In July 2020, the Company granted additional cash awards of $0.7 million to certain non-executive employees under the AM LTIP that vest
ratably over a period of four years.  The compensation expense for these awards is recognized ratably over the applicable vesting period.  As of 
December 31, 2021 and 2022, the Company has accrued $1.1 million and $0.5 million, respectively, in other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet
related to unvested cash awards.

(11)  Cash Dividends

The Company paid cash dividends for the quarter indicated as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Dividends
Period     Record Date     Dividend Date     Dividends     per Share

Q4 2019 January 31, 2020 February 12, 2020 $ 148,876 $ 0.3075
* February 14, 2020 February 14, 2020 138 *

Q1 2020 April 30, 2020 May 12, 2020 147,519 0.3075
* May 15, 2020 May 15, 2020 137 *

Q2 2020 July 30, 2020 August 12, 2020 146,664 0.3075
* August 14, 2020 August 14, 2020 138 *

Q3 2020 October 29, 2020 November 12, 2020 146,581 0.3075
* November 16, 2020 November 16, 2020 137 *

Total 2020 $ 590,190

Q4 2020 February 3, 2021 February 11, 2021 $ 147,194 $ 0.3075
* February 16, 2021 February 16, 2021 138 *

Q1 2021 April 28, 2021 May 12, 2021 108,799 0.2250
* May 17, 2021 May 17, 2021 137 *

Q2 2021 July 28, 2021 August 11, 2021 107,719 0.2250
* August 16, 2021 August 16, 2021 138 *

Q3 2021 October 27, 2021 November 10, 2021 107,459 0.2250
* November 15, 2021 November 15, 2021 137 *

Total 2021 $ 471,721

Q4 2021 January 26, 2022 February 9, 2022 $ 108,149 $ 0.2250
* February 14, 2022 February 14, 2022 138 *

Q1 2022 April 27, 2022 May 11, 2022 109,296 0.2250
* May 16, 2022 May 16, 2022 137 *

Q2 2022 July 27, 2022 August 10, 2022 107,675 0.2250
* August 15, 2022 August 15, 2022 138 *

Q3 2022 October 26, 2022 November 9, 2022 107,705 0.2250
* November 14, 2022 November 14, 2022 137 *

Total 2022 $ 433,375

 * Dividends are paid in accordance with the terms of the Series A Preferred Stock (as defined below) as discussed in Note 12—Equity and Earnings Per
Common Share.

On January 11, 2023, the Board announced the declaration of a cash dividend on the shares of AM common stock of $0.2250 per share for the
quarter ended December 31, 2022.  The dividend was paid on February 8, 2023 to stockholders of record as of January 25, 2023.  The Company pays 
dividends (i) out of surplus or (ii) if there is no surplus, out of the net profits for the fiscal year in which the dividend is declared and/or the preceding fiscal 
year, as provided under Delaware law.

The Board also declared a cash dividend of $138 thousand on the shares of Series A Preferred Stock of Antero Midstream Corporation that was 
paid on February 14, 2023 in accordance with the terms of the Series A Preferred Stock, which are discussed in Note 12—Equity and Earnings Per 
Common Share.  As of December 31, 2022, there were dividends in the amount of $69 thousand accumulated in arrears on the Company’s Series A
Preferred Stock.
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(12)  Equity and Earnings Per Common Share

(a) Preferred Stock

The Board authorized 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock on March 12, 2019, and issued 10,000 shares of preferred stock designated as "5.5% 
Series A Non-Voting Perpetual Preferred Stock" (the "Series A Preferred Stock"), to The Antero Foundation on that date.  Dividends on the Series A 
Preferred Stock are cumulative from the date of original issue and payable in cash on the 45th day following the end of each fiscal quarter, or such other
dates as the Board will approve, at a rate of 5.5% per annum on (i) the liquidation preference per share of Series A Preferred Stock (as described below)
and (ii) the amount of accrued and unpaid dividends for any prior dividend period on such share of Series A Preferred Stock, if any.  At any time following 
the date of issue, in the event of a change of control, or at any time on or after March 12, 2029, the Company may redeem the Series A Preferred Stock at a 
price equal to $1,000 per share, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends, payable in cash; provided that if any shares of the Series A Preferred Stock are held
by The Antero Foundation at the time of such redemption, the price for redemption of each share of Series A Preferred Stock will be the greater of (i)
$1,000 per share, plus any accrued but unpaid dividends, and (ii) the fair market value of the Series A Preferred Stock.  On or after March 12, 2029, the 
holder of each share of Series A Preferred Stock (other than The Antero Foundation) may convert such shares, at any time and from time to time, at the 
option of the holder into a number of shares of AM common stock equal to the conversion ratio in effect on the applicable conversion date, subject to 
certain limitations.  The Series A Preferred Stock ranks senior to the AM common stock as to dividend rights, as well as with respect to rights upon 
liquidation, winding-up or dissolution of the Company.  Holders of the Series A Preferred Stock do not have any voting rights in the Company, except as 
required by law, or any preemptive rights.  

(b) Weighted Average Shares Outstanding

The following is a reconciliation of the Company’s basic weighted average shares outstanding to diluted weighted average shares outstanding:

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)     2020 2021     2022
Basic weighted average number of shares outstanding 478,278 477,270 478,232

Add: Dilutive effect of RSUs — 1,201 1,050
Add: Dilutive effect of PSUs — 232 91
Add: Dilutive effect of Series A Preferred Stock — 1,033 927

Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding 478,278 479,736 480,300

Weighted average number of outstanding equity awards excluded from calculation of
diluted earnings per common share (1):

RSUs 1,812 258 —
PSUs 148 — —
Series A Preferred Shares 1,297 — —

(1) The potential dilutive effects of these awards were excluded from the computation of earnings (loss) per common shares, assuming dilution because the inclusion of these awards would
have been anti-dilutive.

(c) Earnings Per Common Share

Earnings per common share—basic for each period is computed by dividing the net income or loss attributable to the Company by the basic 
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period.  Earnings per common share—assuming dilution for each period is computed after 
giving consideration to the potential dilution from outstanding equity awards, calculated using the treasury stock method.  During periods in which the 
Company incurs a net loss, diluted weighted average shares outstanding are equal to basic weighted average shares outstanding because the effect of all 
equity awards is anti-dilutive.
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Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share amounts)     2020 2021     2022
Net income (loss) $ (122,527) 331,617 326,242
Less preferred stock dividends (550) (550) (550)

Net income (loss) available to common shareholders $ (123,077) 331,067 325,692

Net income (loss) per share–basic $ (0.26) 0.69 0.68
Net income (loss) per share–diluted $ (0.26) 0.69 0.68

Weighted average common shares outstanding–basic 478,278 477,270 478,232
Weighted average common shares outstanding–diluted 478,278 479,736 480,300

(13)  Fair Value Measurement

(a) Goodwill

The Company estimated the fair value of its assets in performing its goodwill impairment analysis.  The Company utilized a combination of 
approaches to determine fair value that included a discounted cash flow approach, comparable company method and the market value approach.  The 
Company used a weighted-average cost of capital of 18.0% as of March 31, 2020 which was based on significant inputs not observable in the market, and
thus represents a Level 3 measurement within the fair value hierarchy.

(b) Property and Equipment

The Company estimated the undiscounted future cash flow projections to assess its property and equipment for impairment. The carrying values
of certain fresh water permanent buried pipelines and equipment and fresh water surface pipelines and equipment were deemed not recoverable. As a
result, the carrying values have been reduced to the estimated fair values, which are based on discounted future cash flows using assumptions as to
revenues, costs and a discount rate typical of third-party market participants of 19.0% as of March 31, 2020, which is a Level 3 fair value measurement
within the fair value hierarchy.

(c) Contingent Acquisition Consideration

In connection with Antero Resources’ contribution of Antero Water and certain water handling assets to Antero Midstream Partners in September
2015 (the “Water Acquisition”), Antero Midstream Partners agreed to pay Antero Resources (a) $125 million in cash if Antero Midstream Partners
delivered 176,295,000 barrels or more of fresh water during the period between January 1, 2017 and December 31, 2019 and (b) an additional $125 million
in cash if Antero Midstream Partners delivered 219,200,000 barrels or more of fresh water during the period between January 1, 2018 and December 31, 
2020.  This contingent consideration liability was valued based on Level 3 inputs related to expected average volumes and weighted average cost of 
capital. 

In January 2020, Antero Midstream Partners paid Antero Resources $125 million and, as of December 31, 2020, no additional contingent
acquisition consideration was earned.

(d) Senior Unsecured Notes

As of December 31, 2021 and 2022 the fair value and carrying value of the Company’s senior unsecured notes were as follows:

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022
(in thousands) Fair Value (1) Carrying Value (2) Fair Value (1) Carrying Value (2)

2026 Notes $ 604,450 544,294 556,985 545,416
2027 Notes 672,750 645,970 612,365 646,610
2028 Notes 680,225 643,902 601,575 644,776
2029 Notes 783,750 741,544 685,650 742,480

Total $ 2,741,175 2,575,710 2,456,575 2,579,282

(1) Fair values are based on Level 2 market data inputs.
(2) Carrying values are presented net of unamortized debt issuance costs and debt premiums.
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(e) Other Assets and Liabilities

The carrying values of accounts receivable and accounts payable as of December 31, 2021 and 2022 approximated fair value because of their 
short-term nature.  The carrying value of the amounts under the Credit Facility as of December 31, 2021 and 2022 approximated fair value because the 
variable interest rates are reflective of current market conditions.

(14)  Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates

(a) Summary of Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates

The Company has a 50% equity interest in the Joint Venture to develop processing and fractionation assets with MarkWest, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of MPLX, LP.  The Joint Venture was formed to develop processing and fractionation assets in Appalachia.  MarkWest operates the Joint 
Venture assets, which consist of processing plants in West Virginia and a one-third interest in two MarkWest fractionators in Ohio.

The Company also has a 15% equity interest in a gathering system of Stonewall, which operates a 67-mile pipeline on which Antero Resources is
an anchor shipper.

The Company’s net income (loss) includes its proportionate share of the net income of the Joint Venture and Stonewall.  When the Company 
records its proportionate share of net income, it increases equity income in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income and the 
carrying value of that investment on its balance sheet.  When distributions on the Company’s proportionate share of net income are received, they are 
recorded as reductions to the carrying value of the investment on the balance sheet and are classified as cash inflows from operating activities in 
accordance with the nature of the distribution approach under FASB ASC Topic 230, Statement of Cash Flows. The Company uses the equity method of 
accounting to account for its investments in Stonewall and the Joint Venture because it exercises significant influence, but not control, over the entities.  
The Company’s judgment regarding the level of influence over its equity investments includes considering key factors such as its ownership interest, 
representation on the applicable Board of Directors and participation in policy-making decisions of Stonewall and the Joint Venture.

The following table is a reconciliation of the Company’s investments in these unconsolidated affiliates:

Total Investment
MarkWest in Unconsolidated

(in thousands)     Stonewall     Joint Venture     Affiliates
Balance as of December 31, 2020 $ 137,632 584,846 722,478

Additional investments — 2,070 2,070
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates (1) 6,560 83,891 90,451
Distributions from unconsolidated affiliates (13,620) (105,370) (118,990)

Balance as of December 31, 2021 130,572 565,437 696,009
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates (1) 7,558 86,660 94,218
Distributions from unconsolidated affiliates (12,015) (108,445) (120,460)
Return of investment in unconsolidated affiliate — (17,000) (17,000)

Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 126,115 526,652 652,767

(1) As adjusted for the amortization of the difference between the cost of the equity investments in Stonewall and the Joint Venture and the amount of the underlying equity in the net assets of
Stonewall and the Joint Venture as of March 12, 2019.
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(b) Summarized Financial Information of Unconsolidated Affiliates

The following tables present summarized financial information for the Company’s investments in unconsolidated affiliates:

Combined Balance Sheets

December 31,
(in thousands)     2021 2022
Current assets $ 74,704 74,852
Noncurrent assets 1,602,093 1,517,349

Total assets $ 1,676,797 1,592,201

Current liabilities $ 8,375 5,453
Noncurrent liabilities 4,827 4,427
Noncontrolling interest 161,842 154,100
Partners' capital 1,501,753 1,428,221

Total liabilities and partners' capital $ 1,676,797 1,592,201

Statements of Combined Operations

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)     2020     2021     2022
Revenues $ 321,880 333,565 357,730
Operating expenses 122,660 130,080 153,383
Income from operations 199,220 203,485 204,347
Net income attributable to unconsolidated affiliates, including noncontrolling interest 230,564 236,444 248,458
Net income attributable to unconsolidated affiliates 238,991 245,256 257,458

(15)  Contingencies

The Company is currently involved in a consolidated lawsuit with Veolia Water Technologies, Inc. (“Veolia”) relating to the Clearwater Facility.

On March 13, 2020, Antero Treatment, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, filed suit against Veolia in the district court of Denver County, 
Colorado, asserting claims of fraud, breach of contract and other related claims. Antero Treatment alleges that Veolia failed to meet its contractual 
obligations to design and build a “turnkey” wastewater disposal facility under a Design/Build Agreement dated August 18, 2015 (the “DBA”), and that 
Veolia fraudulently concealed certain miscalculations and design flaws during contract negotiations and continued to conceal and fraudulently misrepresent 
the impact of certain design changes post-execution of the DBA.  On March 13, 2020, Veolia filed a separate suit against the Company, Antero Resources, 
and certain of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively, the “Antero Defendants”) in Denver County, Colorado.  In its lawsuit, Veolia 
asserted breach of contract and equitable claims against the Antero Defendants for alleged failures under the DBA.  Veolia’s suit was consolidated into the 
action filed by Antero Treatment.

Veolia and the Antero Defendants each filed partial motions to dismiss and motions for summary judgment directed at certain claims asserted by 
the opposing party.  A bench trial on the remaining claims was held from January 24 through February 10, 2022 and concluded on February 24, 2022.  At 
trial, Antero Treatment sought damages from Veolia of approximately $450 million, which represents the Company’s out-of-pocket costs associated with 
the Clearwater Facility project.  In the alternative, Antero Treatment sought damages related to multiple breaches of the DBA, totaling approximately $370 
million.  Also at trial, Veolia sought monetary damages of approximately $118 million, including alleged delay and extra-contractual costs and a contract
balance relating to an allegation that Antero Defendants improperly terminated the DBA.

On January 3, 2023, the Court found that Antero Treatment had prevailed on its claims for breach of contract and fraud, and awarded
approximately $242 million in damages to Antero Treatment, plus pre- and post-judgment interest and reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees. The Court also 
found in Antero Defendants’ favor on all of Veolia’s affirmative claims.  On January 27, 2023 the 
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Court entered judgment in favor of Antero Treatment in the amount of $309,183,975 in damages, which includes pre-judgment interest.  Antero was also 
awarded costs and attorneys’ fees, the amount of which will be determined in separate proceedings.  The judgment remains subject to appeal and applicable 
post-judgment proceedings.

(16)  Reportable Segments

The Company’s operations, which are located in the United States, are organized into two reportable segments: (i) gathering and processing and 
(ii) water handling. These segments are monitored separately by management for performance and are consistent with internal financial reporting.  These 
segments have been identified based on the differing products and services, regulatory environment and the expertise required for these operations.  
Management evaluates the performance of the Company’s business segments based on operating income.  Interest expense is primarily managed and 
evaluated on a consolidated basis.  

Gathering and Processing

The gathering and processing segment includes a network of gathering pipelines and compressor stations that collect and process production from 
Antero Resources’ wells in West Virginia and Ohio.  The gathering and processing segment also includes equity in earnings from the Company’s 
investments in the Joint Venture and Stonewall. 

Water Handling

The Company’s water handling segment includes two independent systems that deliver water from sources including the Ohio River, local 
reservoirs and several regional waterways.  Portions of these water handling systems are also utilized to transport flowback and produced water.  The water 
handling systems consist of permanent buried pipelines, surface pipelines and water storage facilities, as well as pumping stations, blending facilities and 
impoundments to transport water throughout the systems used to deliver water for Antero Resources’ well completions.  

The summarized operating results of the Company’s reportable segments are as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2020
Gathering and Water Consolidated

(in thousands)     Processing     Handling     Unallocated (1) Total
Revenues:

Revenue–Antero Resources $ 711,459 259,932 — 971,391
Amortization of customer relationships (37,086) (33,586) — (70,672)

Total revenues 674,373 226,346 — 900,719
Operating expenses:

Direct operating 56,508 108,878 — 165,386
General and administrative 29,899 14,184 8,130 52,213
Facility idling — 15,219 — 15,219
Depreciation 57,300 51,490 — 108,790
Impairment of property and equipment 947 97,232 — 98,179
Impairment of goodwill 575,461 — — 575,461
Accretion of asset retirement obligations — 180 — 180
Loss on asset sale 2,689 240 — 2,929

Total operating expenses 722,804 287,423 8,130 1,018,357
Operating loss $ (48,431) (61,077) (8,130) (117,638)

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates $ 86,430 — — 86,430
Additions to property and equipment $ 157,931 38,793 — 196,724

(1) Certain expenses that are not directly attributable to gathering and processing and water handling are managed and evaluated on a consolidated basis.
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Year Ended December 31, 2021
Gathering and Water Consolidated

(in thousands)     Processing     Handling     Unallocated (1) Total
Revenues:

Revenue–Antero Resources $ 749,737 218,621 — 968,358
Revenue–third-party — 516 — 516
Amortization of customer relationships (37,086) (33,586) — (70,672)

Total revenues 712,651 185,551 — 898,202
Operating expenses:

Direct operating 65,983 91,137 — 157,120
General and administrative 36,380 22,817 4,641 63,838
Facility idling — 3,997 — 3,997
Depreciation 59,692 49,098 — 108,790
Impairment of property and equipment 4,608 434 — 5,042
Accretion of asset retirement obligations — 460 — 460
Loss on asset sale 3,628 — — 3,628

Total operating expenses 170,291 167,943 4,641 342,875
Operating income $ 542,360 17,608 (4,641) 555,327

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates $ 90,451 — — 90,451
Additions to property and equipment $ 186,588 46,237 — 232,825

(1) Certain expenses that are not directly attributable to gathering and processing and water handling are managed and evaluated on a consolidated basis.

Year Ended December 31, 2022
Gathering and Water Consolidated

(in thousands)     Processing     Handling     Unallocated (1) Total
Revenues:

Revenue–Antero Resources $ 743,265 244,770 — 988,035
Revenue–third-party — 2,622 — 2,622
Amortization of customer relationships (37,086) (33,586) — (70,672)

Total revenues 706,179 213,806 — 919,985
Operating expenses:

Direct operating 75,889 104,365 — 180,254
General and administrative 38,972 17,495 5,658 62,125
Facility idling — 4,166 — 4,166
Depreciation 81,390 50,372 — 131,762
Impairment of property and equipment 1,130 2,572 — 3,702
Accretion of asset retirement obligations — 222 — 222
Loss on settlement of asset retirement obligations — 539 — 539
Gain on asset sale (2,120) (131) — (2,251)

Total operating expenses 195,261 179,600 5,658 380,519
Operating income $ 510,918 34,206 (5,658) 539,466

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates $ 94,218 — — 94,218
Additions to property and equipment, net $ 227,561 71,363 — 298,924

(1) Certain expenses that are not directly attributable to gathering and processing and water handling are managed and evaluated on a consolidated basis.
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The summarized total assets of the Company’s reportable segments are as follows:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2021 2022
Gathering and Processing $ 4,450,939 4,711,069
Water Handling 1,092,122 1,079,297
Unallocated (1) 940 954

Total assets $ 5,544,001 5,791,320

(1) Certain assets that are not directly attributable to gathering and processing and water handling are managed and evaluated on a consolidated basis.
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AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS

OF

ANTERO MIDSTREAM CORPORATION

Incorporated under the Laws of the State of Delaware

Date of Adoption: February 14, 2023

ARTICLE I
OFFICES AND RECORDS

SECTION 1.1. Registered Office. The registered office of the Corporation in the State of Delaware shall be located at 1209
Orange Street, City of Wilmington, County of New Castle, and the name of the Corporation’s registered agent at such address is The
Corporation Trust Company. The registered office and registered agent of the Corporation may be changed from time to time by the
board of directors of the Corporation (the “Board”) in the manner provided by law.

SECTION 1.2. Other Offices. The Corporation may have such other offices, either within or without the State of Delaware,
as the Board may designate or as the business of the Corporation may from time to time require.

SECTION 1.3. Books and Records. The books and records of the Corporation may be kept outside the State of Delaware at
such place or places as may from time to time be designated by the Board.

ARTICLE II
STOCKHOLDERS

SECTION 2.1. Annual Meeting. If required by applicable law, an annual meeting of the stockholders of the Corporation shall
be held at such date, time and place, if any, either within or without the State of Delaware, and time as may be fixed by resolution of
the Board. Any other proper business may be transacted at the annual meeting. The Board may postpone, reschedule or cancel any
annual meeting of stockholders previously scheduled by the Board.

SECTION 2.2. Special Meeting. Special meetings of stockholders of the Corporation may be called only by the Chief
Executive Officer, the Chairman of the Board or the Board pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the total number of
directors which the Corporation would have if there were no vacancies. The Board may postpone, reschedule or cancel any special
meeting of the stockholders previously scheduled by the Board.

SECTION 2.3. Record Date.

(A) In order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of any meeting of
stockholders or any adjournment thereof, the Board may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon
which the resolution fixing
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the record date is adopted by the Board, and which record date shall, unless otherwise required by law, not be more than sixty
(60) nor less than ten (10) days before the date of such meeting. If the Board so fixes a date, such date shall also be the record
date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote at such meeting unless the Board determines, at the time it fixes such
record date, that a later date on or before the date of the meeting shall be the date for making such determination. If no record
date is fixed by the Board, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of
stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which notice is given, or, if notice is
waived, at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the meeting is held. A determination of
stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the
meeting; provided, however, that the Board may fix a new record date for determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the
adjourned meeting, and in such case shall also fix as the record date for stockholders entitled to notice of such adjourned
meeting the same date or an earlier date as that fixed for determination of stockholders entitled to vote in accordance
herewith at the adjourned meeting.

(B) In order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to receive payment of any dividend
or other distribution or allotment of any rights, or entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any change, conversion or
exchange of stock or for the purpose of any other lawful action, the Board may fix a record date, which record date shall not
precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted, and which record date shall not be more than
sixty (60) days prior to such action. If no such record date is fixed, the record date for determining stockholders for any such
purpose shall be at the close of business on the day on which the Board adopts the resolution relating thereto.

(C) Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, as it may be amended
from time to time (the “Certificate of Incorporation”), in order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled
to express consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting, the Board may fix a record date, which record date shall
not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board, and which record date shall not
be more than ten (10) days after the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board. If no
record date for determining stockholders entitled to express consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting is fixed
by the Board, (1) when no prior action of the Board is required by law, the record date for such purpose shall be the first date
on which a signed written consent setting forth the action taken or proposed to be taken is delivered to the Corporation in
accordance with applicable law, and (2) if prior action by the Board is required by law, the record date for such purpose shall
be at the close of business on the day on which the Board adopts the resolution taking such prior action.

SECTION 2.4. Stockholder List. The Corporation shall prepare, no later than the tenth day before every meeting of
stockholders, a complete list of stockholders entitled to vote at any meeting of stockholders, arranged in alphabetical order for each
class of stock and showing the address of each such stockholder and the number of shares registered in the name of such stockholder.
Such list shall be open to the examination of any stockholder, for any purpose germane to the meeting, during ordinary business hours,
for a period of at least ten (10) days ending
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on the day before the meeting date, either on a reasonably accessible electronic network (provided that the information required to
gain access to the list is provided with the notice of the meeting) or during ordinary business hours at the principal place of business of
the Corporation. Except as otherwise provided by law, the stock ledger of the Corporation shall be the only evidence as to who are the
stockholders entitled by this section to examine the list required by this section or to vote in person or by proxy at any meeting of the
stockholders.

SECTION 2.5. Place of Meeting. The Board, the Chairman of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer, as the case may be,
may designate the place of meeting for any annual meeting or for any special meeting of the stockholders called by the Board, the
Chairman of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer. If no designation is so made, the place of meeting shall be the principal
executive offices of the Corporation. The Board, acting in its sole discretion, may establish guidelines and procedures in accordance
with applicable provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law and any other applicable law for the participation by
stockholders and proxyholders in a meeting of stockholders by means of remote communications, and may determine that any meeting
of stockholders will not be held at any place but will be held solely by means of remote communication. Stockholders and
proxyholders complying with such procedures and guidelines and otherwise entitled to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall be
deemed present in person and entitled to vote at a meeting of stockholders, whether such meeting is to be held at a designated place or
solely by means of remote communication.

SECTION 2.6. Notice of Meeting. Unless otherwise provided by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, notice
of any meeting of stockholders specifying the information set forth in the following sentence or as otherwise required by applicable
law shall be given not less than 10 days nor more than 60 days before the date of the meeting, in a manner pursuant to Section 7.7
hereof, to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at such meeting. The notice shall specify (1) the record date for determining the
stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting (if such date is different from the record date for stockholders entitled to notice of the
meeting), (2) the place, if any, date and time of such meeting, (3) the means of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders
and proxyholders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such meeting, (4) in the case of a special meeting, the purpose or
purposes for which such meeting is called and (5) such other information as may be required by law or as may be deemed appropriate
by the Board, the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer or the Corporate Secretary of the Corporation. If the stockholder
list referred to in Section 2.4 of these Bylaws is made accessible on an electronic network, the notice of meeting must indicate how the
stockholder list can be accessed. If the meeting of stockholders is to be held solely by means of remote communications, the notice of
meeting must provide the information required to access such stockholder list during the meeting. If mailed, such notice shall be
deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail with postage thereon prepaid, addressed to the stockholder at his
address as it appears on the stock transfer books of the Corporation. The Corporation may provide stockholders with notice of a
meeting by electronic transmission provided such stockholders have consented to receiving electronic notice in accordance with the
Delaware General Corporation Law. Such further notice shall be given as may be required by law. Only such business shall be
conducted at a special meeting of stockholders as shall have been brought before the meeting pursuant to the notice of meeting.
Meetings may be held without notice if all stockholders entitled to vote are present (and do not object, at the beginning of the meeting,
to the
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transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened), or if notice is waived by those not present in
accordance with Section 7.4 of these Bylaws.

SECTION 2.7. Quorum and Adjournment of Meetings.

(A) Except as otherwise provided by law or by the Certificate of Incorporation, the holders of a majority in
voting power of the outstanding shares of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote at the meeting (the “Voting Stock”),
represented in person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at a meeting of stockholders, except that when specified business
is to be voted on by a class or series of stock voting as a class, the holders of a majority of the voting power of the
outstanding shares of such class or series shall constitute a quorum of such class or series for the transaction of such business.
The chairman of the meeting or a majority of the shares so represented may adjourn the meeting from time to time, whether
or not there is such a quorum.

(B) Any meeting of stockholders, annual or special, may adjourn from time to time to reconvene at the same or
some other place (including an adjournment taken to address a technical failure to convene or continue a meeting using
remote communication), and notice need not be given of any such adjourned meeting if the time and place, if any, thereof and
the means of remote communication, if any, by which stockholders and proxyholders may be deemed to be present in person
and vote at such adjourned meeting are (i) announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken, (ii) displayed, during
the time scheduled for the meeting, on the same electronic network used to enable stockholders and proxyholders to
participate in the meeting by means of remote communication, or (iii) set forth in the notice of meeting given in accordance
with Section 2.6. At the adjourned meeting, the Corporation may transact any business which might have been transacted at
the original meeting. If the adjournment is for more than thirty (30) days, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given to
each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting. The stockholders present at a duly called meeting at which a
quorum is present may continue to transact business until adjournment, notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough
stockholders to leave less than a quorum.

SECTION 2.8. Proxies. At all meetings of stockholders, a stockholder may vote by proxy executed in writing (or in such
other manner prescribed by the Delaware General Corporation Law) by the stockholder, or by his duly authorized attorney-in-fact.
Any copy, facsimile transmission or other reliable reproduction of the writing or transmission created pursuant to this section may be
substituted or used in lieu of the original writing or transmission for any and all purposes for which the original writing or
transmission could be used, provided that such copy, facsimile transmission or other reproduction must be a complete reproduction of
the entire original writing or transmission. No proxy may be voted or acted upon after the expiration of three (3) years from the date of
such proxy, unless such proxy provides for a longer period. Every proxy is revocable at the pleasure of the stockholder executing it
unless the proxy states that it is irrevocable and applicable law makes it irrevocable. A stockholder may revoke any proxy that is not
irrevocable by attending the meeting and voting in person or by filing an instrument in writing revoking the proxy or by filing another
duly executed proxy bearing a later date with the Corporate Secretary of the Corporation.
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SECTION 2.9. Notice of Stockholder Business and Nominations.

(A) Annual Meetings of Stockholders.

(1) Nominations of persons for election to the Board and the proposal of other business to be
considered by the stockholders at an annual meeting of stockholders may be made only (a) pursuant to the
Corporation’s notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto), (b) by or at the direction of the Board or any
committee thereof, (c) by any stockholder of the Corporation who (i) was a stockholder of record at the time of
giving of notice provided for in these Bylaws and at the time of the annual meeting, (ii) is entitled to vote at the
meeting and (iii) complies with the notice procedures set forth in these Bylaws as to such business or nomination, or
(d) by stockholders of the Corporation who are parties to the Stockholders’ Agreement (as defined below), pursuant
to the terms of the Stockholders’ Agreement, among the Corporation and certain of its stockholders, dated as of
October 9, 2018 (as it may be amended from time to time, the “Stockholders’ Agreement”); clauses (1)(c) and (1)(d)
of this Section 2.9(A) shall be the exclusive means for a stockholder to make nominations or submit other business
(other than matters properly brought in compliance with the requirements of these Bylaws and under Rule 14a-8 or
Rule 14a-19 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and included in the
Corporation’s notice of meeting, proxy statement, and proxy card pursuant thereto) before an annual meeting of the
stockholders.

(2) For any nominations or any other business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a
stockholder pursuant to Section 2.9(A)(1)(c) of these Bylaws, the stockholder must have given timely notice thereof
in writing to the Corporate Secretary and such other business must otherwise be a proper matter for stockholder
action under the Delaware General Corporation Law. To be timely, a stockholder’s notice shall be delivered to the
Corporate Secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not earlier than the close of business on the
120th day and not later than the close of business on the 90th day prior to the first anniversary of the preceding
year’s annual meeting; provided, however, that in the event that the date of the annual meeting is more than 30 days
before or more than 60 days after such anniversary date, notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so delivered
not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to the date of such annual meeting and not later than the
close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to such annual meeting or, if the first public announcement of the
date of such annual meeting is less than 100 days prior to the date of such annual meeting, the 10th day following
the day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting is first made by the Corporation. In no event
shall any adjournment or postponement of an annual meeting or the announcement thereof commence a new time
period for the giving of a stockholder’s notice as described above. To be in proper form, a stockholder’s notice
required to be given pursuant to these Bylaws (whether given pursuant to this Section 2.9(A)(2) or Section 2.9(B))
to the Corporate Secretary must:
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(a) set forth, as to the stockholder giving the notice and the beneficial owner, if any, on
whose behalf the nomination or proposal is made (i) the name and address of such stockholder, as they
appear on the Corporation’s books, and of such beneficial owner, if any, (ii) (A) the class or series and
number of shares of the Corporation which are, directly or indirectly, owned beneficially and of record by
such stockholder and such beneficial owner, (B) any option, warrant, convertible security, stock
appreciation right, or similar right with an exercise or conversion privilege or a settlement payment or
mechanism at a price related to any class or series of shares of the Corporation or with a value derived in
whole or in part from the value of any class or series of shares of the Corporation, whether or not such
instrument or right shall be subject to settlement in the underlying class or series of stock of the
Corporation or otherwise (a “Derivative Instrument”) directly or indirectly owned beneficially by such
stockholder and any other direct or indirect opportunity to profit or share in any profit derived from any
increase or decrease in the value of shares of the Corporation, (C) a description of any proxy, contract,
arrangement, understanding or relationship pursuant to which such stockholder has a right to vote any
shares of any security of the Corporation, (D) any short interest in any security of the Corporation (for
purposes of these Bylaws a person shall be deemed to have a “short interest” in a security if such person
directly or indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, understanding, relationship or otherwise, has the
opportunity to profit or share in any profit derived from any decrease in the value of the subject security),
(E) any rights to dividends on the shares of the Corporation owned beneficially by such stockholder that are
separated or separable from the underlying shares of the Corporation, (F) any proportionate interest in
shares of the Corporation or Derivative Instruments held, directly or indirectly, by a general or limited
partnership in which such stockholder is a general partner or, directly or indirectly, beneficially owns an
interest in a general partner and (G) any performance-related fees (other than an asset-based fee) that such
stockholder is entitled to based on any increase or decrease in the value of shares of the Corporation or
Derivative Instruments, if any, as of the date of such notice, including without limitation any such interests
held by members of such stockholder’s immediate family sharing the same household (which information
shall be supplemented by such stockholder and beneficial owner, if any, not later than 10 days after the
record date for the meeting to disclose such ownership as of the record date), (iii) any other information
relating to such stockholder and beneficial owner, if any, that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy
statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for, as applicable,
the proposal or for the election of directors in a contested election pursuant to Section 14 of the Exchange
Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, (iv) a representation that the stockholder is a
holder of record of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote at such meeting and intends to appear in person
or by proxy at the meeting
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to bring such nomination or other business before the meeting, and (v) a representation as to whether such
stockholder or any such beneficial owner intends or is part of a group that intends to (x) deliver a proxy
statement or form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the voting power of the Corporation’s
outstanding stock required to approve or adopt the proposal or to elect each such nominee or (y) otherwise
to solicit proxies from stockholders in support of such proposal or nomination. If requested by the
Corporation, the information required under clauses (a)(i) and (ii) of the preceding sentence of this
Section 2.9(A)(2) shall be supplemented by such stockholder and any such beneficial owner not later than
10 days after the record date for notice of the meeting to disclose such information as of such record date;

(b) if the notice relates to any business other than a nomination of a director or directors that
the stockholder proposes to bring before the meeting, set forth (i) a brief description of the business desired
to be brought before the meeting, the reasons for conducting such business at the meeting, the text of the
proposal or business (including the text of any resolutions proposed for consideration and in the event that
such business includes a proposal to amend the Certificate of Incorporation or the bylaws of the
Corporation, the language of the proposed amendment) and any material interest of such stockholder and
beneficial owner, if any, in such business and (ii) a description of all agreements, arrangements and
understandings between such stockholder and beneficial owner, if any, and any other person or persons
(including their names) in connection with the proposal of such business by such stockholder;

(c) set forth, as to each person, if any, whom the stockholder proposes to nominate for
election or reelection to the Board (i) all information relating to such person that would be required to be
disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of
proxies for election of directors in a contested election pursuant to Section 14 of the Exchange Act and the
rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (including such person’s written consent to being named in
the Corporation’s proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a director if elected) and (ii) a description
of all direct and indirect compensation and other material monetary agreements, arrangements and
understandings during the past three years, and any other material relationships, between or among such
stockholder and beneficial owner, if any, and their respective affiliates and associates, or others acting in
concert therewith, on the one hand, and each proposed nominee, and his or her respective affiliates and
associates, or others acting in concert therewith, on the other hand, including, without limitation all
information that would be required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 404 promulgated under Regulation S-K
if the stockholder making the nomination and any beneficial owner on whose behalf the nomination is
made, if any, or any affiliate or associate thereof or person acting in concert therewith, were the “registrant”
for
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purposes of such rule and the nominee were a director or executive officer of such registrant; and

(d) with respect to each nominee for election or reelection to the Board, include (i) a
completed and signed questionnaire in a form provided by the Corporation (which form the stockholder
must request from the Corporate Secretary of the Corporation and which form the Corporation shall
provide to the stockholder within 7 days upon receipt of the request), and (ii) a written representation and
agreement (which form the stockholder must request from the Corporate Secretary of the Corporation and
which form the Corporation shall provide to the stockholder within 7 days upon receipt of the request) that
such person (A) is not and will not become a party to (1) any agreement, arrangement or understanding
with, and has not given any commitment or assurance to, any person or entity as to how such person, if
elected as a director of the Corporation, will act or vote on any issue or question (a “Voting Commitment”)
that has not been disclosed to the Corporation or (2) any Voting Commitment that could limit or interfere
with such person’s ability to comply, if elected as a director of the Corporation, with such person’s
fiduciary duties under applicable law, (B) is not and will not become a party to any agreement, arrangement
or understanding with any person or entity other than the Corporation with respect to any direct or indirect
compensation, reimbursement or indemnification in connection with service or action as a director that has
not been disclosed to the Corporation, (C) if elected as a director of the Corporation, intends to serve a full
term and (D) would be in compliance, if elected as a director of the Corporation, and will comply with all
applicable publicly disclosed corporate governance, conflict of interest, confidentiality and stock ownership
and trading policies and guidelines of the Corporation. The Corporation may require any proposed nominee
to furnish such other information as may reasonably be required by the Corporation to determine the
eligibility of such proposed nominee to serve as an independent director of the Corporation or that could be
material to a reasonable stockholder’s understanding of the independence, or lack thereof, of such nominee.

(3) Notwithstanding anything in the second sentence of Section 2.9(A)(2) of these Bylaws to the
contrary, in the event that the number of directors to be elected to the Board is increased and there is no public
announcement by the Corporation naming all of the nominees for director or specifying the size of the increased
Board at least 100 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting, a stockholder’s notice
required by these Bylaws shall also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for any new positions
created by such increase, if it shall be delivered to the Corporate Secretary at the principal executive offices of the
Corporation not later than the close of business on the 10th day following the day on which such public
announcement is first made by the Corporation.
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(4) The foregoing notice requirements of this Section 2.9(A) shall be deemed satisfied by a
stockholder with respect to business if such stockholder has notified the Corporation of his or her intention to
present a proposal at an annual meeting in compliance with the applicable rules and regulations promulgated under
the Exchange Act and such stockholder’s proposal has been included in a proxy statement that has been prepared by
the Corporation to solicit proxies for such annual meeting.

(B) Special Meetings of Stockholders. Only such business shall be conducted at a special meeting of
stockholders as shall have been brought before the meeting pursuant to the Corporation’s notice of meeting. Nominations of
persons for election to the Board may be made at a special meeting of stockholders at which directors are to be elected
pursuant to a notice of meeting (1) by or at the direction of the Board or any committee thereof or (2) provided, that the
Board has determined that directors shall be elected at such meeting, and subject to the terms of the Stockholders’ Agreement
in the case of stockholders party thereto, by any stockholder of the Corporation who (a) is a stockholder of record at the time
of giving of notice provided for in these Bylaws and at the time of the special meeting, (b) is entitled to vote at the meeting,
and (c) complies with the notice procedures set forth in these Bylaws. In the event a special meeting of stockholders is called
for the purpose of electing one or more directors to the Board, any such stockholder may nominate a person or persons (as the
case may be), for election to such position(s) as specified in the Corporation’s notice of meeting, if the stockholder’s notice
required by Section 2.9(A)(2) of these Bylaws with respect to any nomination (including the completed and signed
questionnaire, representation and agreement required by Section 2.9(A)(2) of these Bylaws) shall be delivered to the
Corporate Secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not earlier than the close of business on the 120th
day prior to such special meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to such special
meeting or, if the first public announcement of the date of such special meeting is less than 100 days prior to the date of such
special meeting, the 10th day following the day on which public announcement is first made of the date of the special
meeting and of the nominees proposed by the Board to be elected at such meeting. In no event shall the public announcement
of an adjournment or postponement of a special meeting commence a new time period for the giving of a stockholder’s notice
as described above.

(C) General.

(1) Subject to the terms of the Stockholders’ Agreement and except (a) as otherwise expressly
provided in any applicable rule or regulation under the Exchange Act and (b) for director nominees and business
proposed by the Board, only such persons who are nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in these
Bylaws shall be eligible to serve as directors, and only such business shall be conducted at a meeting of stockholders
as shall have been brought before the meeting in accordance with the procedures set forth in these Bylaws. Except as
otherwise provided by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, the chairman of the meeting shall have
the power and duty to determine whether nominations made pursuant to this Section 2.9 or any business proposed to
be
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brought before the meeting was made or proposed, as the case may be, in accordance with the procedures set forth in
these Bylaws and, if any proposed nominations made pursuant to this Section 2.9 or business is not in compliance
with these Bylaws, to declare that such defective proposal or nomination shall be disregarded.

(2) Any stockholder and beneficial owner, if any, or any of their respective affiliates and associates, or
others acting in concert therewith, soliciting proxies for the election of directors must use a proxy card color other
than white, which shall be reserved for exclusive use by the Corporation.

(3) For purposes of these Bylaws, “public announcement” shall mean disclosure in a press release
reported by Dow Jones News Service, the Associated Press, or any other national news service or in a document
publicly filed or furnished by the Corporation with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13,
14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

(4) If a stockholder or beneficial owner, if any, or any of their respective affiliates, associates, or
others acting in concert therewith intend to solicit proxies in support of any director nominee other than the
Corporation’s nominees, such person shall, in addition to the requirements of Section 2.9 of these Bylaws:

(a) Deliver to the Corporation, no later than the earlier of the time provided in Section 2.9 of
these Bylaws or the time provided in Rule 14a-19 of the Exchange Act, the notice and other information
required in Rule 14a-19 of the Exchange Act; and

(b) Deliver to the Corporation, no later than five (5) business days prior to the applicable
meeting of stockholders, reasonable evidence that it (including any others acting in concert with it) has met
the requirements of Rule 14a-19 of the Exchange Act with respect to such nominees.

(c) Unless otherwise required by law, if any stockholder (1) provides notice pursuant to Rule
14a-19(b) of the Exchange Act and (2) subsequently fails to comply with any requirement of Rule 14a-19
of the Exchange Act or any other rules or regulations thereunder or fails timely to provide the evidence
described in the preceding clause (b), then the Corporation shall disregard any proxies or votes solicited for
such nominees, and such nominations shall be disregarded.

(5) In addition to the foregoing provisions of these Bylaws, a stockholder shall also comply with all
applicable requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder with respect to the matters set
forth in these Bylaws; provided, however, that any references in these Bylaws to the Exchange Act or the rules
promulgated thereunder are not intended to and shall not limit the
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requirements applicable to nominations or proposals as to any other business to be considered pursuant to
Section 2.9(A)(1)(c) or Section 2.9(B) of these Bylaws. Nothing in these Bylaws shall be deemed to affect any rights
(a) of stockholders to request inclusion of proposals in the Corporation’s proxy statement or proxy card pursuant to
the mandatory provisions of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder or (b) of the holders of any
series of preferred stock of the Corporation (“Preferred Stock”) if and to the extent provided for under law, the
Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws.

(6) Unless otherwise required by law, if the stockholder (or a qualified representative of the
stockholder) making a nomination or proposal under this Section 2.9 does not appear at a meeting of stockholders to
present such nomination or proposal, the nomination shall be disregarded and the proposed business shall not be
transacted, as the case may be, notwithstanding that proxies in favor thereof may have been received by the
Corporation. For purposes of this Section 2.9, to be considered a qualified representative of the stockholder, a person
must be a duly authorized officer, manager or partner of such stockholder or must be authorized by a writing
executed by such stockholder or an electronic transmission delivered by such stockholder to act for such stockholder
as proxy at the meeting of stockholders and such person must produce such writing or electronic transmission, or a
reliable reproduction of the writing or electronic transmission, at the meeting of stockholders.

SECTION 2.10. Conduct of Business. The date and time of the opening and the closing of the polls for each matter upon
which the stockholders will vote at a meeting shall be announced at the meeting by the person presiding over the meeting. The Board
may adopt by resolution such rules and regulations for the conduct of the meeting of stockholders as it shall deem appropriate. Except
to the extent inconsistent with such rules and regulations as adopted by the Board, the person presiding over any meeting of
stockholders shall have the right and authority to convene and (for any or no reason) to recess and/or adjourn the meeting, to prescribe
such rules, regulations and procedures and to do all such acts as, in the judgment of such presiding person, are appropriate for the
proper conduct of the meeting. Such rules, regulations or procedures, whether adopted by the Board or prescribed by the presiding
person of the meeting, may include, without limitation, the following: (A) the establishment of an agenda or order of business for the
meeting; (B) rules and procedures for maintaining order at the meeting and the safety of those present; (C) limitations on attendance at
or participation in the meeting to stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, their duly authorized and constituted proxies or such
other persons as the presiding person of the meeting shall determine; (D) restrictions on entry to the meeting after the time fixed for
the commencement thereof; and (E) limitations on the time allotted to questions or comments by participants. The presiding person at
any meeting of stockholders, in addition to making any other determinations that may be appropriate to the conduct of the meeting,
shall, if the facts warrant, determine and declare to the meeting that a matter or business was not properly brought before the meeting
and if such presiding person should so determine, such presiding person shall so declare to the meeting and any such matter or
business not properly brought before the meeting shall not be transacted or considered. Unless and to the extent determined by the
Board or the person presiding over the meeting, meetings of stockholders shall not be required to be held in accordance with the rules
of parliamentary procedure.
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SECTION 2.11. Procedure for Election of Directors; Required Vote. Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of
Preferred Stock to elect directors under specified circumstances, at any meeting at which directors are to be elected, so long as a
quorum is present, the directors shall be elected by a plurality of the votes validly cast in such election. Unless a different or minimum
vote is required by law, the rules and regulations of any stock exchange applicable to the Corporation, the Certificate of Incorporation,
these Bylaws, or any law or regulation applicable to the Corporation or its securities, in which case such different or minimum vote
shall be the applicable vote on the matter, in all matters other than the election of directors and certain non-binding advisory votes
described below, the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of the shares of stock of the Corporation present
in person or represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the matter shall be the act of the stockholders. In non-binding
advisory matters with more than two possible vote choices, a plurality of the voting power of the shares present in person or
represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the matter shall be the recommendation of the stockholders.

Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation, cumulative voting for the election of directors shall be
prohibited.

SECTION 2.12. Treasury Stock. The Corporation shall not vote, directly or indirectly, shares of its own stock owned by it or
any other corporation, if a majority of shares entitled to vote in the election of directors of such corporation is held, directly or
indirectly by the Corporation, and such shares will not be counted for quorum purposes; provided, however, that the foregoing shall
not limit the right of the Corporation or such other corporation, to vote stock of the Corporation held in a fiduciary capacity.

SECTION 2.13. Inspectors of Elections. The Board by resolution may, and when required by law, shall, appoint one or more
inspectors, which inspector or inspectors may include individuals who serve the Corporation in other capacities, including, without
limitation, as officers, employees, agents or representatives, to act at the meetings of stockholders and make a written report thereof.
One or more persons may be designated as alternate inspectors to replace any inspector who fails to act. If no inspector or alternate has
been appointed to act or is able to act at a meeting of stockholders and the appointment of an inspector is required by law, the
chairman of the meeting shall appoint one or more inspectors to act at the meeting. Each inspector, before discharging his or her
duties, shall take and sign an oath faithfully to execute the duties of inspector with strict impartiality and according to the best of his or
her ability. The inspectors shall have the duties prescribed by law.

SECTION 2.14. Stockholder Action by Written Consent. Subject to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock with
respect to such series of Preferred Stock, any action required or permitted to be taken by the stockholders of the Corporation must be
taken at a duly held annual or special meeting of stockholders and may not be taken by any consent in writing of such stockholders.



13

ARTICLE III
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

SECTION 3.1. General Powers. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the
Board elected in accordance with these Bylaws. In addition to the powers and authorities by these Bylaws expressly conferred upon
them, the Board may exercise all such powers of the Corporation and do all such lawful acts and things as are not by statute or by the
Certificate of Incorporation or by these Bylaws required to be exercised or done by the stockholders. The directors shall act only as a
Board, and the individual directors shall have no power as such.

SECTION 3.2. Number, Tenure and Qualifications. Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock to
elect directors under specified circumstances, and subject to the terms of the Stockholders’ Agreement, the number of directors shall
be fixed from time to time exclusively pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the Board. The election and term of directors
shall be as set forth in the Certificate of Incorporation.

SECTION 3.3. Regular Meetings. Subject to Section 3.5, regular meetings of the Board shall be held on such dates, and at
such times and places, as are determined from time to time by resolution of the Board.

SECTION 3.4. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board shall be called by the Corporate Secretary at the request of
the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, or a majority of the Board then in office. The person or persons authorized to
call special meetings of the Board may fix the place, if any, and time of the meetings. Any business may be conducted at a special
meeting of the Board.

SECTION 3.5. Notice. Notice of any meeting of directors shall be given to each director at his business or residence in
writing by hand delivery, first-class or overnight mail or courier service, or facsimile transmission, electronic transmission or orally by
telephone. If mailed by first-class mail, such notice shall be deemed adequately delivered when deposited in the United States mails so
addressed, with postage thereon prepaid, at least five days before such meeting. If by overnight mail or courier service, such notice
shall be deemed adequately delivered when the notice is delivered to the overnight mail or courier service company at least 24 hours
before such meeting. If by facsimile or electronic transmission, such notice shall be deemed adequately delivered when the notice is
transmitted at least 24 hours before such meeting. If by telephone or by hand delivery, the notice shall be given at least 24 hours prior
to the time set for the meeting and shall be confirmed by facsimile or electronic transmission that is sent promptly thereafter. Neither
the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the Board need be specified in the notice of such
meeting, except for amendments to these Bylaws, as provided under Section 8.1. A meeting may be held at any time without notice if
all the directors are present or if those not present waive notice of the meeting in accordance with Section 7.4 of these Bylaws.

SECTION 3.6. Action by Consent of Board. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board or of
any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting if all members of the Board or committee, as the case may be, consent thereto
in writing, including by
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electronic transmission, and the writing or writings or electronic transmissions are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board
or committee. Such consent shall have the same force and effect as a unanimous vote at a meeting, and may be stated as such in any
document or instrument filed with the Secretary of State of Delaware.

SECTION 3.7. Conference Telephone Meetings. Members of the Board, or any committee thereof, may participate in a
meeting of the Board or such committee by means of conference telephone or other communications equipment by means of which all
persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and such participation in a meeting shall constitute presence in person at such
meeting, except where such person participates in the meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business
on the ground that the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

SECTION 3.8. Quorum. Subject to Section 3.9, the lowest whole number of directors equal to at least a majority of the Board
shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, but if at any meeting of the Board there shall be less than a quorum present, a
majority of the directors present may adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice unless (A) the date, time and place,
if any, of the adjourned meeting are not announced at the time of adjournment, in which case notice conforming to the requirements of
Section 3.5 of these Bylaws shall be given to each director, or (B) the meeting is adjourned for more than 24 hours, in which case the
notice referred to in clause (A) shall be given to those directors not present at the announcement of the date, time and place of the
adjourned meeting. Subject to the terms of the Stockholders’ Agreement, the act of the majority of the directors present at a meeting at
which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board. The directors present at a duly organized meeting may continue to transact
business until adjournment, notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough directors to leave less than a quorum.

SECTION 3.9. Vacancies. Subject to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect directors or fill vacancies
in respect of such directors pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation (including any certificate of designation thereunder) and the
terms of the Stockholders’ Agreement, any newly created directorship that results from an increase in the number of directors or any
vacancy on the Board that results from the death, disability, resignation, disqualification or removal of any director or from any other
cause shall be filled solely by the affirmative vote of a majority of the total number of directors then in office, even if less than a
quorum, or by a sole remaining director and shall not be filled by the stockholders. Any director elected in accordance with the
preceding sentence will hold office for the remainder of the full term of the class of directors in which the vacancy occurred or to
which the new directorship is apportioned, and until such director’s successor shall have been duly elected and qualified or until such
director’s earlier death, resignation or removal. No decrease in the number of authorized directors constituting the Board shall shorten
the term of any incumbent director.

SECTION 3.10. Removal. Subject to the rights of the holders of shares of any series of Preferred Stock, if any, to remove
directors elected by such series of Preferred Stock pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation (including any certificate of designation
thereunder) and the terms of the Stockholders’ Agreement, including such terms relating to the removal of directors without cause, any
director may be removed only for cause, upon the affirmative vote of the holders of at
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least a majority of the outstanding shares of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote generally for the election of directors.

SECTION 3.11. Records. The Board shall cause to be kept a record containing the minutes of the proceedings of the
meetings of the Board and of the stockholders, appropriate stock books and registers and such books of records and accounts as may
be necessary for the proper conduct of the business of the Corporation.

SECTION 3.12. Compensation. Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, the Board
shall have authority to fix the compensation of directors, including fees and reimbursement of expenses. The Corporation will cause
each non-employee director serving on the Board to be reimbursed for all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by
him or her in connection with such service.

SECTION 3.13. Regulations. To the extent consistent with applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation and these Bylaws,
the Board may adopt such rules and regulations for the conduct of meetings of the Board and for the management of the affairs and
business of the Corporation as the Board may deem appropriate.

ARTICLE IV
COMMITTEES

SECTION 4.1. Designation; Powers. The Board may designate one or more committees, each committee to consist of one or
more of the directors of the Corporation. Any such committee, to the extent permitted by law and to the extent provided in the
resolution of the Board, shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of the Board in the management of the business and
affairs of the Corporation, and may authorize the seal of the Corporation to be affixed to all papers which may require it.

SECTION 4.2. Procedure; Meetings; Quorum. Any committee designated pursuant to Section 4.1 shall choose its own
chairman by a majority vote of the members then in attendance in the event the chairman has not been selected by the Board, shall
keep regular minutes of its proceedings and report the same to the Board when requested, and shall meet at such times and at such
place or places as may be provided by the charter of such committee or by resolution of such committee or resolution of the Board. At
every meeting of any such committee, the presence of a majority of all the members thereof shall constitute a quorum and, if a quorum
is present, the affirmative vote of a majority of the members present shall be necessary for the adoption by it of any resolution. The
Board shall adopt a charter for each committee for which a charter is required by applicable laws, regulations or stock exchange rules,
may adopt a charter for any other committee, and may adopt other rules and regulations for the governance of any committee not
inconsistent with the provisions of applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation, these Bylaws or any such charter, and each
committee may adopt its own rules and regulations of governance, to the extent not inconsistent with applicable law, the Certificate of
Incorporation, these Bylaws or any charter or other rules and regulations adopted by the Board.

SECTION 4.3. Substitution of Members. The Board may designate one or more directors as alternate members of any
committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at
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any meeting of such committee. In the absence or disqualification of a member of a committee, the member or members present at any
meeting and not disqualified from voting, whether or not constituting a quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the
Board to act at the meeting in the place of the absent or disqualified member.

ARTICLE V
OFFICERS

SECTION 5.1. Officers. The officers of the Corporation shall be a Chairman of the Board, a Chief Executive Officer, a
Corporate Secretary, a Treasurer and such other officers as the Board from time to time may deem proper. Subject to the terms of the
Stockholders’ Agreement, the Chairman of the Board shall be chosen from among the directors. All officers elected by the Board shall
each have such powers and duties as generally pertain to their respective offices, subject to the specific provisions of this Article V.
Such officers shall also have such powers and duties as from time to time may be conferred by the Board or by any committee thereof.
The Board or any committee thereof may from time to time elect, or the Chief Executive Officer may appoint, such other officers
(including one or more Vice Presidents, Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers) and such agents, as may be necessary or
desirable for the conduct of the business of the Corporation. Such other officers and agents shall have such duties and shall hold their
offices for such terms as shall be provided in these Bylaws or as may be prescribed by the Board or such committee thereof, or by the
Chief Executive Officer, as the case may be.

SECTION 5.2. Election and Term of Office. Subject to the terms of the Stockholders’ Agreement, (A) the officers of the
Corporation shall be elected or appointed from time to time by the Board or by the Chairman of the Board or the Chief Executive
Officer pursuant to Section 5.1 and (B) each officer shall hold office until his successor shall have been duly elected or appointed and
shall have qualified or until his death or until he shall resign, but any officer may be removed from office at any time by the
affirmative vote of a majority of the Board or, except in the case of an officer or agent elected by the Board, by the Chairman of the
Board or Chief Executive Officer. Such removal shall be without prejudice to the contractual rights, if any, of the person so removed.
No elected officer shall have any contractual rights against the Corporation for compensation by virtue of such election beyond the
date of the election of his successor, his death, his resignation or his removal, whichever event shall first occur, except as otherwise
provided in an employment contract or under an employee deferred compensation plan.

SECTION 5.3. Chairman of the Board. The Chairman of the Board shall preside at all meetings of the stockholders and of the
Board. The Chairman of the Board shall perform all duties incidental to his office which may be required by law and all such other
duties as are properly required of him by the Board. He shall make reports to the Board and the stockholders, and shall see that all
orders and resolutions of the Board and of any committee thereof are carried into effect. The Chairman of the Board may also serve as
Chief Executive Officer, if so elected by the Board.

SECTION 5.4. Chief Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer shall act in a general executive capacity, be responsible
for the general management of the affairs of the Corporation and assist the Chairman of the Board in the administration and operation
of the Corporation’s business and general supervision of its policies and affairs. The Chief Executive Officer shall, in the absence of or
because of the inability to act of the Chairman of the Board, perform all duties
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of the Chairman of the Board and preside at all meetings of stockholders and, if also a member of the Board, of the Board. The Chief
Executive Officer shall have the authority to sign, in the name and on behalf of the Corporation, checks, orders, contracts, leases,
notes, drafts and all other documents and instruments in connection with the business of the Corporation.

SECTION 5.5. President. The President, if any, shall have such powers and shall perform such duties as shall be assigned to
him by the Board.

SECTION 5.6. Senior Vice Presidents and Vice Presidents. Each Senior Vice President and Vice President, if any, shall have
such powers and shall perform such duties as shall be assigned to him by the Board.

SECTION 5.7. Treasurer. The Treasurer shall exercise general supervision over the receipt, custody and disbursement of
corporate funds. The Treasurer shall cause the funds of the Corporation to be deposited in such banks as may be authorized by the
Board, or in such banks as may be designated as depositaries in the manner provided by resolution of the Board. He shall have such
further powers and duties and shall be subject to such directions as may be granted or imposed upon him from time to time by the
Board, the Chairman of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer.

SECTION 5.8. Corporate Secretary. The Corporate Secretary shall keep or cause to be kept in one or more books provided
for that purpose, the minutes of all meetings of the Board, the committees of the Board and the stockholders; he shall see that all
notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws and as required by law; he shall be custodian of the records
and the seal of the Corporation and affix and attest the seal to all stock certificates of the Corporation (unless the seal of the
Corporation on such certificates shall be a facsimile, as hereinafter provided) and affix and attest the seal to all other documents to be
executed on behalf of the Corporation under its seal; and he shall see that the books, reports, statements, certificates and other
documents and records required by law to be kept and filed are properly kept and filed; and in general, he shall perform all the duties
incident to the office of Corporate Secretary and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him by the Board, the
Chairman of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer.

SECTION 5.9. Vacancies. A newly created elected office and a vacancy in any elected office because of death, resignation, or
removal may be filled by the Board for the unexpired portion of the term at any meeting of the Board. Any vacancy in an office
appointed by the Chairman of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer because of death, resignation, or removal may be filled by the
Chairman of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer.

SECTION 5.10. Action with Respect to Securities of Other Corporations. Unless otherwise directed by the Board, the Chief
Executive Officer shall have power to vote and otherwise act on behalf of the Corporation, in person or by proxy, at any meeting of
security holders of or with respect to any action of security holders of any other corporation or entity in which this Corporation may
hold securities and otherwise to exercise any and all rights and powers which this Corporation may possess by reason of its ownership
of securities in such other corporation or entity.
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ARTICLE VI
STOCK CERTIFICATES AND TRANSFERS

SECTION 6.1. Stock Certificates and Transfers. The interest of each stockholder of the Corporation shall be evidenced by
certificates for shares of stock in such form as the appropriate officers of the Corporation may from time to time prescribe, provided
that the Board may provide by resolution or resolutions that some or all of any or all classes or series of its stock may be uncertificated
or electronic shares. The shares of the stock of the Corporation shall be entered in the books of the Corporation as they are issued and
shall exhibit the holder’s name and number of shares. Subject to the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, the shares of the
stock of the Corporation shall be transferred on the books of the Corporation, which may be maintained by a third-party registrar or
transfer agent, by the holder thereof in person or by his attorney, upon surrender for cancellation of certificates for at least the same
number of shares, with an assignment and power of transfer endorsed thereon or attached thereto, duly executed, with such proof of
the authenticity of the signature as the Corporation or its agents may reasonably require or upon receipt of proper transfer instructions
from the registered holder of uncertificated shares and upon compliance with appropriate procedures for transferring shares in
uncertificated form, at which time the Corporation shall issue a new certificate to the person entitled thereto (if the stock is then
represented by certificates), cancel the old certificate and record the transaction upon its books.

Each certificated share of stock shall be signed, countersigned and registered in such manner as the Board may by resolution
prescribe, which resolution may permit all or any of the signatures on such certificates to be in facsimile. In case any officer, transfer
agent or registrar who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon a certificate has ceased to be such officer, transfer
agent or registrar before such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the Corporation with the same effect as if he were such officer,
transfer agent or registrar at the date of issue.

SECTION 6.2. Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates. No certificate for shares or uncertificated shares of stock in the
Corporation shall be issued in place of any certificate alleged to have been lost, destroyed or stolen, except on production of such
evidence of such loss, destruction or theft and on delivery to the Corporation of a bond of indemnity in such amount, upon such terms
and secured by such surety, as the Board or any financial officer may in its or his discretion require.

SECTION 6.3. Ownership of Shares. The Corporation shall be entitled to treat the holder of record of any share or shares of
stock of the Corporation as the holder in fact thereof and, accordingly, shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to
or interest in such share or shares on the part of any other person, whether or not it shall have express or other notice thereof, except as
otherwise provided by the laws of the State of Delaware.

SECTION 6.4. Regulations Regarding Certificates. The Board shall have the power and authority, subject to applicable law,
to make all such rules and regulations as they may deem expedient concerning the issue, transfer and registration or the replacement of
certificates for shares of stock of the Corporation. The Corporation may enter into additional agreements with stockholders to restrict
the transfer of stock of the Corporation in any manner not prohibited by the Delaware General Corporation Law.
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ARTICLE VII
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

SECTION 7.1. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall begin on the first day of January and end on the thirty-
first day of December of each year or as shall be otherwise determined by resolutions of the Board.

SECTION 7.2. Dividends. Except as otherwise provided by law or the Certificate of Incorporation, the Board may from time
to time declare, and the Corporation may pay, dividends on its outstanding shares of stock, which dividends may be paid in either
cash, property or shares of stock of the Corporation. A member of the Board, or a member of any committee designated by the Board,
shall be fully protected in relying in good faith upon the records of the Corporation and upon such information, opinions, reports or
statements presented to the Corporation by any of its officers or employees, or committees of the Board, or by any other person as to
matters the director reasonably believes are within such other person’s professional or expert competence and who has been selected
with reasonable care by or on behalf of the Corporation, as to the value and amount of the assets, liabilities or net profits of the
Corporation, or any other facts pertinent to the existence and amount of surplus or other funds from which dividends might properly
be declared and paid.

SECTION 7.3. Seal. The corporate seal shall have inscribed thereon the words “Corporate Seal,” the year of incorporation
and around the margin thereof the words “Antero Midstream Corporation — Delaware.”

SECTION 7.4. Waiver of Notice. Whenever any notice is required to be given to any stockholder or director of the
Corporation under the provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, a waiver
thereof in writing or by electronic transmission, given by the person or persons entitled to such notice, whether before or after the time
stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any
annual or special meeting of the stockholders or the Board or committee thereof need be specified in any waiver of notice of such
meeting. Attendance of a person at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except when the person attends a
meeting for the express purpose of objecting at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is
not lawfully called or convened.

SECTION 7.5. Resignations. Any director or any officer, whether elected or appointed, may resign at any time by giving
written notice, including by electronic transmission, of such resignation to the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the
President or the Corporate Secretary, and such resignation shall be deemed to be effective as of the close of business on the date said
notice is received by the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President or the Corporate Secretary, or at such later
time as is specified therein. No formal action shall be required of the Board or the stockholders to make any such resignation effective.

SECTION 7.6. Indemnification and Advancement of Expenses. (A) The Corporation shall indemnify and hold harmless, to
the fullest extent permitted by applicable law as it presently exists or may hereafter be amended, any person (a “Covered Person”) who
was or is made or is threatened
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to be made a party or is otherwise involved in any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (a
“proceeding”), by reason of the fact that he or she, or a person for whom he or she is the legal representative, is or was a director,
officer or employee of the Corporation or, while a director, officer or employee of the Corporation, is or was serving at the request of
the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation or of a partnership, joint venture, trust, enterprise or
nonprofit entity, including service with respect to employee benefit plans, against all liability and loss suffered and expenses
(including attorneys’ fees) reasonably incurred by such Covered Person. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, except as otherwise
provided in Section 7.6(C), the Corporation shall be required to indemnify a Covered Person in connection with a proceeding (or part
thereof) commenced by such Covered Person only if the commencement of such proceeding (or part thereof) by the Covered Person
was authorized in the specific case by the Board.

(B) The Corporation shall to the fullest extent not prohibited by applicable law pay the expenses (including
attorneys’ fees) incurred by a Covered Person in defending any proceeding in advance of its final disposition; provided,
however, that, to the extent required by law, such payment of expenses in advance of the final disposition of the proceeding
shall be made only upon receipt of an undertaking by the Covered Person to repay all amounts advanced if it should be
ultimately determined that the Covered Person is not entitled to be indemnified under this Section 7.6 or otherwise.

(C) If a claim for indemnification under this Section 7.6 (following the final disposition of such proceeding) is
not paid in full within sixty days after the Corporation has received a claim therefor by the Covered Person, or if a claim for
any advancement of expenses under this Section 7.6 is not paid in full within thirty days after the Corporation has received a
statement or statements requesting such amounts to be advanced, the Covered Person shall thereupon (but not before) be
entitled to file suit to recover the unpaid amount of such claim. If successful in whole or in part, the Covered Person shall be
entitled to be paid the expense of prosecuting such claim to the fullest extent permitted by law. In any such action, the
Corporation shall have the burden of proving that the Covered Person is not entitled to the requested indemnification or
advancement of expenses under applicable law.

(D) The rights conferred on any Covered Person by this Section 7.6 shall not be exclusive of any other rights
which such Covered Person may have or hereafter acquire under any statute, provision of the Certificate of Incorporation,
these Bylaws, agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise.

(E) This Section 7.6 shall not limit the right of the Corporation, to the extent and in the manner permitted by
law, to indemnify and to advance expenses to persons other than Covered Persons when and as authorized by appropriate
corporate action.

SECTION 7.7. Notices. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein or required by law, all notices required to be given
to any stockholder, director, officer, employee or agent shall be in writing and may in every instance be effectively given by hand
delivery to the recipient thereof, by depositing such notice in the mails, postage paid, or by sending such notice by commercial courier
service, or by facsimile or other electronic transmission; provided, however,
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that notice to stockholders by electronic transmission shall be given in the manner provided in Section 232 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law. Any such notice shall be addressed to such stockholder, director, officer, employee or agent at his or her last known
address as the same appears on the books of the Corporation. Without limiting the manner by which notice otherwise may be given
effectively, notice to any stockholder shall be deemed given: (A) if by facsimile, when directed to a number at which the stockholder
has consented to receive notice; (B) if by electronic mail, when directed to an electronic mail address at which the stockholder has
consented to receive notice; (C) if by posting on an electronic network together with separate notice to the stockholder of such specific
posting, upon the later of (1) such posting and (2) the giving of such separate notice; (D) if by any other form of electronic
transmission, when directed to the stockholder; and (E) if by mail, when deposited in the mail, postage prepaid, directed to the
stockholder at such stockholder’s address as it appears on the records of the Corporation.

SECTION 7.8. Facsimile Signatures. In addition to the provisions for use of facsimile signatures elsewhere specifically
authorized in these Bylaws, facsimile signatures of any officer or officers of the Corporation may be used whenever and as authorized
by the Board or a committee thereof.

SECTION 7.9. Time Periods. In applying any provision of these Bylaws which require that an act be done or not done a
specified number of days prior to an event or that an act be done during a period of a specified number of days prior to an event,
calendar days shall be used, the day of the doing of the act shall be excluded, and the day of the event shall be included.

SECTION 7.10. Reliance Upon Books, Reports and Records. Each director, each member of any committee designated by
the Board, and each officer of the Corporation shall, in the performance of his duties, be fully protected in relying in good faith upon
the records of the Corporation and upon information, opinions, reports or statements presented to the Corporation by any of the
Corporation’s officers or employees, or committees designated by the Board, or by any other person as to the matters the member
reasonably believes are within such other person’s professional or expert competence and who has been selected with reasonable care
by or on behalf of the Corporation.

ARTICLE VIII
AMENDMENTS

SECTION 8.1. Amendments.

(A) Subject to the provisions of the Corporation’s Certificate of Incorporation, these Bylaws may be amended,
altered or repealed (1) by resolution adopted by a the Board at any special or regular meeting of the Board at which a quorum
is present if, in the case of such special meeting only, notice of such amendment, alteration or repeal is contained in the notice
or waiver of notice of such meeting, or by written consent of the Board, or (2) at any regular or special meeting of the
stockholders upon the affirmative vote of at least 66⅔% of the voting power of the stock outstanding and entitled to vote in
the election of directors, voting together as a single class, if, in the case of such special meeting only, notice of such
amendment, alteration or repeal is contained in the notice or waiver of notice of such meeting.
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(B) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Sections 3.9 and 3.10 and this paragraph of Section 8.1 may only be
amended, altered or repealed at any regular or special meeting of the stockholders upon the affirmative vote of at least 66⅔%
of the voting power of the stock outstanding and entitled to vote in the election of directors, voting together as a single class
if, in the case of such special meeting only, notice of such amendment, alteration or repeal is contained in the notice or waiver
of notice of such meeting.

(C) So long as the Stockholders’ Agreement remains in effect, the Board shall not approve any amendment,
alteration or repeal of any provision of these Bylaws, or the adoption of any new Bylaw, that (x) would be contrary to or
inconsistent with the terms of the Stockholders’ Agreement or (y) amends, alters or repeals the provisions of this
Section 8.1(C). Notwithstanding the foregoing, (1) nothing in these Bylaws shall be deemed to limit the ability of the parties
to the Stockholders’ Agreement to amend, alter or repeal any provision of the Stockholders’ Agreement pursuant to the terms
thereof, and no amendment to the Stockholders’ Agreement (whether or not such amendment modifies any provision of the
Stockholders’ Agreement to which these Bylaws are subject) shall be deemed an amendment of these Bylaws for purposes of
this Section 8.1, and (2) no amendment, alteration or repeal of Section 7.6 shall adversely affect any right or protection
existing under these Bylaws immediately prior to such amendment, alteration or repeal, including any right or protection of a
present or former director, officer or employee thereunder in respect of any act or omission occurring prior to the time of such
amendment.



Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF ANTERO MIDSTREAM CORPORATION

Name of Subsidiary     Jurisdiction of Organization
Antero Midstream NewCo Inc. Delaware
Antero IDR Holdings LLC Delaware
Antero Midstream Partners GP LLC Delaware
Antero Midstream Preferred Co LLC Delaware
Antero Midstream Partners LP Delaware
Antero Midstream LLC Delaware
Antero Treatment LLC Delaware
Antero Water LLC Delaware



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (No. 333-263651) on Form S-3 and registration statement (No. 333-230254) on
Form S-8 of our report dated February 15, 2023, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Antero Midstream Corporation and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Denver, Colorado
February 15, 2023



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) AND RULE 15D-14(A)

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED

I, Paul M. Rady, President and Chief Executive Officer of Antero Midstream Corporation, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 of Antero Midstream Corporation (the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; and

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; and

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: February 15, 2023

/s/ Paul M. Rady
Paul M. Rady
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) AND RULE 15D-14(A)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED

I, Brendan E. Krueger, Chief Financial Officer and Vice President – Finance and Treasurer of Antero Midstream Corporation, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 of Antero Midstream Corporation (the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; and

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; and

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: February 15, 2023

/s/ Brendan E. Krueger
Brendan E. Krueger
Chief Financial Officer, Vice President – Finance and Treasurer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

OF ANTERO MIDSTREAM CORPORATION
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Antero Midstream Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2022, I,  Paul M. Rady, 
President and Chief Executive Officer of Antero Midstream Corporation, hereby certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. This Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of Antero Midstream Corporation for the periods presented therein.

Date: February 15, 2023

/s/ Paul M. Rady
Paul M. Rady
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

OF ANTERO MIDSTREAM CORPORATION
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Antero Midstream Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2022, I, Brendan E. Krueger,
Chief Financial Officer, Vice President – Finance and Treasurer of Antero Midstream Corporation, hereby certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. This Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of Antero Midstream Corporation for the periods presented therein.

Date: February 15, 2023

/s/ Brendan E. Krueger
Brendan E. Krueger
Chief Financial Officer, Vice President – Finance and Treasurer


